
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Cabinet 
 

Date: Wednesday, 26 May 2021 at 10.00 am 

Venue: Civic Centre, Poole BH15 2RU 

 

Membership:  

Chairman: 
Cllr D Mellor 

 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr P Broadhead 

 

Cllr M Anderson 
Cllr M Greene 
Cllr N Greene 
Cllr M Haines 
Cllr M Iyengar 
 

Cllr R Lawton 
Cllr K Rampton 
Cllr M White 
 
 

Lead Members 
Cllr H Allen 
Cllr S Baron 
Cllr N Brooks 
 

 
Cllr B Dove 
Cllr B Dunlop 
Cllr J Kelly 

 

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of 
business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 
link: 
 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4683 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 817615) or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

7 May 2021 
 



 

 anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

 

mailto:anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of Minutes 7 - 20 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
14 April 2021. 
 

 

4.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements 
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=15
1&Info=1&bcr=1 

The deadline for the submission of public questions is 4 clear working days 
before the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is midday the working day 
before the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 10 working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

5.   Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  

 To consider recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board on 
items not otherwise included on the Cabinet Agenda. 
 

 

6.   Proposed Regeneration Vehicle Options Appraisal 21 - 36 

 To achieve the Council’s regeneration ambitions across the conurbation at 
pace, this report recommends the creation of a wholly owned Urban 
Regeneration Company (URC).  The URC will bring together the resources, 
leadership, and focus required to deliver the ambitions set out in the Big 
Plan which was considered by Cabinet and Council in February.  
 

 

7.   Potential Transfer of Play sites and Highcliffe Recreation Ground 37 - 52 

 Christchurch Borough Council (CBC) proposed that the new town and 
parish councils assume responsibility for play facilities, subject to 
agreement and formal approval by BCP Council. Highcliffe & Walkford 
Parish Council (HWPC) wish to take on this responsibility for Bluebell 
Close, Mudeford Wood and Highcliffe Recreation Ground Play Areas as 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

well as the remainder of Highcliffe Recreation Ground.  BCP Council 
formally advertised the proposed disposal of these open spaces and no 
objections were received.  HWPC has agreed Heads of Terms to transfer 
the freehold ownership of these sites and arrangements for shared grounds 
maintenance and play inspection liabilities to ensure seamless use of these 
public open spaces. 
 

8.   Fly-tipping and Fly-posting Enforcement Pilot 53 - 68 

 Fly-tipping and fly-posting cause significant environmental issues and 
adversely impact the street scene in the BCP Council area.  Both have 
increased in past years, replicating the national picture. 

Investigations of incidents in legacy authorities were limited due to resource 
constraints, with penalties for offenders of fly-tipping and fly-posting few in 
number. Regulatory Services are seeking to adopt a consistent and robust 
approach to tackling offenders, whilst minimising additional resource 
requirements. 

The Council has powers under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to 
deal with incidents of fly-tipping and littering.  Householders also have a 
duty of care to ensure their waste is collected by a reputable company with 
the relevant waste transfer permissions.  Businesses also have a duty to 
ensure sufficient measures are in place to manage their commercial waste.   

Fly-posting, the displaying of promotional materials or adverts without 
permission on public furniture, is enforced through the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003. 

A private company with 10 years of experience in the Environmental Crime 
Industry and working with numerous Local Authorities have outlined their 
ability to investigate and enforce the above on behalf of BCP Council.   

[PLEASE NOTE: Should the Cabinet wish to discuss the detail of the 
exempt Appendix 4 the meeting will be required to move into Confidential 
(Exempt) Session] 

 

9.   Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and Delivery Plan 2020-2023 69 - 134 

 This report outlines the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Community Safety Partnership Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 
and accompanying delivery plan.  

This is the first Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and Delivery Plan 
for BCP, which brings together the foundations of the work within legacy 
partnerships and identifies how partners will work together to meet the 
ambition that “no resident living within or visiting Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole should live in fear of, or experience domestic 
abuse.” 

The BCP Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy can be found at 
appendix 1 of this report. 

The report outlines a headline summary of the strategy and the 
commitments made by the BCP CSP of; 

 Preventing violence and abuse through a commitment to working 
to develop a “whole family, whole picture” approach across all 
our services 

 



 
 

 

 A commitment to commissioning improved services for victims, 
perpetrators and children impacted by domestic abuse to ensure 
we have services in place that are effective in assessing and 
responding to multiple needs 

 A commitment to working collaboratively to reduce the harm 
caused by domestic abuse  

 Responding to perpetrators by supporting criminal justice 
agencies in pursuing them through the criminal justice system 
and a commitment to challenging and changing the behaviour of 
perpetrators through the availability of domestic abuse 
perpetrator programmes 

The Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy Delivery Plan can be found at 
appendix 2 which has been developed in consultation with a wide range 
of stakeholders and partners, including service users. This plan 
describes how partners will work  

together to deliver against the commitments and priorities of the  

Strategy.  

The Domestic Abuse Bill 2020 will be introducing a new statutory duty 
on tier one local authorities, ensuring that all victims, including 
children, have access to safety and support within safe 
accommodation when they need it. The Preventing Domestic Abuse 
Strategy and Delivery Plan addresses the requirements of the new 
duties as well as the local needs identified through the development of 
the strategy and plan. 

Finally, the report outlines the proposed allocations for additional 
Government funding recently announced as part of the imminent 
implementation of the Domestic Abuse Bill and in support of the delivery 
plan. 
 

10.   Establishing a Multi Disciplinary Team and a Homeless Health Centre 135 - 150 

 The Council’s new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021-25 
was approved by Cabinet in April 2021.  Health provision is a key element 
of the strategy, with some good practice already in place locally and a good 
base to build upon. 

The proposals set out in this report will help address inherent inequalities 
and ensure good access to services for those who are marginalised and 
hard to reach. 

This paper outlines recommendations to continue the development of the 

shared care or multi-disciplinary approach in two ways and build on the 

great joint work already underway.   

Firstly, to further develop a Multi Disciplinary team (MDT) that homeless 

individuals can access and receive the support they need to find 

accommodation and have their health needs addressed.  Secondly, to 

establish a Homeless Inclusion Health Centre (a ‘Health Hub’) which 

provides a building based homeless health and housing centre.  Services 

will be delivered to those who are homeless or at risk of homelessness, for 

example in temporary hotels or hostel accommodation.  A project manager 

will be recruited to establish these services effectively.  

 



 
 

 

An MDT will provide outreach for people rough sleeping and inreach to 

people accommodated in any of the temporary accommodation units and 

other temporary housing settings such as hotels.  It will also operate out of 

the Health Hub. 

It is recommended to acquire the St Stephens Church Hall, Bournemouth, 
as the Homeless Inclusion Health Centre (‘Health Hub’).   

The Health Hub would provide one front door where homeless individuals 

can attend in order to access health and housing support and advice.  The 

building would provide office and clinic space, showers, laundry facilities, 

access to computers and locker space so that people can attend and 

receive the support and/or treatment needed. 

The acquisition of the Health Hub will be guided by the valuation by the 
Council’s Estates team and budget will be secured to purchase the 
property, refurbish the property and provide for ongoing maintenance and 
management.  The Confidential Appendices A and B detail the financial 
implications associated with this, including the long term financial 
modelling. 

[PLEASE NOTE: Should the Cabinet wish to discuss the detail of the 
exempt Appendices 1 or 2 the meeting will be required to move into 
Confidential (Exempt) Session] 
 

11.   Special Educational Needs & Disabilities and Inclusion Strategy 151 - 184 

 Children and young people with special educational needs and disability 
(SEND) have high aspirations for their future. In Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole we want to support all children and young people to enjoy their 
childhood and develop the skills, confidence and resilience to achieve their 
goal of a positive and successful adult life.  

The Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) and Inclusion 
Strategy has been created in partnership with stakeholders.  It sets out our 
ambition for children and young people with SEND, supporting delivery of 
the council’s Big Plan. 

The ambitions in the strategy will be realised through the delivery plan, 
overseen by the SEND Improvement Board. 
 

 

12.   Cabinet Forward Plan 185 - 204 

 To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan for approval. 
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 April 2021 at 10.00 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr D Mellor – Chairman 

Cllr P Broadhead – Vice-Chairman 

 
Present: Cllr M Anderson, Cllr M Greene, Cllr N Greene, Cllr M Haines, 

Cllr M Iyengar, Cllr R Lawton, Cllr K Rampton, Cllr M White, 
Cllr H Allen, Cllr N Brooks, Cllr B Dove, Cllr B Dunlop and Cllr J Kelly 

 
Also in 
attendance: 

Cllr R Burton and Cllr G Farquhar 

 
 

317. Declarations of Interests  
 
Councillors Mike Greene and Nicola Greene declared disclosable pecuniary 
interests in relation to Minute No. 321 (The Future of Planning in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole) and Minute No. 322 (Poole 
Business Improvement District BID) and refrained from participating in the 
discussion and voting thereon. 

Councillors May Haines and Karen Rampton declared non-pecuniary 
interests in Minute No.325 (Management & development of leisure centres) 
and remained present for the discussion and voting thereon. 

Councillor Hazel Allen declared a non-pecuniary interest in Minute No.327 
(BCP Homelessness Strategy) and remained present for the discussion 
and voting thereon. 

Councillor Jane Kelly declared a non-pecuniary interest in Minute No. 334 
(Special Educational Needs and Disability Capital Investment) and 
remained present for the discussion and voting thereon. 
 

318. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 10 March 2021 were confirmed 
and signed as a correct record. 
 

319. Public Issues  
 
The Leader advised that two questions had been received from members of 
the public in relation to Agenda Item 15 (Stour Valley Park Partnership and 
Strategy);  

- Sarah Fisher 
- Nick Dobbs 

The Leader advised that in addition one statement had also been received 
in respect of Agenda Item 15 from Lesley Byers. 

7

Agenda Item 3



– 2 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
In relation to this the Leader informed that copies of the public questions 
and responses had been circulated to the Cabinet and had been published 
on the Council’s website. 
 

320. Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  
 
The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet 
advising of discussions at the recent meeting of the Board in relation to the 
delegated decision of the purchase of electric BBQs for the beach. In 
relation to this the Chairman of the Board advised that the following 
recommendation be passed to officers and the relevant Portfolio Holders, 
that: 

‘This Committee recommends the purchase of six double barbeques at 
three locations for summer 2021 to evaluate risks identified. This will then 
be reviewed in October 2021 in terms of expansion to Phase 2 in 2022’ 

In addition, the Chairman of the Board advised that they had also 
recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee undertake a 
review of urgent decision-making powers. 

The Leader thanked the Board for their discussions and further to this 
advised that the installation of the barbeques had been dealt with under 
special circumstances due to the Covid related matters, and that Cabinet 
welcomed any discussions surrounding the urgent decision-making powers. 
 

321. The Future of Planning in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member 
and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'A' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 

The report provided an update on current planning application performance 
and ongoing initiatives underway to re-shape the BCP planning service in 
order to support delivery of the Big Plan and other corporate priorities. 

In presenting the report the Portfolio Holder advised that at present the 
service remains in transition post-local government reorganisation and still 
operates as three legacy departments, and that it was anticipated that by 
summertime there would be one planning service in place. 

Further to this the Portfolio Holder highlighted the areas which were being 
worked on to make improvements, including the formation of the Planning 
Improvement Board chaired by the Chief Executive with the intention that 
this would assist with addressing the barriers to optimum performance 
within the service and to continue to drive innovation and enhancement. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the 
Committee highlighting the robust discussions which had taken place 
regarding this item at the recent meeting of the Board. In relation to this the 
Chairman of Board advised that the Board were appreciative of the 
improvements which had already been made, and that further to this the 
Board have requested to review the progress in six months’ time. 

8



– 3 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
RESOLVED that Cabinet: - 

(a) noted and endorsed the measures underway to improve and 
transform the planning service as part of a programme 
approach governed by the Planning Improvement Board; and 

(b) agreed the spend profile for the £250,000 2021/21 budget 
allocation to provide interim support to deal with current 
demand in the system. 

Voting: Nem. Con (2 abstentions) 

Portfolio Holder: Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 

Councillors Mike Greene Nicola Greene declared disclosable pecuniary 
interests in this item and refrained from participating in the discussion and 
voting thereon. 
 

322. Poole Business Improvement District (BID)  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member 
and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the Poole Business Improvement District’s (BID) 
initial 5-year term will finish in June 2021. Further to this Cabinet was 
advised that the BID is currently preparing for re-ballot on 20 May 2021 for 
a second 5-year term, and that this report sought Cabinet approval to 
continue the Council’s support for Poole BID for the second term.     

RESOLVED that Cabinet agree to continue BCP Council’s support of 
the Poole Business Improvement District (BID); and agree: - 

i) To endorse the BID proposal submitted by the Poole Business 
Improvement District; 

ii) To note that the re-ballot will be run by CIVICA at a cost of 
£3,000. It was agreed with the BID that this one-off cost would 
be paid for by the BCP Council Economic Development team 
through existing budgets;  

iii) To note that if the re-ballot is successful, the Council will pay 
any BID levy due in relation to the Council’s properties within 
the BID area (currently totalling £18,887 per annum) for 5 years. 
The service units that own the liable premises will pay the levy 
for their site(s); 

iv) To authorise the Director - Development to complete the ballot 
papers on behalf of the Council in favour of the BID proposal; 
and 

v) To authorise the Head of Legal Services to complete any 
necessary legal agreements required for the operation of the 
BID Levy, Ballot and service arrangements and any other 
necessary matters for the proposed BID in consultation with 
the appropriate officers. 

9



– 4 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
Voting: Nem.Con (2 abstentions) 

Portfolio Holder: Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 

Councillors Mike Greene Nicola Greene declared disclosable pecuniary 
interests in this item and refrained from participating in the discussion and 
voting thereon 
 

323. Acquisition of Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre (Kings Park)  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member 
and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'C' to these Minutes in the Minute 
Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the MHCLG Towns Investment Fund has 
provided an opportunity for the Council to acquire the leasehold interest in 
the Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre, so as to better manage the site for 
the provision of indoor bowls and for wider community benefit, along with 
securing the tenancy of Skills and Learning for the long-term.  And further to 
this Cabinet was reminded that Cabinet on 16th December 2020 approved 
the principle of acquiring the leasehold interest and that this report details 
the Business Case including the financial implications and risks and 
concludes that the overall proposal is viable, should the lease be purchased 
with Towns Investment Fund or Prudential Borrowing pending the outcome 
of the Council’s funding application to MHCLG. 

Councillor Farquhar addressed Cabinet raising questions on the following 
areas on behalf of a resident and member of the bowls club; 

 Costs relating to the purchase back of the lease 

 How many existing staff anticipated will be TUPE’d 

 The ownership, licensing and management of the existing bar and 
café 

 Anticipated numbers of staff to be hired and their employer and 
rights 

 Dilapidation costs 

 Due diligence in inspection and surveys prior to acquisition  

 The date by which the exempt information would become a matter of 
public record 

 Rights of existing members 

 Anticipated Skills & Learning offering in line with Planning 

The Portfolio Holder advised that an email had been sent to Councillor 
Farquhar responding to the areas raised and that the report presented a 
commitment to bowls in the future. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: -  

(a) subject to satisfactory completion of due diligence agrees to 
the Council exchange contracts on the purchase of the 

10



– 5 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre (Kings Park) lease, funded 
by Towns Investment Fund Accelerator Funding; and 

(b) agrees to complete the purchase of the lease for the 
Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Centre (Kings Parks) either: 

(i) utilising Towns Investment Funds grant (subject to 
approval of the Full Business Case by MHCLG funded or; 

(ii) utilising Prudential Borrowing; and 

(iii) delegates authority to the Corporate Property Officer in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder, Monitoring Officer 
and S151 Officer to finalise the detailed terms of the 
acquisition and funding model. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning 
 

324. Highway Asset Management Policy and Strategy  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Sustainability presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was informed that highway asset management principles enable 
informed decisions to be made about investment and maintenance funding; 
assist in the targeting of resources to where they can be most effective and 
enables the identification and management of the risks associated with our 
statutory duties to manage and maintain public infrastructure, and that 
further to this that it is a requirement of the Highway Infrastructure Asset 
Management Guidance and Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure 
produced by the Department for Transport (DfT), that highway authorities 
have an Asset Management Policy and Strategy.  

Cabinet was advised that each legacy authority had its own policy and 
strategy, and that in producing a new BCP Policy and Strategy for Highway 
Asset Management, we have reviewed these legacy documents against 
current best practice and produced a set of documents that can be adopted 
and will shape the way we deliver our highway maintenance programmes 
for the next 5 years in line with DfT requirements.  

In presenting the report the Portfolio Holder advised of the following 
amendment to Appendix 2 (page 14 of the appendix) page 68 of the PDF 
whereby the last line should be amended to read; 

‘Applying principles of sustainability within highway maintenance may have 
an impact on investment priorities and lifecycle costs of the highway assets’ 

And the following additional paragraph being inserted after the above: 

‘Our approach to Highways Maintenance considers the service’s direct and 
indirect impact on our communities and on the environment. Within the 
funding and resources available, we will explore innovative materials, 
treatments and techniques that will maximise our use of environmentally 
friendly and recycled materials and minimise waste and carbon use. 

11



– 6 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
We will appraise the benefits of materials and treatments for maintenance 
and environmental impact, nature conservation and biodiversity in line with 
the Council’s wider environment and sustainability priorities.’ 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet 
thanking the Portfolio Holder for the amendments to Appendix 2 which 
reflected the discussion at the recent Board meeting. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: - 

(a) approves adoption of the draft Highway Asset Management 
Policy and Strategy; and 

(b) delegates authority to the Director for Growth and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Transport and Sustainability, to approve the subsequent Asset 
Management Plan and other associated operational documents 
that will be produced following the adoption of the Policy and 
Strategy.   

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Sustainability 
 

325. Management & development of leisure centres  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Tourism, Leisure and Culture presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'E' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the Council has made a corporate commitment 
to increase leisure provision and help people participate and lead more 
active and healthy live, and that to support this commitment, the report 
makes recommendations regarding the management & development of 
leisure centre facilities including: the provision of a short-term management 
contract with Everyone Active in Poole; the development of a new £1m 
synthetic turf pitch at Rossmore Leisure Centre; and BH Live’s Business 
Plan. 

The Portfolio Holder praised the work of the officers and in particular 
congratulated Two Riversmeet for being named South West Leisure Centre 
of the Year in the Corporate Livewire South West England Prestige Awards 
2020/21. 

Members of the Cabinet spoke in support of the report. 

RECOMMENDED that Council: - 

(a) Approve the new short-term management contract for leisure 
centres in Poole with current operator Everyone Active in 
accordance with confidential Appendix 1; 

(b) Approves £0.7m prudential borrowing to support the total £1.2m 
cost of developing a new Synthetic Turf Pitch (STP) at 
Rossmore Leisure Centre (subject to planning approval & grant 
funding) and the replacement of the existing pitch carpet at Two 
Riversmeet Leisure Centre, in accordance with the finance plan 
in Appendix 3;  

12



– 7 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
RESOLVED that Cabinet: - 

(c) Notes that the Rossmore STP scheme is expected to be 
supported by up to £0.5m grant funding form the Football 
Foundation and other third parties;  

(d) Delegates the Service Director for Destination & Culture and the 
Director of Finance (S151 Officer), in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Tourism, Leisure & Culture, to finalise the 
details and related funding arrangements for (1) and (2); and 

(e) Note BH Live’s Business Plan for 2021/22. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Tourism, Leisure and Culture 

Councillors May Haines and Karen Rampton declared non-pecuniary 
interests in this item and remained present for the discussion and voting 
thereon. 
 

326. Our Museum: Poole Museum Redevelopment Project  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Tourism, Leisure and Culture presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'F' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the Poole Museum Redevelopment Project 
delivers against Big Plan and other strategic Council priorities as well as 
national and regional priorities and policies, and that the Project will 
conserve and open up nationally and internationally significant heritage 
assets and transform the visitor and community experience of the Poole 
Museum Estate.  

In addition Cabinet was informed that in the wider context of Culture and 
the Cultural Compact, the Project will deliver on the Cultural Enquiry 
recommendations for talent, infrastructure, and quality of place and will 
provide new opportunities for under-represented and under-served 
communities and groups to participate in and co-curate their culture and 
heritage and that the project has strong support from NLHF as a priority 
project, third party match funding has been secured and there is a strong 
pipeline from trusts and foundations, with invited applications for additional 
grants totalling £250-450k. Council agreement to submit the NLHF round 2 
application for the Poole Museum element of the project (deadline August 
2021) is requested. 

Further to this Cabinet was advised that project development work 
demonstrates an opportunity to extend the scope of the capital works to 
increase the transformative impact of the project for Poole rejuvenation, 
outcomes for people, built heritage and museum collections, and the 
financial sustainability of the service, and that Council agreement is 
requested for prudential borrowing to support these extended works. 

In addition, Cabinet was informed that there are two scenarios for 
prudential borrowing, dependent on whether a round 2 NLHF application for 
the Poole Museum project is successful. Scenario 1, should the grant bid 
be successful, requires the utilisation of £1,029k prudential borrowing, as 

13



– 8 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
well as £200k CIL (agreed by Cabinet in 2018) as match funding. Scenario 
2, if the NLHF application is unsuccessful, requires the use of £278k 
prudential borrowing for Scaplen’s Court as well as the repurposing of 
£200k CIL allocated within the Scenario 1 model.  

Members of the Cabinet spoke in support of the report stressing the 
importance of this fantastic asset. 

RECOMMENDED that Council: - 

(a) approves the submission of a Round 2 funding application to 
NLHF for £2,240k for the Our Museum: Poole Museum 
Redevelopment Project (total project value £4,242k); 

(b) approves the use of up to £1,023k new prudential borrowing in 
support of the Round 2 funding application. This will reduce to 
£278k new prudential borrowing should the Round 2 funding 
application be unsuccessful;  

RESOLVED that Cabinet: - 

(c) approves the repurposing of £200k CIL allocated to Our Poole 
Museum Redevelopment Project to Scaplen’s Court 
development, in the event of an unsuccessful Round 2 funding 
application; and 

(d) notes the resulting unfunded revenue pressure of up to £17k in 
2022/23 and £70k in 2023/24 from income forgone during 
construction phase. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Tourism, Leisure and Culture 
 

327. BCP Homelessness Strategy  
 
The Portfolio Folder for Homes presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'G' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was informed that everybody deserves a stable, safe and secure 
home, however, many households in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
still face the harmful consequences of becoming homeless or being at risk 
of this.  Cabinet were further informed that homelessness, including rough 
sleeping, is extremely complex, and that addressing the challenges can 
only develop effectively through collaboration of Council services with local 
communities, businesses, charities and other statutory and non-statutory 
partners. 

Cabinet was advised that Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole legacy 
homelessness & rough sleeping strategies require alignment, and that an 
aligned interim Action Plan was agreed by Council in November 2019.  

Further to this Cabinet was informed that the Homelessness Reduction 
Board and Homelessness Partnership have been in place for 2 years now 
and oversee and provide the governance for the preceding action plan and 
has led to the co-production of a new strategy, and that the partnership’s 

14



– 9 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
multi-agency action groups will help to deliver the action plan and this 
approach continues to strengthen and develop. 

In relation to this Cabinet was advised that the Homelessness & Rough 
Sleeping Strategy and Action Plan provides an ambitious, innovative and 
ground breaking strategic approach to tackling homelessness in all its 
forms, with a shared vision of “Ending homelessness in Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole by ensuring everyone has a safe place to live that 
they can call home.”  And that the strategy has 3 clear core aims, each of 
which have a number of ambitious commitments to deliver.   

 Early & Effective Upstream Prevention 

 Reducing and stopping the cycle of homelessness 

 Ongoing Improvement, development and sustainability 

RESOLVED that the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
related Action Plan be approved following the full review and 
consultation period that has been undertaken. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Homes 

Councillor Hazel Allen declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item and 
remained present for the discussion and voting thereon. 
 

328. Housing scheme at Craven Court, Knyveton Road, Bournemouth  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Homes presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'H' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the BCP owned site is currently a 2-3 storey 
residential building with 18 flats, and that further to this the current proposal 
presented a new build scheme of 24 apartments and associated parking to 
be provided on the site. 

In relation to this Cabinet was advised that these homes will help towards 
imminent new Local Plan housing targets and will also contribute 
significantly to unmet housing need. 

In addition, Cabinet was informed that all of the homes are to be for 
Affordable Rent and will be designed to high energy standards meeting 
Passivhaus standards. 

RECOMMENDED that Council: - 

(a) approve the proposed £5.3m housing scheme for progression 
to Council for subsequent approval request: 

a. Approval to tender, commencement and completion of 
build subject to the conditions set out in the Financial 
Strategy and authorises the Corporate Director for 
Environment and Community to approve necessary 
appropriations and contractual and legal agreements in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer. 

15



– 10 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
b. Approve the financial strategy for the scheme as set out 

in paragraphs 24 to 56 with specific approval for: 

i) £3.67m of prudential borrowing to be repaid over 50 
years used to finance the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA). 

ii) The capping of rental income to Affordable Rent 
levels and Local Housing Allowance.  

c. Authorise the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance to determine the detailed 
funding arrangements. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Homes 
 

329. Harmonisation of Pest Control Services  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Community Safety presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'I' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the harmonisation of BCP Council Pest Control 
services required a policy decision on the provision of 100% fee subsidies 
that, under legacy arrangements, are offered only to Poole residents in 
receipt of qualifying benefits.  

In relation to this Cabinet was informed that the net additional cost of 
extending fee subsidies to all BCP Council residents in receipt of qualifying 
benefits is £23,500 per annum at 100% fee subsidy and £4,200 at 50% 
subsidy, and that the recommendation therefore is to offer 50% subsidies to 
all residents in receipt of qualifying benefits. Cabinet was informed that this 
would have less financial impact which could therefore be funded from 
within the service but would maintain subsidised pest control treatments for 
low income households.  

Further to this Cabinet was advised that whilst removing the automatic right 
to 100% fee subsidy in Poole, this recommended policy would benefit low 
income households in Bournemouth and Christchurch where, under legacy 
policies, no subsidies are offered at all, Cabinet was informed that current 
practice allows for pest treatments to be carried out at nil fee where no 
responsible person can be identified or where a householder is unable to 
fund a treatment. 

RESOLVED that: - 

(a) Pest Control services across Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole be harmonised; and 

(b) A fee subsidy of 50% for pest control treatments relating to 
rodents, fleas and bedbugs be offered to residents in receipt of 
qualifying benefits. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Community Safety 
 

16



– 11 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
330. Stour Valley Park Partnership and Strategy  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Environment, Cleansing and Waste presented a 
report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of 
which appears as Appendix 'J' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

The report highlighted work undertaken to date by an extensive partnership 
in developing the concept of a ‘Stour Valley Park’ landscape between 
Christchurch Harbour and Kingston Lacy Estate and sought agreement for 
BCP Council to sign up to the partnership.   

Cabinet was advised that the Stour Valley Park proposals were identified in 
the Bournemouth and Poole Local Plans and that these aim to bring 
partners together in a way that brings the biggest benefits for people and 
wildlife. Further to this Cabinet was informed that importantly it offers 
significant opportunities to contribute to multiple strands of the BCP 
Corporate Strategy including Sustainable Environment, Dynamic Places, 
Fulfilled Lives, Brighter Futures and Connected Communities. 

Cabinet was informed that a consultant has been funded through one 
strand of the Future Parks Accelerator (FPA) key project with an aim to 
develop partnership proposals into a Stour Valley Park Strategy and 
Masterplan, to inform both a new Green Infrastructure Strategy and Local 
Plan, and that the Stour Valley Park Strategy is currently at the public 
engagement and development phase, and that the strategy will be 
presented to Cabinet for adoption in Autumn 2021. 

RESOLVED that: - 

(a) Cabinet agrees to BCP Council becoming a partner within the 
Stour Valley Park Partnership; and 

(b) Cabinet note that a Stour Valley Park Landscape Strategy will 
be developed for Autumn 2021 and recommended to Cabinet for 
adoption. A more detailed landscape masterplan will be 
developed by Spring 2022. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Environment, Cleansing and Waste 
 

331. Harmonisation of Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement Policy  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Community Safety presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'K' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that Regulatory Services and the Licensing Team are 
responsible for undertaking enforcement activity across a wide range of 
public services, and that the aim of these enforcement activities is to protect 
the safety, wellbeing, and the environment of all those who live, work and 
visit the area by ensuring the actions of businesses and individuals comply 
with the relevant legislation and Codes of Practice. 

In relation to this Cabinet was informed that the Council is currently working 
to three legacy enforcement policies for Regulatory Services and Licensing, 
and that this new policy sought to provide one policy for BCP Council.  

17



– 12 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
Cabinet was advised that the Enforcement Policy is recognised as an 
important document for regulators in meeting responsibilities under both 
statutory principles and guidance, and that the Enforcement Policy enables 
the authority to set out transparency in its activities and to ensure that 
enforcement activities are targeted only at cases where action is needed, 
and that further to this the Policy also helps both businesses and 
individuals to understand our objectives and methods for achieving 
compliance and the criteria we consider when deciding the most 
appropriate response to a breach of legislation. 

Cabinet was asked to consider and approve the Regulatory Services and 
Licensing Enforcement Policy. 

In presenting the report the Portfolio Holder advised that Overview and 
Scrutiny had considered this paper at their recent Board meeting but hadn’t 
made any recommendations. 

In relation to this the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
addressed the Cabinet advising that the Board had requested for a paper to 
be brought to Overview and Scrutiny on enforcement generally. 

RESOLVED that the Regulatory Services and Licensing Enforcement 
Policy as set out in Appendix 1 be approved. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder(s): Community Safety 
                               Environment, Cleansing and Waste 
 

332. Futures Fund Governance  
 
The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'L' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was informed that the medium-term financial plan (MTFP) included 
a £50 million futures fund to be illustratively drawn down in tranches of £10 
million per annum over five years in support of key infrastructure 
developments.  

Further to this Cabinet was advised that as the MTFP is an iterative 
process the intention would be to update the annual base budget to reflect 
the flexible nature of the fund if the spending profile adopts a different 
profile to that originally assumed. 

Cabinet was informed that this report set out the proposed governance 
arrangements for the fund.   

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board questioned whether 
there would be any change to the governance board following discussions 
at the recent Overview and Scrutiny Board, in relation to this the Leader 
advised that there haven’t been any changes made as there wasn’t a clear 
decision at the recent Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting but that he 
would take this matter up for discussion with the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board outside of the Cabinet meeting. 

18



– 13 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
RESOLVED that the governance arrangements for the futures fund as 
set out in the report be approved. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council 
  
 

333. Cabinet Forward Plan  
 
The Leader advised that the latest Cabinet Forward Plan had been 
published on the Council’s website and a copy of which had been circulated 
to each Member as part of the agenda and appears as Appendix ‘M’ to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
 

334. Special Educational Needs and Disability Capital Investment – Expansion 
of Longspee Special School at the Bournemouth Learning Centre  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Covid Resilience, Public Health and Education 
presented an urgent report, a copy of which had been circulated to each 
Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'M' to these Minutes in 
the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was informed that pursuant to regulation 10 of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements)(Meetings and Access to Information)(England) 
Regulations 2012 (‘the Regulations’) and in accordance with the 
constitutional requirements and following publication of the required notice, 
that this item was being submitted to Council as a matter of urgency. 

Cabinet was reminded that as part of the Council’s commitment to pupils 
with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), Cabinet in June 
2020 approved £500,000 to re-purpose the former Bournemouth Learning 
Centre (BLC) building as a satellite site for Longspee Special School, and 
that the Council has a duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places in its 
area under s14 of the Education Act 1996. 

In relation to this Cabinet was advised that after that original cost estimate, 
and as a result of the procurement process carried out by the Council’s 
partner, the Ambitions Academies Trust, the total cost of the capital works 
amounts to £1,250,000, leaving a shortfall of £750,000 which the Council 
intends to meet in order to ensure the extra places are available for 
September 2021, and that funding is available to meet the shortfall. 

Cabinet was informed that the reasons for the shortfall, set out in the report, 
include unforeseen works due to the poor condition of the building and the 
need to increase the specification in order to be able to take on roll children 
and young people with the broadest range of needs. 

Further to this the Cabinet was advised that the project still represents 
exceptional value for money as the cost of each place will be more than 
40% below the national average and as a result of not needing so many 
independent placements, the council will make a revenue saving in the 
region of £1.2 million annually. 

19



– 14 – 

CABINET 
14 April 2021 

 
The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet and 
advised that this item was being brough to the May Overview and Scrutiny 
Board despite the fact that the decision will have been made but to allow 
members to discuss the item properly.  

The Chairman of the Childrens Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
addressed the Cabinet expressing frustration that this report hadn’t been 
received earlier and that the Committee had not had the opportunity to 
discuss this item. Further to this the Chairman advised that he would like to 
see some further scrutiny as the project develops and would also like to 
review why the overspend has happened. 

Cabinet Members spoke in support of the incredible provision this will 
provide for children and families. 

In closing the Portfolio Holder advised that she would be responding to the 
queries made from the Childrens Services Overview and Scrutiny members 
which had been received by email. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: -  

(a) approves the further allocation of £750,000 to complete the 
conversion of the Bournemouth Learning Centre; and 

(b) requests the Chief Executive to use the urgency powers 
delegated to him under Part 3.15 of the BCP Council 
Constitution to approve the combined spend on this project of 
£1,250,000 in advance of the next available Council meeting, 
scheduled for 2 June 2021 and that he report this decision to 
Council at that meeting, in order for the additional school 
places to be available for eligible children by September 2021. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder:  

Councillor Jane Kelly declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item and 
remained present for the discussion and voting thereon. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.28 pm  

 CHAIRMAN 

20



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Proposed Regeneration Vehicle Options Appraisal 

Meeting date  26 May 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  To achieve the Council’s regeneration ambitions across the 
conurbation at pace, this report recommends the creation of a 
wholly owned Urban Regeneration Company (URC).  The URC will 
bring together the resources, leadership, and focus required to 
deliver the ambitions set out in the Big Plan which was considered 
by Cabinet and Council in February.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED Cabinet:  

 Supports the establishment of an Urban Regeneration 
Company (URC) and delegates authority to the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader, 
to formally set up the URC subject to his approval of the 
further information set out in this report. 
 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To enable greater focus and capacity for realising the significant 
opportunities for delivering homes and jobs on sites owned, or 
controlled, by the council and increasing the scale and pace of 
delivery. 

The current internal capacity of the council is not sufficient to 
deliver the   scale of ambitions set out in the Big Plan and additional 
support and expertise is required, which after options appraisal, is 
considered to be best met by creating a URC. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Drew Mellor, Councillor Philip Broadhead 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

Report Authors Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

21

Agenda Item 6



Background 

1. On 10 March 2021, the Cabinet approved the use of external consultants to explore 
in greater detail the possible models for accelerating the pace and scale of 
regeneration delivery and authorised the Chief Executive to bring forward a 
subsequent paper with recommendations on possible structures.  The Cabinet paper 
included five alternative models for consideration: 

A. Urban Regeneration Company 

B. Special purpose vehicle 

C. Joint Venture  

D. Strategic Partnership 

E. Expansion of existing wholly owned Council Company 

2. The Council appointed Inner Circle Consulting to explore in greater detail the 
alternative models and undertake options appraisal of the degree to which each 
model would allow the Council to deliver its ambitions and meets its objectives.  

3. The key findings of the Inner Circle Consulting report that reinforce the case for an 
alternative model for regeneration delivery are: 

• The scale of the opportunity is significant delivering up to circa 3,500 homes and £2 

billion gross development value from an initial list of 16 Council owned sites.  

• The Council does not currently have the appropriate capacity, capability, or in-depth 

experience in this field to advance these sites at pace.  

• The Council is seeking a significant step-change in delivery and therefore a 

commensurate step-change in resources, leadership and focus is required.  This was 

recognised in the 2021/22 budget of the council. 

• The strategic sites could have a hugely positive social and economic impact on the 

community and wider area. This supports the rationale for an alternative type of 

delivery model which could bring together the resources, leadership and focus 

described. 

The Ambition 

4. The recently published “Big Plan” captures the Council’s ambition to deliver 
regeneration at a pace and scale not seen before across the BCP area.  

5. The Council has already signalled this intention through the allocation of an 
additional £1.75m ongoing annual revenue budget for the management of 
regeneration, principally to bring forward appropriate Council owned sites and by 
setting up the £50 million Futures Fund intended to enable the Council to invest in 
infrastructure improvements as required. This is in addition to the already 
significant resources that the Council has invested, and continues to invest, in 
project management. This all represents a significant upscaling of the focus and 
resources being applied to delivering growth and investment at the scale that is 
appropriate to the opportunities that the Council has. 

6. It is essential that we utilise these resources to the maximum effect and the 
Council has recognised that to meet its ambition will require a fundamental 
change of approach.  It is therefore proposing the creation of an external vehicle 
to oversee and manage the urban development agenda across the BCP city-

22



region, focusing on bringing forward development on the key sites owned by BCP 
Council. 

Consideration of delivery options 

7. In considering the most suitable regeneration model to deliver this ambition, the 
March Cabinet report set out five options that would be considered as part of an 
options appraisal as follows: 

A. Urban Regeneration Company (URC) - this could be a wholly owned company 

providing regeneration advice and development and project management 

services to the Council. It would not own the sites or enter into JVs or SPVs but 

would support the Council in these activities. 

B. Special Purpose Vehicle – Is a model typically used to bring forward individual 

development sites by the Council acting alone or in partnership with other 

organisations. An SPV could involve partial or complete transfer of ownership of 

the sites.  

C. Joint Venture – The Council would enter into a Joint Venture arrangement on 

one or more sites where an external partner has specific expertise, ownership 

interests or resources. A JV of this nature would generally involve some degree 

of transfer of ownership of the sties. 

D. Strategic Partnership – a Homes England initiative which allocates significant 

Affordable Homes Programme funds on a long-term development basis to those 

organisations (for example, Southern have £55m to deliver over 1000 homes) 

who have land, planning and building skills.  

E. Expansion of existing wholly owned Council Company (Seascape Homes) 

- the scale could be increased to deliver more homes and greater returns to the 

Council’s general fund. The company could build out and manage residential 

developments brought forward by any of the above options. 

8. These options are not mutually exclusive, and the Council may need to consider 
any of these for individual sites as well as a preferred model for meeting the 
overall need for increased delivery capacity. This might result in a matrix of 
appropriate delivery vehicles, dependant on the scale and opportunities on each 
site, but with a strategic overview being provided by the Council’s leadership 
team, and with that capacity supported by a strategic enabler. 

 

 

Appraisal Criteria 

9. The Council developed and used six criteria to assess the five options above 
against a do-nothing option. The criteria cover the different elements that are 
required from a regeneration delivery model to deliver a step-change in the scale 
and pace of delivery. 

10. The six criteria used were: 

I. Value for money – The model must offer a value for money solution for 
the Council to deliver its regeneration ambitions. Value for money is 
assessed by considering the costs associated with the establishment and 
operation of the new vehicle compared to the speed and scale at which it 
could deliver the schemes within the regeneration portfolio. A general 

23



assumption used for the purpose of the appraisal is that the regeneration 
portfolio has the potential to deliver significant and substantial financial 
returns for the Council and economic benefits for the area and 
communities. 

II. Dedicated leadership and focus – successful delivery of regeneration 
projects relies upon dedicated and consistent leadership and focus. 
Without these, projects will not be delivered at the pace required to meet 
the Councils ambitions.  

III. Accelerated delivery – The Council wishes to accelerate delivery of its 
regeneration portfolio. By doing so, these large-scale assets can be 
utilised quicker to their fullest potential for the benefit of the local residents 
and yield substantial financial and economic benefits for the Council, 
residents and communities. 

IV. Adaptability and flexibility – The regeneration delivery model must have 
the ability to adapt and flex easily to changing Council, stakeholder and 
market conditions and requirements. 

V. Scalability – The model must allow the Council the possibility to scale up 
and down over time to respond to the Council’s requirements and the 
opportunities within the market. 

VI. Talent attraction – Competition for individuals with development and 
project management skills is high and there is an overall shortage across 
the industry, and particularly within the BCP region.  

Options Appraisal 

11. The table below captures how the five options compare against a do-nothing 
scenario using the following ratings of likelihood of meeting the Councils 
objectives: Highly likely, Likely, Neutral, Unlikely and High Unlikely. The rationale 
for this scoring can be found in the options appraisal document in Appendix 1. 

  

24



 

Option/ 

Criteria  

Do 

Nothing  

Urban 

Regeneratio

n Company  

Special 

Purpose 

Vehicle  

Joint 

Venture  

Strategic 

Partnership

  

Expansion 

of existing 

wholly 

owned 

Council 

Company 

Value for 

money  

 

Neutral Likely  Unlikely Neutral Likely Unlikely 

Dedicated 

leadership 

and focus 

Unlikely Highly likely Unlikely  Neutral Neutral Unlikely 

Accelerating 

delivery  

Unlikely Highly likely 

  

Unlikely Likely Likely Unlikely 

 

Adaptability 

and 

flexibility   

Likely Highly likely 

  

Highly 

unlikely  

Likely  Highly 

unlikely 

Highly 

unlikely 

Scalability   Neutral Highly likely Highly 

unlikely  

Likely Neutral Highly 

unlikely 

 

Talent 

attraction  

 

Unlikely Highly likely Highly 

unlikely  

Likely  Unlikely Unlikely 

 

 

Preferred Option 

12. The comparison clearly demonstrates that the option most likely to meet the 
Council’s strategic objectives is the Urban Regeneration Company (URC) model. 

13. The URC model would have the following key characteristics: 

 It would be a company wholly owned by the Council and so would ensure 
that it prioritises the Council’s strategic objectives. 

 It would provide regeneration, development, and project management 
services to the Council, and only to the Council in the first instance. 

 The team would be made up of a mixture of directly employed key staff 
and seconded Council staff to get the best results. 

 It would prepare an annual business plan for approval by the Council. 

25



 It would not own any Council assets or enter into any development or 
construction contracts unless agreed by the Council, it is envisioned 
that these would be entered into by the Council following advice from the 
URC, retaining ultimate control within the Council’s leadership. 

 It would advise the Council on the most appropriate and suitable delivery 
models for each of its development sites (including reviewing and 
exploring the advantages of Joint Ventures, Special Purpose Vehicles, 
etc), to ensure the greatest benefits are delivered across the regeneration 
portfolio. 

 It would act as a beacon for the area; attracting the very best people and 
partners to deliver in a world class city region - one of the best coastal 
places in the world in which to live, work, invest and play. 

 Any decisions taken by the Council under this arrangement would be 
open to public scrutiny and subject to the controls of the Council’s 
Constitution.  

Taking the URC Forward 

14. This report sets out the detail of the proposed URC and seeks Cabinet approval 
of the concept and that responsibility be delegated to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader, and working with the Director of 
Finance and the Director of Law and Governance, to set up the company. This 
will include a review and approval of the final business case and agreeing any 
required arrangements regarding and including: 

 Registration at Companies House 

 Preparation of company documentation 

 Establishing governance arrangements 

 Establishing a budget and any constraints on the use of Council funding 

 Recruitment of the permanent team, both board and employees 

 Agreement of any relevant contracts. 

15. The final business case and supporting information will be provided in good time 
to the Chief Executive in preparation for him making any decisions under the 
delegations set out in this report.  It is estimated that the advice will be available 
in full by the end of May, enabling early movement on the set-up of the company. 

How the URC will operate 

16. Development on each site may be delivered directly through the Council, or 
through specific JVs or SPVs established for each site as appropriate.  The 
URC’s primary role will be to employ expert staff who are versed in working with 
the private and public sectors to deliver first class development at scale and with 
pace and to provide expert advice to the Council on the preferred way of 
achieving strong outcomes through regeneration and investment on the key sites, 
and across the wider environment. 

17. The URC will be funded for its activities each year by the Council paying for the 
services provided under a commissioning contract, utilising an element of the 
additional funds that have been allocated in the revenue budget for 2021/22 and 
future years. Some elements will be retained within the Council, including finance 
to ensure that we have adequate regeneration, financial and legal resources to 

26



work as an appropriate and strong client to the URC. The funding will be 
confirmed each year, against the proposed Annual business plan which will be 
presented to the Cabinet and will be set out in an annual service level agreement.   

18. The URC will wish to commission technical project development and 
masterplanning capacity and other technical advice, on behalf of the Council, or 
may advise the Council on the advisory services required. The budgetary 
requirements and the source of funding for this work will be agreed between the 
Council and the URC as required. Until the URC is formally established, any 
interim budgetary requirements for consultancy, staffing and support are being 
met from the £1.75m, governed using the Councils financial rules and 
regulations. 

19. Land ownership will not be transferred to the URC, and it is not intended to hold 
assets so it will not need to raise funds for site acquisition or direct works.  
However, with the guidance and advice of the URC, the Council may decide, 
through its normal governance arrangements, to transfer into or sell land to a JV 
or SPV designed for the purposes of achieving development. Formal decision-
making on each site will remain with the Council, with those decisions guided by 
the outcomes from the URC’s thinking and taken through the appropriate route, 
depending on site value. 

20. The Council will have to provide sufficient budget for any initial development 
activities on each site including master planning and development design and will 
need to fund the establishment costs for the URC for the long term. This will be 
established through a formal service level agreement between the URC and the 
council.  

21. It is likely that the URC will be asked to provide strategic advice on the potential 
uses for the Futures Fund to assist the Council in determining the key priorities 
for this essential investment and to ensure that the use of this fund supports the 
Councils overall direction for regeneration and investment. 

Establishment and structure 

22. The URC will need an agreed staffing and establishment structure which will be 
designed to deliver the long-term ambitions but will also need to flex in light of 
short-term experience of operating alongside the Council. In the interim period 
this will be populated by a mixture of consultants and staff made available to the 
URC with that team gradually being supplemented and replaced by permanent 
appointments into the URC structure and short-term appointments as required.  

23. A number of internal staff have already been identified who have been made 
available to work with the URC and the long-term future of these posts will be 
confirmed during this process, with appropriate consultation and secondment or 
transfer arrangements put in place as appropriate.  

24. It is essential that we provide the capacity that the newly formed URC needs to 
move quickly into productive work, and we will put appropriate measures in place 
to achieve this.  

Summary of financial implications 

25. This report seeks approval to create a URC and authorises officers to set up the 
Company in liaison with the Leader and Deputy Leader. 

27



26. The URC will be a private company limited by shares with a single shareholder, 
Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole Council. As 100% owner of the company 
the council will be able to set the strategic direction of the URC and ensure the 
operational activity of the company accords with such direction. This is important 
for a number of reasons not least ensuring the reputation of the council and its 
financial probity. 

27. In order to ensure that the Council is able to use the URC to deliver on its behalf 
without the need for it to bid in a competitive tender process, the URC will need to 
be set up as a ‘Teckal Company’ in compliance with Public Procurement 
legislation. This means, in essence, that its shareholding cannot be diluted by 
private sector shareholders and it must be sufficiently controlled and/or directed 
by the Council. In addition, its activities must predominantly be for the benefit of 
the Council. 

28. Payment to the URC will be via an annual service delivery contract process. This 
will enable the company to register for VAT compared to the position if it was 
grant funded.  In taking this approach any VAT incurred by the URC will be 
reclaimed. 

29. The URC will be required to produce annual accounts and arrange for these 
accounts to be independently audited. The Council will need to incorporate these 
accounts within its Group Accounts subject to an annual assessment as to 
materiality. There will be a range of additional costs to operate the company, but 
these are considered relatively small compared with the potential benefits that the 
URC will bring in terms of expertise and knowledge. 

30. Any significant matters that arise in setting up the URC will be brought back to 
councillors for approval at Cabinet or Council as appropriate. To be clear matters 
that will need to be finalised but at this stage are not anticipated to be significant 
or material include: 

 The scope of the company’s reserved matters such as the approval of an 
annual business plan, company name, renumeration policy. 

 Making of any loan required to support any working cashflow of the 
company in comparison to the contract payments made by the Council. 

 Annual service level agreements (contract value) on the assumption it is 
fundable within the overall 2021/22 budget for regeneration. 

 Tax implications with a need to ensure any potential liabilities are 
minimised. 

 Any Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 
(TUPE) implications from moving existing staff of the council into the 
company. 

 Any necessary pension and VAT implications. 

 Necessary councillor oversight arrangements including arrangements for 
Scrutiny. 

These matters are not anticipated to be significant/material based on the council’s 
previous experience, via predecessor councils, of setting up such arrangements. 

31. It is important to reiterate that separate business cases for each site that the 
Council proposes to develop based on the recommendations of the URC will be 

28



brought forward for Cabinet and Council approval, as necessary. Such business 
cases will consider the appropriate model for delivery and any associated risks 
including those associated with the financing of the development.  

32. It will also be important to note that if the URC manages any developments, 
subject to an approved business case, on behalf of the Council they will need to 
follow Public Procurement Legislation, the Council’s governance arrangements 
including financial regulations and the contracts will need to be in the name of the 
council. 

Summary of legal implications 

33. In exercising any power or duty local authorities must act for proper purposes, in 
good faith and must exercise their powers properly, following proper procedures 
in a "Wednesbury reasonable" manner. In other words, local authorities must act 
for proper motives, taking into account all relevant considerations, ignoring 
irrelevant matters, not acting irrationally and balance the risks against the 
potential rewards.  

34. Additionally, local authorities must observe the usual fiduciary duties to their tax 
and business rate payers and must discharge their functions with reasonable 
care, skill and caution, and with due regard to the interest of those tax and rate 
payers.  They must also exercise their powers and comply with their duties in 
accordance with its best value duties as set out in the Local Government Act 
1999, i.e., it must make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the 
way in which it exercises its functions, having regard to a combination of factors, 
including economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

35. As part of the Council’s best value duties, it also needs to determine the best way 
in which to ensure it meets its duty to consult in respect of continuous 
improvement of the delivery of its functions pursuant to section 3 of the Local 
Government Act 1999. 

36. Further duties relevant to the context of decision-making include crime and 
disorder reduction, equalities, health and wellbeing.  

37. The Local Government (Best Value Authorities) (Power to Trade) (England) 
Order 2009 empowers the Council to do for a “commercial purpose” anything 
which it is authorised to do for the purpose of carrying on its ordinary functions. 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 introduced the concept of the GPOC, but 
section 4 requires the exercise of the GPOC for a commercial purpose to be 
undertaken through a company (inter alia per section 1(1) of the Companies Act 
2006); this would include a private company limited by shares. 

38. Where the Council exercises the power under the 2009 Order to do anything for a 
commercial purpose, the 2009 Order states that it must first prepare a business 
case and approve that business case. A business case must contain the 
objectives of the business, the investment and other resources required to 
achieve those objectives, any risks the business might face (and how significant 
they are) and the expected financial results of the business, together with any 
other relevant outcomes the business is expected to achieve (s2(4)(a)-(d)). It 
must also ensure that it recovers the costs of accommodation, goods, services, 
staff or any other thing that it supplies to a company in pursuance of the exercise 
of that power. 

29



39. Even if the Council does not intend for the newly incorporated entity to have a 
commercial purpose, but rather simply to deliver development support services to 
the Council in the performance of its regeneration, well-being and economic 
development functions and objectives, a clear business case is recommended to 
be produced prior to any decision being taken in order to support and evidence 
the proper exercise of the Council’s best value duties and fiduciary duties.  This 
work will continue to be developed and it is noted that the exercise of the 
delegated authority to create the URC remains subject to approval of further 
detail relating to this proposal (expected to be available in the near future as set 
out in paragraph 15 above). 

40. The legal risks inherent in setting up a company should be mitigated by taking 
legal advice on all aspects of the proposal.  The advice will need to cover aspects 
such as: 

a. procurement (including Teckal criteria and compliance);  
b. governance and directors; 
c. subsidy control; 
d. TUPE;  
e. equal pay; and 
f. information governance. 

 

41. Further advice will be required on the implementation of the proposed operating 
model (once defined), including the contractual arrangements such as: 

a. legal review of any existing contracts proposed to be accessed by the 
newly incorporated vehicle; 

b. incorporation; 
c. shareholder agreement; 
d. support service agreement; 
e. working capital loan agreement; 
f. commissioning contract; and 
g. lease / licence to occupy. 

Summary of human resources implications 

42. The approval for a URC to be established will have significant Human Resource 
(HR) implications. The business plan will have to cover the employment 
conditions for individuals directly employed by the entity. The employer will be the 
URC, not BCP Council, therefore the following factors will need to be considered 
and determined by the URC Board (not an exclusive list): 

a. Form of Employment contract. 
b. Terms and conditions of employment. 
c. Pension arrangements. 
d. Remuneration, including rates of pay, allowances, incentives and other 

benefits. 
e. HR Policies and processes for example, grievance, disciplinary, 

performance, absence etc. 
f. HR Management systems including payroll and recruitment. 

43. The business plan must also consider how employees of the URC will be 
measured in terms of performance, particularly over long periods of time, and 
subsequently when those performance measures are determined what that may 
result in, in terms of reward. This must be in line with the value that the 

30



commercial vehicle is generating for BCP Council so that we can justify the use of 
public monies in this way. 

44. The business plan must also consider if TUPE is likely to apply, this will need to 
be evaluated in the scoping and will be dependent if there is a transfer of 
services. If TUPE applies, then Terms and Conditions of employment for TUPE 
staff will remain the same which may have an impact with direct employees of the 
vehicle in creating a two-tier workforce that may have challenges with equity. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

45. There are no specific sustainability impacts arising from this report, but the 
framework of regeneration delivery should improve the sustainability of the 
conurbation and each development will be reviewed in terms of its impact all the 
climate and ecological emergency. 

Summary of public health implications 

46. There are no specific public health implications arising from this report, but good 
quality housing is an underlying principle of good public health, and these 
proposals should enable good quality housing development to be brought forward 
at pace. 

Summary of equality implications 

47. There are no specific equality implications directly arising from this report, but the 
accelerated provision of good quality housing development should enable some 
of the inherent inequalities in our communities to be addressed. The URC will 
need to have comprehensive policies for ensuring equality and diversity in 
employment and its operating practices. 

Summary of risk assessment 

48. The risks associated with this report fall into three categories.  Firstly, how the 
Council will manage risks in its relationship with the new regeneration vehicle. 
Secondly, how the new regeneration vehicle will manage company and project 
risk and finally how risks will be managed on individual developments and 
projects. 

49. The manner by which the Council assesses and manages risks in its relationship 
with the new regeneration vehicle and how the vehicle assesses and manages 
company risk will be the subject of further, more detailed work that will be 
captured in the Councils commissioning arrangements and the vehicle’s business 
plan.  

50. Risk assessment and management on individual developments and projects will 
be set out in the individual business cases that will come before Cabinet for 
approval at each investment gateway. 

Background papers 

Published Works: The Future of Regeneration in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, 
Cabinet Report – 10 March 2021 

Business Case framing and Portfolio Definition – report by Inner Circle Consulting 8 April 
2021 

31



 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 - USP Report Supplementary Document - Options comparison rationale 

document 

 

 

 

  

32



Appendix 1 

 

USP Report Supplementary Document - Options comparison rationale document 

 

This document provides the rationale to support the assessment of the alternative options 
considered by the Council for the regeneration vehicle.  
  

Alternative options   
 

The alternative options considered by the Council as part of this assessment are:  
  

A. Do nothing – continue to manage and deliver the regeneration portfolio in line with 
current arrangements.  

B. Urban Regeneration Company (URC) - this could be a wholly owned 
company providing regeneration, development, and project management services to 
the Council.    

C. Special Purpose Vehicle – Is a model typically used to bring forward 
individual development sites by the Council acting alone or in partnership with 
other organisations.    

D. Joint Venture – The Council would enter into a Joint Venture arrangement on one or 
more sites where an external partner that brings has specific expertise, ownership 
interests or resources. 

E. Strategic Partnership – a Homes England initiative which allocates significant 
Affordable Homes Programme funds on a long-term development basis to those 
organisations (Southern have £55m to deliver over 1000 homes) who have land, 
planning and build skills.    

F. Expansion of existing wholly owned Council Company (Seascape Homes) - the scale 
could be increased to deliver more homes and greater returns to the Council’s 
general fund. The company could build out and manage residential developments 
brought forward by any of the above options.   

   
Appraisal criteria 
 

To objectively appraise the alternative options, the Council developed six criteria that 
spanned the different elements necessary to accelerate regeneration delivery as follows:  
  

1. Value for money – The model must offer a value for money solution for the 
Council to deliver its regeneration ambitions. Value for money is assessed by 
considering the costs associated with the establishment and operation of the new 
vehicle compared to the speed and scale at which it could deliver the schemes 
within the regeneration portfolio. A general assumption used for the purpose of 
the appraisal is that the regeneration portfolio has the potential to deliver 
significant and substantial financial returns for the Council and economic benefits 
for the area and communities.   

2. Dedicated leadership and focus – successful delivery of regeneration 
projects heavily relies upon dedicated and consistent leadership and focus. 
Without it, projects will not be delivered at the pace required to meet the Councils 
ambitions.    

3. Accelerated delivery – The Council wishes to accelerate delivery of its 
regeneration portfolio. By doing so, these large-scale assets can be 
utilised quicker to their fullest potential for the benefit of the local residents and 

33



yield substantial financial and economic benefits for the Council, residents 
and communities.  

4. Adaptability and flexibility – The regeneration delivery model must have the ability 
to adapt and flex easily to changing Council, stakeholder and market 
conditions and requirements.   

5. Scalability – The model must allow the Council the possibility to scale up and 
down over time to respond to the Council’s requirements and the opportunities 
within the market.   

6. Talent attraction – Competition for individuals with development and project 
management skills is high and there is an overall shortage across the industry 
(add supporting information).    

  

Options appraisal  
  

Do Nothing  

The do-nothing scenario assumes the Council will continue to deliver the projects within the 
regeneration portfolio as it has done to date. Doing so would have a neutral impact on value 
for money as the costs of delivery compared to the scale and speed of delivery are unlikely 
to change. The Council does not currently have dedicated regeneration leadership that can 
provide consistent focus to the delivery of its regeneration portfolio; consequently, it 
is unlikely that the delivery will be accelerated. Retaining the delivery of regeneration within 
the Council would provide the ability to be adaptable and flexible though not quickly scaling 
up and down to respond to changing Council objectives and market conditions due to the 
nature of Council processes and the timescales associated with some decision making.   
Finally, it is unlikely in the do-nothing option that the Council would be able to attract and 
retain the very best regeneration and development practitioners given the Council salary 
structures and reward system.  
  

Urban Regeneration Company  

The creation of an Urban Regeneration Vehicle (URC) is likely to provide greater value for 
money as the costs associated with its creation and ongoing operation are likely to 
be significantly and substantially smaller than the financial and economic benefits that would 
derive from the greater speed and scale of delivery that it would enable. The URC would be 
led and managed by an Executive team providing dedicated and focussed 
leadership.  The Executive team would be supported and held accountable by 
the URC company board, whose membership would include independent non-executive 
director that would provide additional leadership and capability in the fields of 
regeneration, development and place making. As a consequence, it is highly likely that 
delivery will be accelerated. The URC model provides greater ability to adapt and flex to 
meet changes to Council objectives and market conditions and also the ability to scale up 
and down as circumstances change over time. This can be accomplished through the 
adoption of robust yet flexible policies on employment and recruitment.   
Finally, the URC could become a beacon that could attract and retain the very best talent 
that the market has to offer. This would be achieved through the creation of a high 
performing team culture, compelling employment offer, and the enticement of leading and 
delivering the most exciting regeneration portfolio in the south of England.  
Examples of successful wholly owned Council regeneration companies include Be 
First in the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham.  
  

Special Purpose Vehicle   
The creation of a single or multiple special purpose vehicles (SPV) is unlikely to 
improve value for money as the set-up costs for each are unlikely to propagate a substantial 

34



and significant change in delivery profile. SPV’s would not enable dedicated and focused 
leadership across the portfolio and consequently, on their own, are unlikely to enable 
accelerated delivery of the regeneration portfolio. SPV are typically established to delivery 
individual developments or groups of developments; they therefore have little flexibility and 
adaptability to respond to changing Council, stakeholder and market conditions and 
requirements and typically do not have the ability to scale up and down to meet changing 
needs. The creation of one or more SPV’s is highly unlikely to be able to attract and retain 
the best talent the market has to offer. 
  

Joint Venture   
The creation of Joint Venture is assessed to have a neutral impact on value for money 
because the set-up costs are unlikely to be compensated by a substantial and significant 
change in delivery. While Joint Ventures can provide dedicated leadership and focus it has 
been assessed that, for the range, scale and most importantly early stage of the projects 
within the Councils portfolio, that this model is unlikely to be the most suitable approach. The 
Joint Venture model with the right partner can accelerate delivery and can be adaptable and 
flexible to changing Council, stakeholder and market requirements and can scale up and 
down to respond to changing needs. A Joint Venture could also attract talent within the 
regeneration and development market.  
  

Strategic partnership  

A strategic partnership with Homes England is a long-term arrangement to deliver affordable 
homes in return for capital funding from Homes England. It therefore provides an opportunity 
for the Council to leverage greater investment into the area to support the delivery of 
affordable homes though, on its own, it not a model that can be used to deliver all the 
Councils regeneration ambitions. It offers value for money because it brings in additional 
funding. It is not yet clear how much local leadership Homes England would offer for 
strategic partners however typically leadership and focus on delivery remains the 
responsibility of the Council. The additional funding is likely to have a positive effect on 
accelerating delivery however its unlikely to offer significant adaptability and flexibility to 
meet the changing Council and stakeholder requirements. It is not yet clear if it will be 
possible to scale a Strategic Partnership and it is unlikely to change the ability of the Council 
to attract and retain the very best talent.  
  

Expansion of existing wholly owned Council Company  

The expansion of an existing wholly owned Council Company is unlikely to offer the best 
value for money because although the set-up costs minimal it is unlikely that a company not 
designed to deliver large scale regeneration and development projects will mean a material 
change in delivery. Company leadership is unlikely to have the skills and focus 
and consequently accelerated delivery is unlikely to be achieved. An existing 
company will already have a business plan and constitutional arrangements and therefore is 
highly unlikely to be adaptable and flexible and highly unlikely to be able to scale. An 
existing company will already have a track record no it is unlikely to be able to use that track 
record to attract and retain the very best talent.  

  
Summary  
The table below summarises how the six options compare using the following ratings 
of likelihood of meeting the Councils assessment criteria: Highly likely, Likely, 
Neutral, Unlikely and High Unlikely.   
  

35



 

  

Option/ 
Criteria   

Do 
Nothing   

Urban 
Regeneration 

Company   

Special 
Purpose 
Vehicle   

Joint 
Venture   

Strategic 
Partnership   

Expansion 
of existing 

wholly 
owned 
Council 

Company   
Value for 
money   
  

Neutral  Likely   Unlikely  Neutral  Likely  Unlikely  

Dedicated 
leadership and 
focus  

Unlikely  Highly likely  Unlikely   Neutral  Neutral  Unlikely  

Accelerating 
delivery   

Unlikely  Highly likely  
   

Unlikely  Likely  Likely  Unlikely  
  

Adaptability 
and flexibility    

Likely  Highly likely  
   

Highly 
unlikely   

Likely   Highly 
unlikely  

Highly 
unlikely  

Scalability    Neutral  Highly likely  Highly 
unlikely   

Likely  Neutral  Highly 
unlikely  

  
Talent 
attraction   
  

Unlikely  Highly likely  Highly 
unlikely   

Likely   Unlikely  Unlikely  
  

  
  

 

36



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Potential Transfer of Play sites and Highcliffe Recreation 
Ground 

Meeting date  26 May 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Christchurch Borough Council (CBC) proposed that the new town 
and parish councils assume responsibility for play facilities, subject 
to agreement and formal approval by BCP Council. Highcliffe & 
Walkford Parish Council (HWPC) wish to take on this responsibility 
for Bluebell Close, Mudeford Wood and Highcliffe Recreation 
Ground Play Areas as well as the remainder of Highcliffe 
Recreation Ground.  BCP Council formally advertised the proposed 
disposal of these open spaces and no objections were received.  
HWPC has agreed Heads of Terms to transfer the freehold 
ownership of these sites and arrangements for shared grounds 
maintenance and play inspection liabilities to ensure seamless use 
of these public open spaces.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

(a) After consideration of representations and objections 
from Public Consultation, the results of the Disposal of 
Public Open Space Procedure are noted 

(b) The proposal to transfer the freehold ownership of 
assets to Highcliffe & Walkford Parish Council (HWPC) 
under the terms, conditions and legal arrangements 
reported is agreed 

(c) That the proposal to enter into a contract for Play and 
Grounds Maintenance for 5 years with HWPC and the 
legal and financial responsibilities resting with BCP 
Council for two years are agreed. 

(d) That under the provisions of the Local Government Act 
1972 general disposal consent (England) 2003, it is 
agreed to transfer these assets at below the ‘market’ 
value. 

(e) The transfer of the obligations arising from the Fields in 
Trust designation for Highcliffe Recreation Ground to 
Highcliffe and Walkford Parish Council is agreed. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

HWPC is the Local Authority (Tier 3) and is best able to maintain 
and improve the play and recreation offer within their Parish. Local 
decision making will be in line with its strategic plans for the Parish, 
implemented using funding raised via its precept.  Transfer will also 

37

Agenda Item 7



enable HWPC to implement its proposals for a sensory garden 
within the Highcliffe Recreation Ground.   

The Heads of Terms secures future use of these areas for 
recreation and the transfers will enable HWPC to invest in the 
improvement of these areas.   

BCP Council is to provide grounds maintenance and play 
inspection services for an agreed period to ensure smooth hand 
over of the facilities and seamless delivery of services based on the 
service standards previously delivered. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Drew Mellor (Leader of the Council and Portfolio 
Holder for Finance and Transformation) 

Councillor Mark Anderson (Portfolio Holder for Environment, 
Cleansing and Waste) 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan 

Report Authors Michael Rowland (Strategic Lead for Greenspace & Conservation; 
Alan Ottaway (Landscape & Countryside Team Leader) 

Wards  Highcliffe & Walkford;  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. Christchurch Borough Council’s (CBC) Full Council established a Community 
Governance Review Task and Finish Group in 2018. The Task and Finish Group 
considered the creation of new Town and Parish Councils and the assets which 
were best to be managed locally by them once the Borough Council was dissolved.   

2. Play areas and other assets were considered for transfer but could not be finalised 
because of uncompleted contracted work within Christchurch Play Legacy Project. 
Play areas were therefore not included in the sites to transfer upon the 
establishment of HWPC, although the Task and Finish Group wished that to be 
taken forward by the new Council.   

3. After the establishment of HWPC any proposed transfers would need to follow the 
normal conveyancing process and terms agreed. There would also be the legal 
requirement to advertise any disposal and consider any objections made before any 
decision to dispose could be made (Background Paper - Extract from CBC Full 
Council Report, 11th December 2018 for sites and functions recommended for 
transfer) 

4. Corporate Property Group (CPG) considered proposals to transfer assets to 
Highcliffe & Walkford Parish Council at its meeting on 29th October 2020 and its 
recommendations were agreed. This report provides the results of the Disposal of 
Public Open Spaces procedure. It also provided the terms and conditions of transfer 
for consideration.  

38

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgExecPostDetails.aspx?ID=531
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgExecPostDetails.aspx?ID=531
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgExecPostDetails.aspx?ID=534
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/mgExecPostDetails.aspx?ID=534


Potential Transfer of Play sites and Highcliffe Recreation Ground by Disposal of 
Public Open Space procedure.  

5. In accordance with statutory requirements Public Notices were published in the 
Echo on 21st and 28th January 2021, with the closing date for objections and 
representations on 19th February 2021. 

6. There were no results to report on the Disposal of Public Open Space procedure 
and therefore the disposal and transfer of assets can go ahead should the terms and 
conditions presented and financial and legal considerations be acceptable. The 
proposed Heads of Terms for transfer are provided in Appendix 1.  

  

7. The HWPC proposal for Transfer of Highcliffe Recreation Ground is provided in 
Appendix 2. Further negotiation has taken place on these proposals and where it is 
proposed these terms are agreed, they are incorporated within the Heads of Terms 
for transfer.   

8. Assessment of the market sale value of the assets considered for this transfer has 
been carried out and the value of other benefits being provided as part of the terms 
for the transfer has been totalled, in order to establish the overall undervalue if this 
transfer proceeds. The legal position with regard to the transfer of assets at 
undervalue by the Local Authority has been checked and advice provided (See 
Legal Advice below)  

 

Options Appraisal 

9. CPG recommended the proposal to transfer the two play areas at Bluebell Close 
and Mudeford Wood Community Centre. It included Highcliffe Recreation Ground as 
requested by HWPC in the proposed transfer. 

10. BCP officers have considered the terms for transfer that are outlined in the Heads of 
Terms (Appendix 1) and the Proposal for Transfer of Highcliffe Recreation Ground 
submitted by HWPC (Appendix 2). 

11. The transferred assets have a book value of £178,500 but are to be transferred for 
£1 each. In accordance with legal requirements they must be assessed at open 
market value, but their current usage is protected so the legal and financial 
obligations of the transfer make this asset value un-realisable.  

12. HWPC would become responsible for all the proposed sites, Highcliffe Recreation 
Ground pavilion with its adjoining Public Toilets and any major play or other 
infrastructure on transfer. All proposals for future capital expenditure will therefore 
need to be met by HWPC 

13. The HWPC proposals include requested one off payments by BCP. Details are in 
Appendix 2. 

14. BCP currently has an obligation to keep Highcliffe Recreation Ground and the two 
play sites in good condition for public use. Revenue budget is used for play, grounds 
maintenance, cleaning and building repairs. On transfer this will change with the 
overarching responsibility resting with HWPC. Then resources can be invested back 
into BCP Parks services. 

15. HWPC currently pays BCP for routine grounds maintenance on former council sites 
transferred on 1st April 2019.  This is provided by contract under a Service Level 
Agreement.  BCP will add maintenance of the Recreation Ground and routine Play 
inspections / minor play maintenance on the play sites under a separate section. 

39



Initially it will also include provisions for routine pavilion and toilet cleaning and 
repairs. (Appendices 2 and 3). 

16. To ensure continuity of service and confidence from the community this 
arrangement would last 5 years subject to satisfactory performance or 
implementation of a break clause. This would be agreed by contract, with Yr1 –Yr2 
at no cost to HWPC so they can assess the likely ongoing maintenance costs and 
precept required. Expenditure for Yrs 3-5 will be recharged to HWPC by BCP. 

17. The maintenance contract could be renewed by mutual agreement.  

18. HWPC has plans for wider scale improvements that are considered best 
accommodated by the transfer of the whole Recreation Ground.   

19. The value of BCP’s initial support is tapered and comes from existing budgets. 
Details of financial impacts from these proposals is set out in the section below.  

Summary of financial implications 

20. Open Market valuation of these sites undertaken by the Estates Team provides an 
overall asset valuation of £178,500.   The Heads of Terms proposes transferring 
these sites for the sum of £1 each, with provision for an overage payment to BCP 
Council to reflect the increased value of these sites should they be developed for 
any other purpose within a period of 80 years from the date of transfer. 

21. In the play project approved by Christchurch Borough Council, a budget allocation 
was made for future maintenance of play areas should they be transferred. This was 
£1000 per year for 5 years per site.  £15,000 for the short term maintenance of 
transferred play areas remains available in Christchurch Play Legacy capital budget.  

22. In recognition of the long-term savings to be made by BCP Council, HWPC have 
asked for the non-recurring sum of £10,000. This enables them to establish a 
sinking fund for future maintenance of Highcliffe Recreation Ground. This is 
unbudgeted but could be realised from future savings.   

23. CPG allowed a non-recurring fund of £3,000, necessary for estates and legal costs 
incurred by BCP Council in the transfer of these assets. Part of this funding has 
already been used to accurately identify the assets for the Disposal of Public Open 
Space notices. It will also be used for payment of the Fields in Trust’s costs required 
to transfer BCP Council’s obligations for Highcliffe Recreation Ground to HWPC. 

24. If none of the sites are transferred BCP will remain liable for all expenditure to 
maintain these public assets. It is estimated that the net revenue cost to BCP is 
£30,000 - £35,000 per year. The revenue budget for play park maintenance is under 
significant pressure; under these proposals BCP council will continue to provide 
maintenance for two years, after which the funds used for this land/building applied 
across the remaining play park assets. As well as play and parks maintenance the 
present liability includes a significant portion for contracted cleaning and building 
maintenance of the Pavilion and Public Conveniences. 

25. The transfer of these sites will be at below best value.  The total amount of the 
undervalue will be £265,100. This is based on site market value, sums to be paid to 
HWPC and value of maintenance to be carried out by BCP Council for the first two 
years after transfer. The realisable undervalue is £87,000 so the table below shows 
the financial affects without the unrealisable land value of £178,500.  

 

40



 

 

26. In summary there will be no additional cost to the council as a result of these 
proposals.  The transfers of one-off items ear-marked for this purpose are already 
set-aside, CPG have provided the one-off funding necessary for the estates and 
legal costs, and from year three following the transfer the revenue budget will be 
applied across the remaining council play park assets.  There will be a longer-term 
financial impact with regards capital spend on these assets, which will be the 
responsibility of HWPC rather than the council. 

Summary of legal implications 

27. The Council has the legal power to dispose of its land as it thinks fit pursuant to 
S.123 of the Local Government Act 1972, subject to the requirement to obtain best 
value (unless consent is given by the Secretary of State).  There is an added 
requirement when disposing of land consisting or forming part of an open space to 
advertise the proposal in two consecutive weeks in a local newspaper and consider 
any objections made.  This procedure has been undertaken and no objections were 
received. 

28. A general disposal consent pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972 was issued 
in 2003 to permit the disposal of sites at less than best consideration in certain 
circumstances, provided the undervalue is below £2 million.  This general consent 
reminds councils that they should not divest themselves of valuable public assets 
unless they are satisfied that the circumstances warrant such action.  The general 
consent means that specific Secretary of State consent is not required for the 
disposal of any interest in land at below market value, which a council considers will 
help it to secure the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or 
environmental well-being of its area.  The grounds to support the achievement of 
these objectives are set out in the reasons for the recommendation above. 

29. For the purposes of the general consent, BCP Council needs to be aware of the 
likely amount of the undervalue.  A valuation of the market value of the sites to be 
transferred has been undertaken and the value of the additional benefits to be 
provided by BCP Council has been assessed to calculate the final undervalue 
amount.  This is below £2 million and therefore within the scope of the general 
consent.   

30. By a Deed of Dedication dated 03 April 2012, Highcliffe Recreation Ground was 
dedicated as a Queen Elizabeth II Field.   This means that the consent of the Fields 
in Trust is required in order to dispose of this land.  An application is being made to 
the Fields in Trust and they have provisionally indicated that consent would be 
forthcoming, provided HWPC enter into a similar Deed of Dedication with them.   

41



Summary of human resources implications 

31. There would be no immediate change in resources required or staffing committed to 
undertake maintenance. There is no potential transfer of a service or contract where 
TUPE may apply as the nature of work is spread across a wide range of service 
areas and personnel.  

32. There is no requirement for Full Equality Impact Assessment, as service standards 
remain unaffected by the proposals. 

33. Policy decisions on services and standards will become a matter for HWPC upon 
transfer. Equalities Impact Assessments would be required by HWPC should 
changes be considered by them in future. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

34. The DIA has been undertaken and the Sustainability rating is Low.  

Summary of public health implications 

35. There are no foreseeable health and wellbeing issues arising, although local 
decision making may allow HWPC to tailor facilities and services more accurately in 
future.  

Summary of equality implications 

36. There are no equalities issues arising from this decision. The duty for land 
management will sit with HWPC. HWPC are another Local Authority to which the 
public sector equality duty under the Equality Act 2010 applies.  The new owners will 
be required to meet the Local Authority responsibilities for equalities via Equality 
Framework For Local Government 2020 

Summary of risk assessment 

37. A Decision Risk Assessment has been undertaken and the Risk level was rated Low 

Background papers 

Extract from CBC Full Council Report, 11th December 2018 for sites and functions 
recommended for transfer. DIA, EIA and Risk report. 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Proposed Heads of Terms for transfer. 

Appendix 2 – Proposal for Transfer of Highcliffe Recreation Ground submitted by HWPC 

Appendix 3 – Schedule of costs: Maintenance of Highcliffe Recreation Ground, Bluebell 

Close and Mudeford Wood play areas. 

 

42

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Equality%20Framework%20For%20Local%20Government%202020.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Equality%20Framework%20For%20Local%20Government%202020.pdf


 
 Page1 

BCP Council Cabinet meeting: 26th May 2021  
Potential Transfer of Play sites and Highcliffe Recreation Ground 
Appendix 1 – Proposed Heads of Terms for transfer. 

 
CONFIDENTIAL 

 
 

CMS Ref: 
Contact Officer (full name): 

E-mail address: 
Ext.: 

C238, C228, C199 
Brian Walton (Estates Manager) 
brian.walton@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  
01202 795347 

                             

PROPERTY SERVICES 
To:  Legal Services (FAO: Helen Garrett, Team Leader) Property.Legal@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  
 Instructions to Solicitors File (electronic copy) 

 File Copy (signed original) 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE PROPERTY OFFICER ON TERMS AGREED UNDER 
DELEGATED POWERS FOR THE TRANSFER OF PROPERTY BY ARRANGEMENT. 

 
Proposed Heads of Terms – Issue (Rev.3) – Date of Issue: 10/03/2021 

 
1. Description of properties, 

including site area, plan no. title 
nos. and any parking included in 
the demise: 

1. Mudeford Wood Play Area. Title No. DT66138 
2. Highcliffe Recreation Ground including Play Areas 

(I.E. Highcliffe Toddler & Highcliffe High 5 Play 
Areas). Title No. DT372924 

3. Bluebell Close Play Area. Title No.DT182788 
 
Refer attached Plans: - APPENDIX 1 * + other attachments. 

2. Name and Address of Transferor: Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole Council (BCP 
Council). Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth  
BH2 6DY 

3. Transferor’s Solicitors: Legal Services, Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole 
Council, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth  
BH2 6DY 

4. Name and Address of Transferee: Highcliffe & Walkford Parish Council (c/o Trish Jamieson – 
Town Clerk), Old School House, 254 Lymington Road, 
Highcliffe Dorset BH23 5ET 
 

5. Transferee’s Solicitors: Please issue to Highcliffe & Walkford Parish Council (HWPC) 
in the first instance. 
 

6. Title Information: Title Information – BCP Council will transfer the title it has 
to the assets and will not be required to give a better title 
or provide any title indemnity insurance and all existing 
maintenance responsibilities will pass to HWPC.  HWPC will 
be responsible for makings its own arrangements for its 
future maintenance responsibilities, which may include 
entering into an arrangement with BCP Council. 

7. Proposed Heads of Terms:  

8. Target Transfer Date 1st June 2021 – or as soon as possible thereafter. 

 a. Transfer No sites which consist of or form part of an open space are 
disposed of until the proposed disposals have been 
advertised in accordance with S.123 (2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. This has now been undertaken and 
no formal objections have been received. 

 b. Price (consideration) 
 
c. Overage 

One (1) Pound per site. 
 
The sites are transferred on the basis that should there be 
any change of use or planning approval for any 
development or change of use be granted or obtained at 

43

mailto:Property.Legal@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 
 Page2 

any time within a period of 80 years after completion of the 
transfer for any development or change of use (including 
implementation of permitted development rights), BCP 
Council will be entitled to 50% (half) of any uplift in the 
value of the land. The payment of any sums due would be 
on the implementation of any planning approval or change 
of use or any disposal whichever occurred first. 

   

9. Site Plans Site plans with boundary details where known. Refer 
Appendix 1 below. 

10. Rights & Covenants HWPC will take each of the assets subject to all existing 
rights and covenants which affect it and will be required to 
indemnify BCP Council against any breach of them.   

11. Fields in Trust Status of Highcliffe 
Recreation Ground (QE II Field in 
Trust) 

The consent of Fields in Trust is required to the Transfer of 
Highcliffe Recreation Ground.  They have indicated that 
consent should be forthcoming provided HWPC enter into a 
similar deed of dedication at the same time as taking 
ownership.  A Field Change Request is being submitted to 
commence the formal process. This then goes to the Fields 
in Trust Planning and Land Committee. When the forms are 
submitted, Fields in Trust will require an undertaking that 
all costs will be paid to Fields in Trust, regardless of the 
outcome. It is anticipated that costs will be in the region  
of £450.  
 
They have also invited HWPC to get in touch with them to 
discuss any queries on the deed etc.  

12. New Covenants 
 
 

 

HWPC will be required to enter into covenants to use the 
asset in accordance with its existing use and further 
development will be prohibited unless in accordance with 
that use.  In addition, other standard covenants will be 
imposed, including a no nuisance covenant, boundary 
covenants and other maintenance covenants where 
appropriate. HWPC will enter into covenants to continue to 
use the Highcliffe Recreation Ground as a Recreation 
Ground and the play areas as open space areas for the 
purpose of public recreation.  HWPC will not close the 
Highcliffe Recreation Ground toilets without first 
undertaking public consultation. 

13. Additional Rights, Exceptions & 
Reservations. 

As appropriate to the asset.  For example, it may be 
necessary to grant a right of way to the asset over other 
land owned by BCP Council or to grant or reserve the right 
for services or the right of entry to maintain the asset or 
BCP’s Council’s retained land. There is access from the 
public highway at Highcliffe Recreation Ground and at 
Bluebell Close. A right of way will be granted to undertake 
maintenance/ refurbishment at the play area at Mudeford 
Wood, but vehicle access over Mudeford Wood from the 
main public access to the play area should  be kept to the 
minimum required. A right will also be granted for one 
maintenance vehicle to access and park within the 
Mudeford Wood Car Park whilst work is being undertaken to 
the play area.  
 

14. Other Provisions As appropriate, including standard clauses for non-fettering 
of BCP Council’s rights, duties and obligations in its 
functions as a local authority despite the transfer; that for 
the purposes of Section 6(2) (a) of The Law of Property 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994 all matters now 
recorded in registers open to public inspection are to be 
considered within the actual knowledge of  HWPC and 
where BCP Council retains land, the reservation of light and 

44



 
 Page3 

air.  
 

15. Existing Leases Where the asset is leased to a third party, HWPC becomes 
the landlord in place of BCP Council and responsible for the 
landlord’s covenants/maintenance obligations as set out in 
the lease.  Where appropriate, the necessary releases will 
be given to BCP Council.  HWPC will also take subject to 
any existing hiring out agreements (including for any events 
which have been booked prior to the date of transfer). 

16. Terms All terms will be agreed subject to contract. 
 

17. Disposal No disposal of land consisting or forming part of an open 
space can be made unless the statutory requirements of 
S.123 (2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 have been 
met: - this requirement has now been met. 

18. Special Maintenance Obligations 
(if any) 

If BCP Council are granting access over BCP land then 
provision should be made to recharge for access 
maintenance ‘according to user’ – it may be rarely used but 
this is a permanent change and the facility for recharging 
should apply. 
 

19. Condition of the Assets on 
Transfer 

As at the date of Transfer and BCP Council gives no 
warranty as to the condition of the assets. 

20. Costs: VAT, HWPC’s legal and other costs, Land Registry Fees, 
Stamp Duty and all other taxes are to be borne by HWPC. 
That means HWPC pay their own costs incurred in 
connection with the Transfer. 
 

21. Insurance, Public Liability & 
Negligence Claims etc. 

HWPC as owner of these assets and therefore the person in 
control and responsible for these liabilities. 
 

22. Transfer of Maintenance Fund for 
Play Areas 

On completion of the Transfer of each of the three sites,  
BCP Council will pay the sum of £5,000 to HWPC, being 
£1,000 per annum for the annual maintenance of the play 
equipment, subject to the play equipment being retained 
for a minimum of 5 years from the date of each Transfer.  
The maximum payment will therefore be £15,000. 

23.  Payment to HWPC for Highcliffe 
Recreation Ground 

In recognition of the savings to BCP Council in maintenance 
costs for Highcliffe Recreation Ground (including the 
Pavilion and Toilets) and to assist HWPC in taking on these 
maintenance responsibilities, on completion of the Transfer 
of the Highcliffe, BCP Council will pay the sum of £10,000 
to HWPC. This is in accordance with the request from HWPC 
as set out in their proposed terms for the transfer of the 
remainder of the Highcliffe Recreation Ground in addition 
to the play areas. 

24.   
 Notes and Other Information/for 

Discussion 
 

   

   

 a. Proposed HWPC SLA  BCP Council and HWPC will enter into an agreement under 
which BCP Council will undertake grounds maintenance 
works to Highcliffe Recreation Ground and the play areas 
and inspection of the play equipment for a period of 5 years 
from the date of the Transfer.  No fee will be charged for 
the first two years and thereafter, HWPC will reimburse the 
Council for the cost of the work undertaken. 

 b. Maintenance Works to be 
carried out 

 
As set out in the Schedule of maintenance costs 

 c.  Break Clause Break clause.  Either party may give not less than six 
months’ notice, to take effect on 31 March in any year after 
the end of the first two years of the term of the 

45



 
 Page4 

Agreement.  This shall only apply to the grounds 
maintenance elements of work within the Agreement, with 
corresponding reduction in the costs recharged HWPC.  This 
shall not apply to the inspection of the play equipment, 
which will continue for the full five years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 
 
Site Plans * 
 

1. Mudeford Wood Play Area 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



 
 Page5 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2. Highcliffe Recreation Ground Play Areas (Highcliffe Toddler & Highcliffe High 5 Play Areas) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47



 
 Page6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3. Bluebell Close Play Area 

 

 
 
 

48



Cabinet Report 26th May 2021 

Potential Transfer of Play sites and Highcliffe Recreation Ground: 
Appendix 2 – Proposal for Transfer of Highcliffe Recreation Ground submitted by HWPC 
 

 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP OF HIGHCLIFFE RECREATION GROUND 
TO 

HIGHCLIFFE & WALKFORD PARISH COUNCIL 
 

PROPOSED TERMS OF TRANSFER 

1. The Recreation Ground together with the Pavilion and Public Toilets to transfer from 

BCP to the HWPC with effect from 1st April 2021 (or earlier if the transfer can be 

approved before that date). 

2. HWPC will enter into a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with BCP to provide all the 

required maintenance services as listed in Appendix 1.  The SLA will be renewed 

annually; subject to 12 months notice from either side to discontinue it.  Initially the 

cost of the  SLA will be £29314 pa as provided by BCP and as detailed in Appendix 1. 

3. After giving 6 months notice, to take effect any time after 1st April 2023,   HWPC may 

discontinue any elements of the SLA with reductions in its cost determined by the 

figures in Appendix 1 for the discontinued services.  

4. The level of service provided for any item in the SLA,  together with its associated cost, 

may be varied by agreement.  

5. To recognise that the costs will be wholly borne in future years by Highcliffe & 

Walkford taxpayers, to the benefit of BCP taxpayers as a whole, the SLA for the years 

2021/22 and 2022/23 will operate as above, but will not be recharged to HWPC. This 

‘period of grace’ is requested  to allow the parish council to gain a fuller understanding 

in practice of all the elements contained in the SLA and thereby to find ways to 

improve the value for money we deliver to sports clubs, children and residents alike. 

6. The transferred asset is entirely of a non-commercial nature and therefore the asset 

value will be nominal. 

7. As with the transfer of the play areas to CTC and HWPC a dowry should accompany the 

Recreation Ground. Taking a 10 year horizon, the cumulative saving to taxpayers of 

Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole will amount to over £0.25 million and that 

additional burden will fall entirely on the taxpayers of Highcliffe & Walkford. We 

suggest a reasonable dowry, to recognise this saving to BCP, would be the equivalent 

of two years contributions to the suggested sinking fund,  i.e. £10,000.   

49



APPENDIX 1 
 

 

 

 

 

MAINTENANCE SERVICES TO BE INCLUDED IN SLA together with their cost at 2020/2021 prices 

 

 

Item Cost 
(£) 

Grounds Maintenance  

Gang Mowing 3542 

Informal Banks with bulbs 160 

2 Raised beds 507 

Litter Picking in play areas 922 

Waste Disposal 150 

Football Pitches 4437 

Other 72 

Sub Total 9790 

Pavilion  

Building Works 8900 

Insurance 200 

Inspection 319 

Cleaning 975 

Sub Total 10394 

Public Conveniences  

Cleaning 4244 

  

Sub Total  4244 

Other  

Litter & Dog Bins 2340 

Tree Inspection 546 

Tree Work 2000 

Sub Total 4886 

  

 TOTAL 29314 

 

 

50



Item/ site

HC Rec 

Play area 

costings 20-

21 

Bluebell 

Close Play 

area  

costings 20-

21

Mudeford 

Wood CC 

Play area  

costings 20-

21

Totals

Play inspections £1,206.09 £744.85 £744.85

Other works £2,491.62 £744.97 £871.63

Totals £3,697.71 £1,489.82 £1,616.48 £6,804.01

Appendix 3 - Schedule of annual costs: Maintenance of Highcliffe 

Recreation Ground, Bluebell Close and Mudeford Wood play areas.

HWPC -  annual costings for Play area inspections and other 

related routine play area husbandry

Potential Transfer of Play sites and Highcliffe Recreation Ground

BCP Cabinet - 26th May 2021

51



This page is intentionally left blank

52



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Fly-tipping and Fly-posting Enforcement Pilot 

Meeting date  26 May 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  
Fly-tipping and fly-posting cause significant environmental issues 

and adversely impact the street scene in the BCP Council area.  

Both have increased in past years, replicating the national picture. 

Investigations of incidents in legacy authorities were limited due to 

resource constraints, with penalties for offenders of fly-tipping and 

fly-posting few in number. Regulatory Services are seeking to 

adopt a consistent and robust approach to tackling offenders, whilst 

minimising additional resource requirements. 

The Council has powers under the Environmental Protection Act 

1990 to deal with incidents of fly-tipping and littering.  Householders 

also have a duty of care to ensure their waste is collected by a 

reputable company with the relevant waste transfer permissions.  

Businesses also have a duty to ensure sufficient measures are in 

place to manage their commercial waste.   

Fly-posting, the displaying of promotional materials or adverts 

without permission on public furniture, is enforced through the Anti-

Social Behaviour Act 2003. 

A private company with 10 years of experience in the 
Environmental Crime Industry and working with numerous Local 
Authorities have outlined their ability to investigate and enforce the 
above on behalf of BCP Council.   

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Cabinet approves the commencement of a 12-month 
pilot scheme to deploy a suitable qualified contractor to 
undertake investigations and prosecutions of fly-
tipping and fly-posting incidents. 

(b) Cabinet agrees to receive a further report following 8 
months of this pilot, which will include 
recommendations for the future of this service.  

(c) Cabinet approves the levels of fines for relevant 
offences as per paragraph 11. 

53

Agenda Item 8



Reason for 
recommendations 

The responsibility for enforcing against enviro-crime issues such as 

those in scope for this pilot were carried out by different 

departments in legacy BCP authorities with limited resources.  

Poole and Christchurch issued fines for a minimal number of 

incidents, however no prosecutions were undertaken from 2017 to 

2019 according to returns submitted to National Government. 

Since Local Government Re-organisation, officers within 

Regulatory Services have only been able to carry out limited 

investigations due to lack of available resources and the need to 

prioritise other statutory demands.  This proposal will allow the 

Council to access additional resource and should facilitate a more 

consistent, robust and thorough response to all relevant incidents. 

The cost of the proposed pilot is to be paid for by the Council out of 
fines received and will therefore be undertaken at no additional cost 
to the Council. 

If the pilot is approved by Cabinet, the company will be ready to 
start in July 2021 providing the contract can be signed off within 
that time. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Mark Anderson and Councillor May Haines 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan  

Report Authors 
Kelly Ansell, Service Director - Communities  

Peter Haikin, Head of Regulation  

Matthew King, Regulation Team Manager 

Stuart Best, Waste and Cleansing Team Manager 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background 

1. It is widely accepted that environmental offences can adversely impact on the 
local environment and can also influence how attractive areas are to residents, 
workers, visitors, local businesses and their trade.  It can affect how safe and 
happy people feel about living in an area. 

2. Fly-tipping is different to littering in terms of scale.  Litter is usually classed as a 
single or small number of items dropped by an individual, whereas fly-tipping is 
often large items or more than one sack of waste.  Littering is not within the scope 
of this report. 

54



3. The approach to legacy authority enforcement services for fly-tipping and fly-
posting investigations varied between authorities. The approach must therefore 
be harmonised across BCP and a consistent means of effective operation 
identified.   

Existing Arrangements 

4. Since the creation of BCP Council, fly-tipping incidents have been investigated 
where capacity allows. This means that only the most severe issues are pursued.  
When cases do go forward, various enforcement tools are utilised and invariably 
investigations are complex with a high burden of proof required and witnesses 
willing to attend Court or provide statements.  Given capacity issues within 
Regulatory services, exacerbated by Covid 19, as well as the challenges and 
reluctance of witnesses, a consistent service cannot currently be achieved. 

5. Cleansing and Waste Services are currently clearing most fly-tips of any scale on 
public land.  This costs the Council a significant amount of officer time and money 
and the action of simply clearing does not deter offenders from repeating the act.  
In Bournemouth alone, costs to clear and dispose of fly-tips were approximately 
£303,800 from April 2018 to March 2020. 

6. On private land, fly-tips that adversely affect the amenity of the area present a 
health risk or attract vermin are dealt with by Community Enforcement and 
Environmental Protection officers through engagement and/or enforcement 
against the landowner to remove the matter.   

7. Current service capacity is therefore unable to meet the level of demand and 
does not permit adequate investigation of all fly-tipping and fly-posting reports.  
Clearer reporting and investigation processes can be implemented, however the 
threshold for reports that lead to investigations is likely to be high and would still 
be reduced at peak times of other statutory demands, such as Spring, Summer 
and start of student terms. 

Proposed Pilot Operating Model  

8. Due to the current lack of available resource to support this activity, the Council 
has undertaken a review of services offered by private enforcement companies to 
explore options for a possible supported operating model. 

9. A zero-cost option was identified and is now recommended. The provider has 
significant experience in the environmental crime industry.  It has also worked 
with many Local Authorities across the UK and currently works in partnership with 
numerous councils undertaking similar work.  

10. The proposal is to commission the provider to provide a pilot service for 12 
months. During this time, they would be authorised by BCP Council to undertake 
aspects of environmental enforcement.  Whilst the authority and responsibility for 
such action will always remain with BCP Council, the company will undertake the 
delivery of the following: 

 Staffing, uniforms and IT 

 Equipment (Handheld Device, body worn cameras and mobile phones) 

 Company vehicle  

 Patrols and hotspot identification 

55



 Issue of Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) and subsequent prosecution if unpaid 

 Correspondence relating to non-payment  

 Witness statements and the provision of evidence 

 Call handling and complaint management  

 Collecting and reconciling FPN payments 

 Prosecution files compilation and management  

 Freedom of Information requests concerning FPN figures and revenue generated 

 Performance report management 

11. The provider has confirmed that all costs incurred in the delivery of this pilot will 
be recovered through income from Fixed Penalty Notices.  Appendix 3 sets out 
the operating procedure and complaints process in more detail. 

Summary of financial implications 

12. Fees for Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) for relevant offences covered by the pilot 
can be set by the Council within certain levels and for this pilot the following 
amounts will be charged for the relevant offences in line with the Legislation 
limits: 

Fly-tipping: 

 

 £200 within 14 days, £400 within 28 days 

Fly-posting: 

 

 £75 within 14 days, £150 within 28 days 

Household duty of care:  

 

 £200 within 14 days, £400 with 28 days 

Failing to provide Waste Transfer Notes:  

 

 £180 within 14 days, £300 within 28 days 

Commercial Waste Receptacles: 

 

 £75 within 14 days, £110 within 28 days 

13. The higher penalty will remain for each FPN served until the case is referred to 
Court at which point, if the perpetrator is found guilty of the offence, fines, victim 
surcharge and costs may be awarded.  There is no further increase in the FPN 
amount at anytime. 

14. The provider will be responsible for the collection of all payments on behalf of 
BCP Council.  The company will retain 95% of the revenue and pay BCP Council 
5% of all income generated at the end of each financial quarter. 

15. In order to comply with VAT regulations, the provider will issue a VAT-only 
invoice to the Council in relation to the 95% revenue they will retain.  Any VAT 
charged will be fully recoverable by the Authority through the VAT return process.  

56



The service and finance will put processes in place to ensure all tax regulations 
are adhered to for both the Council and the provider so that neither party is put at 
any risk. 

16. The Council will not be liable should the provider not meet the expectations 
indicated.  The agreement is based on zero cost to the Council and should BCP 
Council terminate the contract on grounds set out in the terms and conditions of 
the contract and with consideration of the provider’s agreed code of conduct, 
there will be no cost applied.  

17. Following the pilot any ongoing contract would be subject to a formal 
procurement exercise. 

18. Based on the providers projections for 12 months across the BCP area, the 
following financial information is forecast: 

 

Offence Number of FPNs 

(served/paid) 

Amount Recovered 

through FPN payment 

Fly-tipping (including option 

of enforcing through 

Littering offences) 

888/622 £106,640 

Householders Duty of Care 45/32 £5,100 

Business Duty of Care 153/108 £20,160 

  £131,900 

*These figures are based on the experience of the provider with other urban Local 

Authorities where this work has been carried out and in addition to the national returns 

provided on fly-tipping by the legacy Authorities. 

19. Unfortunately, there can be no accurate projections for fly-posting and officers 
expect the numbers to be low for this aspect of the pilot. 

20. From the recovered fines, the provider will pay their operational and staffing costs 
and undertake prosecutions against perpetrators who have not paid, keeping any 
costs awarded at Court.  The Council will receive 5% of the total recovered 
payments, which at the projected rate will be £6,595, based on the assumptions 
outlined.  This will support the management of the pilot by Council officers. 

Summary of legal implications 

21. Officers carrying out these duties will be authorised to act under the relevant 
Legislation by the Council. 

22. The Council has powers to deal with fly-tipping pursuant to: 

a. section 33 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 

23. The Council has powers to deal with duty of care and commercial waste 
receptacles pursuant to: 

57



a. section 34 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 

b. section 47 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 

24. The Council has powers to deal with fly-posting pursuant to: 

a. section 43 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 

25. The Council would appoint the provider under a contract for services for a fixed 
period of 12 months with a right to terminate on 30 days’ notice at any time and 
60 days’ notice prior to the end of the contract.  Legal Services advice will be 
sought in connection with preparation of the contract. 

26. Where any fixed penalty notice is not paid, the decision to issue legal 
proceedings will remain with the Council’s Monitoring Officer, although the 
company would provide the Council with full information and a clear 
recommendation as to the merits of proceeding with a prosecution and would 
undertake the proceedings. 

27. Legal proceedings would be taken at expense to the provider and they would 
keep any costs awarded by the Courts.  The provider will instruct and pay for their 
own legal representatives, agreed in advance with the Council.  Where costs are 
awarded by the Courts, on receiving these monies, the Council will pay this and 
any VAT due to the company, recovering the VAT through the returns process as 
set out above. 

28. Officers will use bodyworn cameras during any engagements with alleged 
offenders to help ensure accuracy and transparency.  The Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000 has been considered during this review of 
services provided by private enforcement companies.  It is deemed that the 
required work will not require authorisation under RIPA, with no covert or directed 
surveillance required to achieve the aims of the pilot. 

29. Data sharing to enable the company to investigate all reported incidents, as well 
as any found proactively on patrol, will be permitted through the contract for the 
pilot.  BCP would be the data controller and the private company the processor. 
The company would be carrying out actions on behalf of the Council as they do 
not have the power to enforce in their own right and can only use information 
obtained to carry out their obligation under the contract.   

30. On the basis of the sums anticipated to be collected (as set out in paragraph 16) 
above, the Council’s Procurement team has advised that a 12-month pilot may be 
progressed providing a detailed waiver is signed off at the relevant levels to 
outline how the pilot represents value for money and ensure due diligence has 
been completed on the intended provider. 

Summary of environmental implications 

31. The impact of a successful project will be positive for the environment with fewer 
incidents of fly-tipping and fly-posting as well as greater prevention of the issue. 

32. At present the Council have limited ability to try to deter perpetrators and a press 
release at the start of the project and updates on successful prosecutions will 
take place to let residents know that this will not be tolerated in our communities. 

58



Summary of public health implications 

33. Fly-tipping and fly-posting has a detrimental impact on public perception of the 
quality of affected environments, including publicly accessible greenspaces. 
Public use of greenspaces, and the degree of health & wellbeing benefit derived 
from that use, is partly determined by greenspace quality. The anticipated 
reduction in fly-tipping and fly-posting will contribute to wider efforts to maintain 
and enhance the quality of public greenspace (and the wider public realm) and 
associated benefits for public health and wellbeing. 

Summary of equality implications 

34. There are no adverse effects on protected groups and all communities should 
benefit long term from reduced environmental crime with the success of this pilot.  
A full equality impact assessment has been included at Appendix 2. 

Summary of risk assessment 

35. There is a risk to the reputation of BCP Council if the proposed pilot receives 
adverse commentary or complaints are received regarding the officers carrying 
out these duties. To mitigate this risk, a robust training plan for any newly 
employed officers and a complaints procedure will be in place and oversight by 
officers from the Council will occur regularly and when allegations of poor practice 
are made.  All interactions between officers and suspects will be captured on 
bodyworn cameras ensuring a fair and impartial investigation of any complaints 
can be carried out.  Where poor practice is identified, the Council will meet with 
the company’s management team to discuss in detail and help to reduce repeat 
occurrences.  The Council can instruct the company to withdraw any FPN if it so 
decides. 

36. A Communications Strategy will be developed to support this pilot. Any publicity 
work will reinforce the key Council values that any such enforcement activity is 
not undertaken lightly, or to generate income, but as a necessary driver to make 
and keep our communities clean.  Initially, if this recommendation is approved, a 
press release to announce the launch of the service will be issued and will set out 
rules that residents and businesses should be adhering to in an effort to educate 
without the need for enforcement.  Updates via local press and social media will 
be released at regular points during the pilot to illustrate the impact of the service 
and further highlight the need for individuals to manage and dispose their waste 
lawfully. 

37. As part of the Communications Strategy, the rationale behind the decision to start 
this pilot and why the Council opted for the recommended company will be 
provided. 

38. There is a risk that this pilot will not be successful.  While this is not the 
experience of other Councils who have worked with the provider, it remains a risk 
if the forecasted penalty and recovery amounts are significantly inaccurate.  The 
Council would then need to consider how to move forward with providing the 
service, which would remain unlikely within existing resources and budgets. 

39. As set our above in paragraph 24 the Council can issue 30 days’ notice to the 
company at any time within the 12 month pilot.  There is a reputational risk to the 
Council if the pilot does not succeed and Council officers will continually explore 

59



alternative arrangements throughout and in time for the review to be reported to 
Cabinet after 8 months. 

Background papers 

Fly tipping incidents and actions taken in England from Gov.uk 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env24-fly-tipping-incidents-and-
actions-taken-in-england 

Appendices   

Appendix 1: Legacy Authority Information and Data 

Appendix 2: Equality Impact Assessment Summary 

Appendix 3: Operating Procedure and Complaints ProcessAppendix 4: Restricted 

Summary of Proposal and Recommended Provider 

  

60

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env24-fly-tipping-incidents-and-actions-taken-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env24-fly-tipping-incidents-and-actions-taken-in-england


Fly-tipping and Fly-posting Enforcement 

Legacy Authority Arrangements and Data 

 

Legacy arrangements for enforcement of environmental crime, such as fly-tipping and fly-

posting, varied across the 3 legacy Councils and accurate data is difficult to establish.  Having 

undertaken research, engagement with current and previous colleagues and annual figures 

reported to Central Government, it is possible to better understand the previous service 

arrangements and it further highlights the need for a consistent and robust response to these 

harmful activities. 

Bournemouth 

1. No officer resource has been in place for some time, and therefore very limited 

enforcement action has taken place during the last five years.  Reports have invariably 

resulted with the Waste teams clearing items from the highways and public areas only.  

Fly-tipping reports have been pursued only if a public health issue was present, or the 

issue led to untidy site complaints.  Action has been limited to engaging and enforcement 

against the owner of the land to clear.  

This does not deter an offender and causes discontent with landowners feeling they are 

being punished for having been victims of a crime.  While this is understandable, 

individuals are responsible for protecting their own buildings or land as much as possible 

and deterrent measures are discussed in all cases. 

Christchurch 

2. Reports were passed to Dorset Waste Partnership for investigation and clearance 

whether on public or private land.  Between 2018 and 2019, Government Data illustrates 

that 212 incidents were logged, leading to 42 investigations and 3 fixed penalty notices. 

Poole 

3. Whilst a process existed within legacy Poole, it was not always possible to pursue 

investigations into all fly-tipping offences due to other statutory demands including public 

health matters, nuisance from noise, smoke, light and odour, hoarding, pests, drainage 

and accumulations of waste.  Returns submitted to Government for 2018-19 illustrate 

623 incidents were logged, resulting in 45 investigations.  However, no fixed penalty 

notices were issued, or prosecutions undertaken. 

Summary 

4. The logging of fly-tipping reports varies across the legacy authorities and paints a 

confused picture as to the severity of the issue.  In Bournemouth where reporting seems 

to reflect the most accurate picture, 50 fly-tip incidents were logged in 2019 and 130 for 

the year of 2020.  A true picture of the scale of the issue across BCP is therefore difficult 

to establish and a benefit of a pilot scheme as recommended will ensure a more 

accurate picture is available when considering future service plans. 

5. Fly-posting reports or incidents do not appear to have been captured accurately in any of 

the legacy authorities and no formal enforcement has taken place.  Anecdotally, the area 

has seen increases and ward members and the wider community have become 

frustrated that no resource exists to enforce against perpetrators.  The Events teams 

61



often engage parties where they can be identified from the literature posted, to advise 

that this should not be happening but beyond that nothing else can currently proceed 

and this has seen little or no positive impact. 

62



    

 

 
Equality Impact Assessment: conversation screening tool  
 
 
[Use this form to prompt an EIA conversation and capture the output between officers, stakeholders and 
interested groups. This completed form or a full EIA report will be published as part of the decision-making 
process] 

Policy/Service under 
development/review: 

 
Fly-tipping and Fly-Posting Enforcement 
 

What changes are being made to 
the policy/service? 

 
Harmonisation of response to fly-tipping and fly-posting offences 
across BCP Council through use of private company at nil cost to 
Council 
 

Service Unit: Communities 

Persons present in the 
conversation and their 
role/experience in the service:  

Matthew King, Community Enforcement & Environmental 
Protection Manager 
Jeff Morley, Regulatory Team Manager 
Peter Haikin, Head of Regulatory Services 
Stuart Best, Waste & Cleansing Manager 
Rebecca Lawry, Regulatory Services Equality Champion 

Conversation dates: 26/1/21-15/2/21 

Do you know your current or 
potential client base? Who are the 
key stakeholders? 

Residents and community groups of BCP Council 
Businesses operating in the BCP Council area 
Members of BCP Council  
Officers within BCP Council in the Regulation, Waste, Parks, 
Events and Seafront teams 
Residents and community groups within the BCP Council area 
Dorset Police 
Environment Agency 

Do different groups have different 
needs or experiences in relation to 
the policy/service?  

All groups have a need for a consistent Council response to 
offenders of fly-tipping and fly-posting.  Some groups may not 
understand duty of care rules for waste and communication and 
education forms part of the policy change. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect any of these service users?  
 

Yes, predominantly in a positive manner, with the aim of the 
change to policy resulting in less money and resource being spent 
on clearances of waste and fly-posting and more being spent in 
other priority areas.   

[If the answer to any of the questions above is ‘don’t know’ then you need to gather more 
evidence and do a full EIA. The best way to do this is to use the Capturing Evidence form] 

What are the benefits or positive 
impacts of the policy/service change 
on current or potential service 
users?  

Money and resource spent on dealing with the results of fly-
tipping adversely affect all residents and businesses of the 
Council and if this reduces as is hoped, this is a benefit and 
positive impact for all groups. 

What are the negative impacts of the 
policy/service change on current or 
potential service users? 

There is a potential impact on residents who may not fully 
understand duty of care for waste.  Each case will be considered 
fully to understand if someone has been exploited due to a 
protected characteristic by a rogue individual or trader before 
considering formal action. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect employees?  

Yes, to a limited degree, with employees within Communities 
having to learn more about enforcement measures against 
offenders of fly-tipping and fly-posting.  It should also be a positive 
change for employees of Cleansing and Waste who spend some 
of their time clearing waste dumped by offenders, which adds to 

63



    

 

existing heavy workloads.  They will be pleased to see offenders 
are held to account. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect the wider community?  

Yes, as above in a positive manner, except for offenders who do 
not accept education or knowingly act in an unlawful way 

What mitigating actions are planned 
or already in place for those 
negatively affected by the 
policy/service change?  

 

A communications strategy to help increase knowledge of rules 
around waste management and fly-posting will be implemented 
prior to the launch of the new service and each case will be 
considered fully to understand if someone has been exploited due 
to a protected characteristic by a rogue individual or trader before 
considering formal action. 

Summary of Equality Implications:  
 

There are no adverse effects on protected groups and all 
communities should benefit long term from reduced environmental 
crime with the success of this pilot. 

 

For any questions on this, please contact the Policy and Performance Team by emailing 
performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

64

mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


Fly-tipping and Fly-posting Enforcement 

Operating Procedure and Complaints Process 

 

The officers of this company will be acting as agents of BCP council and are required 

to adhere to this operating procedure. Part of their role will be to raise awareness of 

the environmental and amenity impact of unlawful waste disposal in the community 

and to encourage a change in approach by those who may not acknowledge the 

adverse consequences of fly-tipping. They will approach each case in a fair and 

balanced way, engaging with the parties concerned, before formal enforcement 

action is taken. 

A standard investigation would progress as follows: 

1. Investigating Officer will receive dumped waste complaint. 

2. Investigating officer will complete a waste inspection in an attempt to establish 

evidence of the person who either deposited the waste, knowingly caused the waste 

to be deposited or transferred the waste. 

3. Complete door to door enquiries if further evidence is needed. 

4. Complete a doorstep interview with witnesses or alleged offender. 

5. If a significant statement is made during a doorstep interview, the investigating officer 

will caution the alleged offender and clarify the points to prove. 

6. If the investigating officer has enough evidence to prosecute the alleged offender for 

an offence then an “on the spot” Fixed Penalty Notice will be issued as an alternative 

to being prosecuted.  The full process is explained to the alleged offender and details 

on how to make a representation or appeal regarding the issued FPN. 

7. If the FPN has not been paid within 14 days, we will send a reminder letter to the 

alleged offender seeking payment or the case may be referred to the legal team to 

instigate prosecution proceedings. 

8. If the FPN has not been paid within 28 days, we will send a final reminder letter to the 

alleged offender seeking payment or the case may be referred to the legal team to 

instigate prosecution proceedings. 

9. If the FPN has not been paid within 40 days, we will compile a prosecution file and 

follow the prosecution process agreed with BCP Council. 

The provider’s relationship with any members of the public shall be conducted in a 

professional, courteous, and helpful manner with due care and consideration given to 

different situations and circumstances.  The provider will ensure its staff employed on the 

contract wear their agreed ID at all times.  In the event of a complaint or dispute arising as to 

the officer’s conduct, it will be investigated by the provider and a report produced to the 

council in accordance with the following procedure. 

1. On receipt of a complaint to the Council relating to an officer’s behaviour or conduct, 

the Council will: 

 Acknowledge receipt in writing to the complainant 

65



 Inform the complainant that the provider will formally investigate their complaint 

 Inform the complainant that they can expect a written response within 10 
working days from the date it was recorded 

 Forward details of the complaint, relevant Fixed Penalty Notice, 
acknowledgement correspondence to the complainant and any other relevant 
information directly to the provider. 

2.        On receipt of a complaint to the provider relating to an officer’s behaviour or conduct, 

they will: 

 Immediately acknowledge receipt of complaint and confirm deadline to both the 
complainant and Council. 

 The Managing Director will fully investigate the complaint which may include 
interviewing the complainant and the relevant officer. 

 Respond directly to the complainant within 10 working days of receipt of 
complaint. 

 Provide the Council with a written copy of the response and outcome of the 
investigation.  This is to include any disciplinary action against the officer and 
organisational learning for the contractor and/or the council. 

 The council and the provider will meet and discuss complaints to improve 
Service Delivery every quarter. 

66



Document is Restricted

67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and Delivery Plan 2020-
2023  

Meeting date  26 May 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This report outlines the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Community Safety Partnership Preventing Domestic Abuse 
Strategy and accompanying delivery plan.  

This is the first Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and 
Delivery Plan for BCP, which brings together the foundations of 
the work within legacy partnerships and identifies how partners 
will work together to meet the ambition that “no resident living 
within or visiting Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole should 
live in fear of, or experience domestic abuse.” 

The BCP Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy can be found at 
appendix 1 of this report. 

The report outlines a headline summary of the strategy and the 
commitments made by the BCP CSP of; 

 Preventing violence and abuse through a commitment 
to working to develop a “whole family, whole picture” 
approach across all our services 

 A commitment to commissioning improved services for 
victims, perpetrators and children impacted by domestic 
abuse to ensure we have services in place that are 
effective in assessing and responding to multiple needs 

 A commitment to working collaboratively to reduce the 
harm caused by domestic abuse  

 Responding to perpetrators by supporting criminal 
justice agencies in pursuing them through the criminal 
justice system and a commitment to challenging and 
changing the behaviour of perpetrators through the 
availability of domestic abuse perpetrator programmes 

The Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy Delivery Plan can be 
found at appendix 2 which has been developed in consultation 
with a wide range of stakeholders and partners, including 
service users. This plan describes how partners will work  

together to deliver against the commitments and priorities of the  

69

Agenda Item 9



Strategy.  

The Domestic Abuse Bill 2020 will be introducing a new 
statutory duty on tier one local authorities, ensuring that all 
victims, including children, have access to safety and support 
within safe accommodation when they need it. The Preventing 
Domestic Abuse Strategy and Delivery Plan addresses the 
requirements of the new duties as well as the local needs 
identified through the development of the strategy and plan. 

Finally, the report outlines the proposed allocations for 
additional Government funding recently announced as part of 
the imminent implementation of the Domestic Abuse Bill and in 
support of the delivery plan.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Cabinet supports the BCP Community Safety 
Partnership Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and 
Delivery Plan. 

(b) Cabinet approve the allocation of MHCLG grant funding 
as set out in paragraph 32 

Reason for 
recommendations 

Domestic abuse can and does happen to anyone. It is 
indiscriminate of age, gender, race, profession or social 
background. In the UK around one in four women and one in six 
men will be affected by domestic abuse in their lifetime, and the 
NSPCC reports that around one in five children have been exposed 
to domestic abuse. Whatever the number of those impacted, it is 
too many; no one should live in fear.  

The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) is fully committed to playing its part to change 
this and to achieve the vision that ‘no resident living in BCP should 
live in fear of or experience domestic abuse’.  

BCP Council’s Corporate Strategy also commits to an ambitious 
vision of ‘Vibrant Communities with outstanding quality of life where 
everyone plays an active role’ and sets a specific objective of 
supporting people to live safe and independent lives under its 
Fulfilled Lives priority.  

The BCP Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy takes account of the 
strategic aims of the Council as well as the CSP. Local needs 
analysis, national research, guidance and best practice and lessons 
learnt from Domestic Homicide Reviews as well as consultation and 
extensive engagement across a range of stakeholders has resulted 
in a strategy which outlines a commitment to work with a range of 
partners across the statutory, corporate, community and voluntary 
sectors as well as service users, to drive the strategy forward and 
deliver against those aims.  

The Partnership has completed a series of task and finish groups 

70



responsible for supporting the development of a comprehensive 
delivery plan, appended to this report. 

In addition, this strategy and the accompanying delivery plan meet 
the new requirements of local authorities by the Domestic Abuse 
Bill 2020 by providing a framework to improve the response from 
statutory partners to domestic abuse.  MHCLG is providing tier1 
local authorities with grant funding to ensure they can meet new 
statutory duties. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor May Haines, Portfolio Holder for Community Safety 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director Environment & Community 

Report Authors Andrew Williams, Head of Safer Communities 

Wards  All Wards  

Classification  For Decision 
 

Background 

 

1. The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Community Safety Partnership was 
formed in April 2019 following local government re-organisation. This is therefore the 
first Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and Delivery Plan for BCP, which brings 
together the foundations of the work within legacy partnerships and identifies how 
partners will work together to meet the ambition  that “no resident living within or 
visiting Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole should live in fear of, or experience 
domestic abuse.” 

2. In forming this strategy, partners have taken the opportunity to rescale the ambition 
and reshape the response to domestic abuse for the Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole geography.  

3. Partners have worked together to consider how we can secure the best outcomes, 
learning from experience, considering evidence of need and looking at national best 
practice to frame the plans. This has also included feedback through a public 
consultation process as well as incorporating our understanding and lessons learnt 
from Domestic Homicide Reviews. 

 

Strategy Summary  

 

4. The BCP Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy can be found at appendix 1. 

5. Domestic abuse is something that can happen to anyone and its prevalence is as 
significant as many other social issues, if not more so.  It is estimated that if one in 
four women and one in six men experience domestic abuse then this would impact 
around 53,000 women and 31,000 men residing across BCP. 

71



6. During 2020/21 the BCP Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 
heard 795 cases. The MARAC is a homicide prevention process and the cases 
referred into MARAC are considered those at significant risk of serious harm. 

7. A snapshot of BCP Children’s services data in May 2020 identified that 31.7% of all 
Children Social Care contacts were attributed to domestic abuse. 

8. In June 2020 the local probation service reported that of all the offenders open to 
their service living within BCP, 31% were identified as domestic abuse perpetrators. 

9. Local BCP housing data states only a proportion of victims fleeing domestic abuse 
are found refuge accommodation, with only 2.9% being placed in refuges and 82% 
being placed in alternative temporary accommodation such as hostels and B&Bs. 

10. In April 2020 the BCP Community Safety Partnership agreed a Response Plan for 
domestic abuse, in light of increasing reports due to the Covid lockdown.  This plan 
set out how we would work with partners to tackle the issues of domestic abuse 
during lockdown periods.  It is anticipated that the rise in reporting of domestic 
abuse will continue as the Covid restrictions are eased.  During 2020/21 domestic 
abuse incidents reported to Dorset Police were 22% higher than in the previous 
year. 

11. The Community Safety Partnership Covid Response Plan for Domestic Abuse set 
out: 

 how services were quickly adapted to continue to provide support for 
victims and perpetrators,  

 a communications plan for ensuring appropriate messaging was going out 
to communities 

 work to manage risk in the criminal justice system 

 how we would provide safe accommodation during the lockdowns 

12. The new Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy builds on this plan.  The ambitious 
vision set out in this new strategy is that “no resident living within or visiting 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole should live in fear of, or experience domestic 
abuse.” 

13. The Community Safety Partnership aims to achieve this by: 

 Preventing violence and abuse through a commitment to working to develop a 
“whole family, whole picture” approach across all our services 

 A commitment to commissioning improved services for victims, perpetrators and 

children impacted by domestic abuse to ensure we have services in place that 

are effective in assessing and responding to multiple needs 

 A commitment to working collaboratively to reduce the harm caused by domestic 

abuse  

 Responding to perpetrators by supporting criminal justice agencies in pursuing 

them through the criminal justice system and a commitment to challenging and 

changing the behaviour of perpetrators through the availability of domestic 

abuse perpetrator programmes 

 

72



14. The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Community Safety Partnership is 
responsible for and committed to ensuring the successful delivery of the Preventing 
Domestic Abuse Strategy through the identified delivery plans and its ambitious 
commitments to change.  It is acknowledged that whilst the vision for the strategy 
references visitors to the BCP area, some Council services will only be accessible to 
residents. 

15. The strategy and the delivery plan will be implemented and monitored by the BCP 
Domestic Abuse Strategic Group, which will report into the BCP Community Safety 
Partnership. 

16. The BCP Community Safety Partnership is interlinked with the work of the 
Safeguarding Adults Board and the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership, where 
Domestic Abuse are also key priorities. 

 

Development of the Delivery Plan 

 

17. The Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy Delivery Plan can be found at appendix 2. 

18. The strategy outlines our commitment to work with a range of partners across the 
statutory, corporate, community and voluntary sectors as well as service users, to 
drive the strategy forward. With the support of the Domestic Abuse Strategy group, 
the Community Safety Partnership completed a series of task and finish groups 
responsible for supporting the development of a comprehensive delivery plan.  

19. In parallel to the task and finish groups a public consultation was launched and 
supported by the BCP Council Consultation team. The consultation which was live 
for a period of four weeks received some focused feedback on a range of issues. 
The key themes arising from the consultation include: 

• The lack of specialist services for children and young people 

• Consistency in service provision across the BCP locality 

• Information Sharing between key agencies 

• Knowledge and skills of front-line staff 

• Perpetrator interventions both within and outside the criminal justice system 

• Promotion of services for victims 

20. The consultation feedback has been cross referenced with the draft delivery plan 
and the plan has been enhanced to incorporate appropriate gaps.  The Delivery 
Plan is a living document and will be updated quarterly as projects develop. 

21. An All Member Workshop was held in March 2021 where the commitments from the 
strategy, the public consultation findings and the draft delivery plan actions were 
presented. Members were asked to consider whether the delivery plan met the scale 
of our ambitions as set out in the strategy. Feedback from the briefing has since 
been cross referenced against the plan and appropriate gaps identified have been 
incorporated. 

22. Subsequently the Delivery Plan has been ratified by the BCP Domestic Abuse 
Strategy Group, a sub-group of the Community Safety Partnership, at its’ meeting on 
22nd April. 

 

73



Domestic Abuse Bill 2021 

 

23. In 2018 the Government began an extensive consultation process for the provision 
of a new Domestic Abuse Bill.  

24. The consultation set out the government’s approach to dealing with domestic abuse. 
It sought to address domestic abuse from prevention through to rehabilitation. The 
consultation focused on four specific categories: promoting awareness; protect and 
support; pursue and deter and improve performance. 

25. The Bill is expected to receive Royal Assent sometime in April 2021. 

26. The Domestic Abuse Bill introduces a new statutory duty on tier one local 
authorities, ensuring that all victims, including children, have access to safety and 
support within safe accommodation when they need it.  

27. Although Royal Assent may not be in place for 1 April, it is MHCLG’s expectation 
that from 1 April 2021, Local Authorities should start to fulfil their relevant functions 
as if the new duty were in force, and continue to fulfil these functions in line with the 
duty once it is commenced (subject to Parliamentary approval). 

28. The Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and Delivery Plan addresses the 

requirements of the new duties as well as the local needs identified through the 

development of the strategy and plan. 

 

Summary of financial implications 

 

29. BCP Council currently commissions specialist domestic abuse services to a value to 
£426,000 per year, providing 2 refuges and an Outreach service supporting victims 
of domestic abuse and their children.  This places BCP Council as a tier one 
authority in a good position to fulfil the new statutory duty. 

30. The Council also has a specifically earmarked reserves for domestic abuse projects 
which can be used to deliver this Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy. In particular 
this will fund the Up2U Perpetrator programme, which was previously funded 
through a Home Office grant, as well as ensuring there is capacity within services for 
victims in order to meet any raised demand due to the Covid pandemic.    

31. The Government also recently announced a Domestic Abuse Capacity Building 
Fund which aims to help ensure local authorities can undertake early planning and 
preparation work ahead of implementation of the new duty. This fund will be 
allocated equally across Tier 1 local authorities in England, at £50,000 each.  For 
BCP Council a proportion of the fund is allocated to independent housing needs 
analysis for victims of domestic abuse, in order to ensure that the current provision 
meets current and future needs.  Alongside this, the grant will provide additional 
capacity within the Community Safety team to prepare for the implementation of new 
duty and this BCP Strategy. 

32. In addition, the Government recently announced as part of the imminent Domestic 

Abuse Bill that each tier one Local Authority will be allocated with a share of £125 

million duty funding for 2021/22, 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/funding-allocation-methods-new-

domestic-abuse-duty.  

 

74

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Ffunding-allocation-methods-new-domestic-abuse-duty&data=04%7C01%7CRachel.Young%40bcpcouncil.gov.uk%7Ced4ad183b9374f46abc108d8de35cee6%7Cc946331335e140e4944add798ec9e488%7C1%7C0%7C637503669980289181%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=NO%2F4jGhNsqFdQJdjCkziXd10n8Qee6RZ7%2BLw0mUMK1o%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Ffunding-allocation-methods-new-domestic-abuse-duty&data=04%7C01%7CRachel.Young%40bcpcouncil.gov.uk%7Ced4ad183b9374f46abc108d8de35cee6%7Cc946331335e140e4944add798ec9e488%7C1%7C0%7C637503669980289181%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=NO%2F4jGhNsqFdQJdjCkziXd10n8Qee6RZ7%2BLw0mUMK1o%3D&reserved=0


33. The allocation for BCP Council for 2021/22 is £750,257.  In March 2021 the Ministry 

of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) set out a Memorandum 

of Understanding (MOU) to formalise the working relationship and expectations 

relating to the spend of the local authority’s allocated funding.   The grant only 

covers revenue expenditure relating to the functions set out in the new statutory duty 

(within the Domestic Abuse Bill) on Tier 1 Local Authorities relating to the provision 

of support to victims of domestic abuse and their children.  For clarity this proposed 

spend is in addition to the £426,000 in base budget currently used to provide refuge 

and outreach services. 

34. In order to meet the new duty and to support the delivery of the Preventing Domestic 

Abuse Strategy, including meeting the increased demand due to the Covid 

pandemic, it is proposed that this new MHCLG funding is allocated as below: 

 

Alternative Accommodation needs – temporary accommodation 
for victims of domestic abuse 

245,000 

Additional Outreach support to meet increased demand 90,000 

Domestic Abuse Specialist Practitioner service – supporting 
victims with complex needs 

60,000 

Specialist support to children and young people  70,000 

Health Advocacy Service – providing a Domestic Abuse Advocate 
service with the 2 hospitals 

60,000 

Provision of Domestic Abuse training to the BCP workforce 35,000 

Up2U Post and Clinical Oversight – an additional perpetrator 
programme officer 

100,000 

DA Strategy Implementation – to include publicity campaigns and 
support for the commissioning of new services for April 2022 

90,000 

 
TOTAL 

 
£750,000 

 

35. This allocation would enable BCP to meet the increased demand for both support for 

victims and their families and perpetrator work as the Covid lockdown restrictions 

ease.  Whilst there have been some indications that this funding may be an annual 

allocation which is repeated in future years, there is currently no confirmation of this 

from MHCLG.  It is prudent therefore to treat this as one-off funding at this stage.  If 

the funding is not allocated in future years, then the crucial elements of the projects 

listed above will be addressed through the co-commissioning of integrated services 

for victims and perpetrators from April 2022, which will be partially funded from our 

ear-marked reserves for domestic abuse services.   

 

Summary of legal implications 

 

36. The Domestic Abuse Bill 2020 is in its final stages of receiving Royal Assent. The 
Bill includes a new duty on tier 1 local authorities to assess the need for and 
commission support to victims and their children in domestic abuse safe 
accommodation in England.  It is anticipated that the new duty will come into force in 
April 2021. 

75



37. Alongside this duty for local authorities, the Domestic Abuse Bill will: 

 Create a statutory definition of domestic abuse, emphasising that domestic 

abuse is not just physical violence, but can also be emotional, coercive or 

controlling, and the inclusion of economic abuse. The inclusion of economic 

abuse will relate to any behaviour that has a substantial adverse effect on 

someone’s ability to (a) acquire, use of maintain money or other property, or (b) 

obtain goods or services.  

 Provide that all eligible homeless victims of domestic abuse automatically have 

‘priority need’ for homelessness assistance. 

 Provide for a new Domestic Abuse Protection Notice and Domestic Abuse 

Protection Order. 

 Prohibit perpetrators of abuse from cross-examining their victims in person in 

the civil and family courts in England and Wales. 

 Create a statutory presumption that victims of domestic abuse are eligible for 

special measures in the criminal, civil and family courts. 

 Place the guidance supporting the Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme 

(“Clare’s law”) on a statutory footing. 

 Non-Fatal strangulation will become a new offence.  

 

Summary of human resources implications 

 

38. The consideration of capacity within Community Safety and Domestic Abuse 

services will need to be considered as part of the delivery plan for the strategy. The 

strategy and plan highlight a number of potential gaps in service, which will impact 

on existing capacity. The additional domestic abuse duty funding will address these 

issues, and the allocation of this funding may include temporary recruitment of staff 

within contracted services. 

 

Summary of public health implications 

 

39. The health impacts of domestic abuse vary, they may be physical and or 

psychological, both short and or long term. The new strategy and delivery plan 

alongside the new Bill will ensure the provision of adequate services to support 

victims and their families, ultimately positivity improving their long-term public health 

outcomes.  

 

40. Research has evidenced the impact domestic abuse can have on children and 
young people resulting in Adverse Childhood Experiences. According to the Centre 
for Disease Control1, ACEs can include violence, abuse, and growing up in a family 
with mental health or substance use problems. Toxic stress from ACEs can change 
brain development and affect how the body responds to stress. ACEs are linked to 
chronic health problems, mental illness, and substance misuse in adulthood. 

                                                
1 https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/aces/index.html 

76

https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/aces/index.html


Preventing ACEs could reduce the number of adults with depression by as much as 
44%. 

41. The provision of the duties will play a role in the prevention of domestic abuse by 
identifying the early signs within relationships and families, providing adequate 
support services and interventions as well as the provision of safe accommodation 
for victims who face a high risk of threat and harm.  

42. The Community Safety Partnership is keen to take a Public Health approach to 
tackling Serious Violence. This includes defining the problem, determining the 
causes and determining what works in order to design, implement and evaluate 
intervention. 

43. Tackling domestic abuse therefore has direct beneficial outcomes for the public 
health of our communities. 

 

Summary of equality implications 

 

44. A full Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed for the Strategy and 
Delivery Plan, which is summarised below. 

45. Domestic abuse can happen to anyone, one in four women and one in six men will 
experience domestic abuse during their lifetime.  However, the risks of serious harm 
are not spread evenly.  Women are at much more risk of serious violence, and those 
with long-term health conditions, disabilities or mental health conditions at highest 
risk.  Similarly abuse of parents by children is more commonly experienced by 
mothers than fathers and is more common among single parents. 

46. Gay and bisexual men experience more domestic abuse compared to those in 
heterosexual relationships. 

47. Intersectionality is defined as an analytical framework for understanding how 
aspects of a person's social and political identities combine to create different 
modes of discrimination and privilege. Examples of these aspects include gender, 
caste, sex, race, class, sexuality, religion, disability, physical appearance and height. 
Intersectionality identifies multiple factors of advantage and disadvantage2. 

48. When tackling domestic abuse taking an intersectional approach in the provision of 
our services will aid in the mitigation of unconscious bias, aiming to address and 
prevent inequality.  

 

Summary of risk assessment 

 

49. The risks of not implementing a strategy to tackle domestic abuse, include the risk 

in not fulfilling the new statutory duty, which will be paced on tier one local 

authorities, but they go much wider and deeper than this.  Domestic abuse has a 

wide-ranging impact on public services across multiple agencies.  If we do not 

improve our response to domestic abuse the risks include more children needing to 

be taken into care, more demand on emergency and social housing, increased 

demand on health services and mental health in particular. 

                                                
2 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Intersectionality  

77

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Intersectionality


 

Background papers 

 

50. References for the report are as follows and can be accessed using the links: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/funding-allocation-methods-new-

domestic-abuse-duty.  

https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/aces/index.html 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Intersectionality  

 

Appendices   

1. BCP CSP Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 

2. BCP CSP Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy Delivery Plan  

3. Equalities Impact Assessment 
Title:  

78

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Ffunding-allocation-methods-new-domestic-abuse-duty&data=04%7C01%7CRachel.Young%40bcpcouncil.gov.uk%7Ced4ad183b9374f46abc108d8de35cee6%7Cc946331335e140e4944add798ec9e488%7C1%7C0%7C637503669980289181%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=NO%2F4jGhNsqFdQJdjCkziXd10n8Qee6RZ7%2BLw0mUMK1o%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Ffunding-allocation-methods-new-domestic-abuse-duty&data=04%7C01%7CRachel.Young%40bcpcouncil.gov.uk%7Ced4ad183b9374f46abc108d8de35cee6%7Cc946331335e140e4944add798ec9e488%7C1%7C0%7C637503669980289181%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=NO%2F4jGhNsqFdQJdjCkziXd10n8Qee6RZ7%2BLw0mUMK1o%3D&reserved=0
https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/aces/index.html
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Intersectionality


Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 1

 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 

Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy  2020–2023

No resident living within or visiting Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  
should live in fear of, or experience domestic abuse 

 
 

79



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 2

80



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 3

Foreword    4

Introduction    5

What is domestic abuse: defining and understanding domestic abuse    6

Understanding the picture: national picture    7

Domestic abuse in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole    9

Domestic homicide reviews in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole    11

Service provision and gaps Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole     12 

Our vision: our principles    15 

Delivering priorities through commitments to change    16

Our response objectives     19

Governance and accountability    21

References and literature     22

Contents

81



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 4

Domestic abuse can, and does, happen to anyone.  
It is indiscriminate of age, gender, race, profession or social 
background. In the UK around one in four women and one in 
six men will be affected by domestic abuse in their lifetime, 
and the NSPCC reports that around one in five children have 
been exposed to domestic abuse. Whatever the number of 
those impacted by domestic abuse, it is too many; no one 
should live in fear. 

The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Community Safety 
Partnership (BCP CSP) is fully committed to playing our part 
to change this and to achieve our vision that ‘No resident 
living within Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole should live 
in fear of, or experience domestic abuse’.

As partners, together we are sending a clear message 
that domestic abuse will not be tolerated. We will work 
collaboratively to take robust action against abusers, change 
attitudes and behaviours and we will support victims to ensure 
that our communities are able to live the safe, happy, healthy 
and fulfilling lives that they deserve. 

Assistant Chief Constable Julie Fielding, Chair of BCP CSP

This strategy sets out the key priorities for the BCP 
Community Safety Partnership in tackling domestic abuse and 
outlines the key areas for action over the next three years. 

The BCP CSP was formed as a partnership in April 2019 
following local government re-organisation. This is therefore 
our first Domestic Abuse Strategy which brings together 
the foundations of the work within the previous legacy local 
authorities and Pan-Dorset partners. We have taken the 
opportunity to rescale our ambition and reshape our response 
in this new strategy for the Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole geography. 

Victims, survivors, their children and loved ones deserve help 
at the time of crisis and to be kept safe. They deserve help to 
cope and recover from the trauma, support from the criminal 
justice system to bring those responsible to justice, and action 
to drive this horrific, lifechanging crime from our society. 

In developing this strategy, partners have worked together 
to consider how we can secure the best outcomes, learning 
from experience, considering evidence of need and looking at 
national best practice to frame our plans. 

Foreword

82



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 5

This strategy sets out the key priorities for the BCP 
Community Safety Partnership in tackling domestic abuse and 
outlines the key areas for action over the next three years. 

The BCP CSP was formed as a partnership in April 2019 
following local government re-organisation. This is therefore 
our first Domestic Abuse Strategy which brings together 
the foundations of the work within the previous legacy local 
authorities and Pan-Dorset partners. We have taken the 
opportunity to rescale our ambition and reshape our response 
in this new strategy for the Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole geography. 

Victims, survivors, their children and loved ones deserve help 
at the time of crisis and to be kept safe. They deserve help to 
cope and recover from the trauma, support from the criminal 
justice system to bring those responsible to justice, and action 
to drive this horrific, lifechanging crime from our society. 

In developing this strategy, partners have worked together 
to consider how we can secure the best outcomes, learning 
from experience, considering evidence of need and looking at 
national best practice to frame our plans. 

Introduction

83



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 6

The multi-agency definition of domestic abuse is: 

‘Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, 
coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or 
abuse between those aged 16 or over who are  
or have been intimate partners or family members 
regardless of gender or sexuality. 

This can encompass but is not limited to the 
following types of abuse: 

• Psychological   • Physical   • Sexual 
• Financial   • Emotional 

Controlling behaviour is a range of acts designed  
to make a person subordinate and/or dependent  
by isolating them from sources of support, 
exploiting their resources and capacities for 
personal gain, depriving them of the means  
needed for independence, resistance and escape 
and regulating their everyday behaviour.’  

Controlling or coercive behaviour became law under 
Section 76 of the Serious Crime Act 2015 and helps us to 
better understand the above definition. 

Controlling behaviour is a range of acts designed to make a 
person subordinate and/or dependent by isolating them from 
sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities 
for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for 
independence, resistance and escape and regulating their 
everyday behaviour.

Controlling and coercive behaviour can manifest itself in 
many different forms and is not always visible to others. 
A few identified behaviours can include, restricting daily 
activities; isolation from family and friends; monitoring time; 
taking control over aspects of their everyday life, such as 
where they can go, who they can see, what to wear; threats 
and intimidation; sexual abuse and violence; reproductive 
coercion; economic control and exploitation; extreme jealousy, 
possessiveness and accusations of infidelity; controlling 
partner’s access to information and services etc. 

What is domestic abuse: defining and understanding domestic abuse

84



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 7

According to the national crime survey, 2.4 million adults 
experienced domestic abuse last year. Nationally, police 
recorded a total of 1,316,800 domestic abuse related incidents 
and crimes.

In November 2019, the Office for National Statistics 
published its latest overview of domestic abuse across 
England and Wales, it identified that referrals of suspects of 
domestic abuse-flagged cases from the police to the Crown 
Prosecution Service (CPS) for a charging decision fell 11%, 
from 110,653 in the year ending March 2018 to 98,470 in the 
year ending March 2019.

In 2016, the Home Office launched the Violence Against 
Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategy. Although the strategy 
is aimed at women and girls, the principles can be applied 
to men and boys experiencing domestic abuse also. This 
strategy, alongside the Victims Strategy 2018, provides the 
context for the development of the Domestic Abuse Bill which 
will include new statutory requirements for local authorities 
and police forces. 

Wider legislation helps us to understand the nature of 
domestic abuse from a statutory context. For example, the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002 (s120) extended the definition 
of harm to include ‘impairment suffered from seeing or hearing 
the ill treatment of another’; which required children who 
witness domestic abuse at home to be considered in need of 
help and protection from the local authority, as well as those 
that are directly injured or abused. Likewise, the Care Act 2014 
sets out a clear legal framework for how the health and social 
care system should protect adults at risk of abuse or neglect. 
It specifies that freedom from abuse (and neglect) is a key 
aspect of a person’s wellbeing. In this way, the responsibility 
to respond to domestic abuse is held by all statutory agencies 
charged with safeguarding and protecting both adults and 
children. 

Understanding the picture: national context

85



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 8

In 2015, the national charity Safelives launched their report 
‘Getting it Right First Time’. The report highlighted the need to 
address and support both standard and medium risk victims. 
The emphasis is on identifying at an early stage every family 
where there is domestic abuse in order to prevent escalation 
and provide support. The report also highlighted that more 
than 100,000 people in the UK are at high and imminent risk 
of being murdered or seriously injured as a result of domestic 
abuse and 130,000 children live in homes where there is a 
high-risk of domestic abuse.

A study by UNICEF, ‘Behind Closed Doors, The Impact of 
Domestic Violence on Children, 2006’, found ‘The single best 
predictor of children becoming either perpetrators or victims 
of domestic violence later in life is whether or not they grow up 
in a home where there is domestic violence.’ 

Information published in 2018 from IRISi, a third sector 
organisation working with General Practices (GPs) showed 
from April 2017-March 2018 the IRISi services received 3,159 
referrals from 36 IRISi localities. Since April 2018, there were 
5,252 referrals from 39 IRISi localities.

In 2015, the Social Care Institute for Excellence published 
information stating that people with care and support needs, 
such as older people or people with disabilities, are more likely 
to be abused or neglected. They may be seen as an easy 
target and may be less likely to identify abuse themselves or 
to report it. People with communication difficulties can be at 
risk because they may not be able to alert others. Sometimes 
people may not even be aware that they are being abused, 
and this is especially likely if they have a cognitive impairment. 
Abusers may try to prevent access to the person they abuse.

 

Domestic abuse in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

86



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 9

In 2015, the Social Care Institute for Excellence published 
information stating that people with care and support needs, 
such as older people or people with disabilities, are more likely 
to be abused or neglected. They may be seen as an easy 
target and may be less likely to identify abuse themselves or 
to report it. People with communication difficulties can be at 
risk because they may not be able to alert others. Sometimes 
people may not even be aware that they are being abused, 
and this is especially likely if they have a cognitive impairment. 
Abusers may try to prevent access to the person they abuse.

 

Domestic abuse in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) is the twelfth 
largest resident population council area in England. Agencies 
working across BCP provide services to approximately 
400,000 residents. It is estimated that 53,000 women and 
31,333 men residing across BCP will or have experienced 
domestic abuse.

The demographic make-up of BCP is varied. The area 
attracts an older population whilst specific localities such 
as Bournemouth attract a younger client group, with a high 
volume made up of university students. Signs of domestic 
abuse are often hidden amongst both these demographics.

It is recognised that domestic abuse can have a detrimental 
impact of children and young people. 22% of the population 
size across BCP accounts for children and young people aged 
between 0-19. In May 2020, 31.7% of all children’s social care 
contacts were attributed to domestic abuse. In June 2020, 
domestic abuse was prevalent in 18.1% of ‘child in need’ 
cases and 18.2% of child protection cases.

In 2019, 193 domestic abuse safeguarding concerns were 
raised with BCP Council Adult Social Care. This equates to  
 

14.6% of all safeguarding concerns. Of those concerns 77 
involved people aged 65 and over. 

Local housing data states only a proportion of victims fleeing 
domestic abuse are found refuge accommodation, with 
only 2.9% being placed in refuges and 82% being placed in 
alternative temporary accommodation such as hostels and 
B&Bs. 

Between 2018-2019 and 2019-2020, Dorset Police recorded 
an increase of 31.9% in domestic abuse violent crime. 

Between 1 April 2019 and June 2020, Dorset Police 
responded to 6,540 different victims of domestic abuse living 
within the BCP area. Of these, 1,122 were victims of two or 
more domestic related offences. 

 

87



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 10

The BCP weekly Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC) commenced in April 2020. MARAC data for the first 
three months can be seen below. Dorset Police generate the 
majority of MARAC referrals (approx. 65%) and proactively 
participate in victim safeguarding as well as perpetrator 
management. 

Across the 190 MARAC cases heard, a total of 651 actions 
were allocated, of which 630 were successfully completed. 

In June 2020, the local probation service reported that of all 
the offenders open to their service living within BCP, 31% 
were identified as domestic abuse perpetrators. Of these 
perpetrators, 96% were male and 70% were aged 18-40. 

Data provided by Dorset Police tells us that between  
1 April 2019 and June 2020, 2985 offenders of domestic 
related crimes were identified who were responsible for 8259 
offences. Of these, 867 offenders were responsible for two or 
more offences during these dates. Five male offenders were 
responsible for 10 or more domestic abuse related offences 
during that same time frame. 81% of offenders were male, 
19% female and the average age of offenders was 36. 

For the year April 2019 - March 2020, 30 males completed the 
Building Better Relationships Perpetrator Programme  
(on the back of a conviction order), a further 24 individuals had 
their order revoked due to non-compliance or reoffending and 
four individuals order finished so they did not complete the 
programme. The Up2U service is a bespoke civil Perpetrator 
Programme working with predominately Children’s Social Care 
clients. In June 2019, the Poole based team had received 54 
referrals, 23 of which successfully completed the program 
with no further reoffending. A further 10 participants were 
actively engaged with the programme.

 

Number  
of cases

Cases listed 
with children 

Repeat  
cases 

April 69 46  (67%) 13  (19%)

May 54 36  (68%) 9  (17%)

June 67 38  (58%) 21  (32%)

TOTAL 190 120  (64%) 43  (23%)

88



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 11

Domestic homicide reviews (DHRs) came into effect on  
13 April 2011. They were established on a statutory basis 
under Section 9 of the Domestic Violence, Crime and Adults 
Act (2004). 

“Domestic homicide review” means a review of the 
circumstances in which the death of a person aged 16 or  
over has, or appears to have, resulted from violence, abuse  
or neglect by:

(a)  a person to whom he was related or with whom he was  
 or had been in an intimate personal relationship, or 

(b)  a member of the same household as himself, 

held with a view to identifying the lessons to be learnt from  
the death.

Across the BCP area between 2016 and 2020 there were eight 
domestic homicides. Key themes that have been highlighted 
within completed DHRs include:

 • the key role hospitals and GPs play in identifying and 
responding to domestic abuse

 • the need for continued auditing and reviewing of our 
MARAC and Multi-Agency Risk Management (MARM) 
processes

 • the increased risk caused by complex and overlapping 
needs

 • how this can be a barrier for victims to access services 
safely 

 • adults with multiple disadvantage such as a learning 
disability or substance misuses often fall through the 
gaps within our referral pathways as service users can be 
assessed and supported in silos rather than a multi-agency 
approach 

 • the importance of raising awareness of domestic abuse 
and our local support services with family and friends of 
victims 

 • the importance of proactive positive action from Police in 
response to breaches of conditions 

 • the importance of service user engagement to support the 
development of services, policies and this strategy. 

 

Domestic homicide reviews in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

89



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 12

Victim services
Victim services across BCP are offered through universal 
statutory service provision and that which is delivered through 
the voluntary and community sector. Victims have access to 
outreach support, however service provision is stretched and 
differs due to varying providers and contractual restrictions.

A specialist domestic abuse advisor service for high risk 
victims is offered through Dorset Police as an in-house 
provision. However, capacity is stretched and the ability to be 
the victim’s voice during MARAC has been challenging.  
There are limited specialist services for victims who do 
not engage from the onset or struggle with engaging with 
agencies as a result in confidence and trust, cultural or 
language barriers, or a learning disability. 

The BCP Domestic Abuse Health Advocacy Service, which 
works across Bournemouth and Poole hospitals received  
42 referrals in a 3-month period. 19% of referrals were  
risk-assessed as high using the Domesic Abuse, Stalking and 
Honour Based Violence (DASH) tool. Although a valid service, 
the service is funded via a temporary grant for a 12-month 
period.

Services for victims of multiple disadvantage are limited.  
The pilot Domestic Abuse Specialist Practitioner Service 
(DASP) offered a bespoke person-centred service for victims 
of domestic abuse with additional disadvantages. However, 
the service cannot meet demand and there is a lack of skilled 
and experienced practitioners in the recruitment pool.

A significant programme of work is being undertaken to review 
the offer Adult Social Care have at our front door, which 
includes safeguarding and preventative work.  

A holistic, whole family approach has been engineered 
through the work of the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub; 
however, this is limited to working with families where children 
are present. Further ambitions to create a systemic whole 
family approach model is required.

Support for children and young people is offered through 
universal services and independently commissioned family 
intervention services; however, demand outweighs capacity 
and the service is restricted to specific localities across BCP.

There is now a vast and compelling body of research 
demonstrating the link between experiences of childhood 

Service provision and gap analysis Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 

90



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 13

adversity and trauma and the development of detrimental 
health and social outcomes later in life. In simple terms, 
investing money in good quality, trauma-informed interventions 
for children and young people impacted by domestic abuse 
will help to reduce the impact in later life. Investment will also 
reduce the pressure on frontline services such as Community 
Mental Health Teams (CMHT), drug and alcohol services and 
housing.

Adolescent to parent violence and abuse (APVA) is an 
emerging issue we do not fully understand locally. Data does 
not paint a true picture of prevalence and severity. Data shows 
very little APVA reported but professionals within Early Help 
and Youth Offending are coming across a high number of 
cases. Across BCP we need to better understand the local 
picture and review best practice service models. 

The Children and Young People’s Domestic Abuse Recovery 
Toolkit is an eight-week programme for children and young 
people that have witnessed or experienced domestic abuse 
and are able to take part in a group. It uses a combination 
of trauma-informed resilience focused and specific trauma 
focused cognitive behaviour therapy and person-centred 
therapeutic principles. Across BCP the programme is delivered 

sporadically within schools and is usually delivered as a result 
of additional funding. The toolkit has proved successful in 
working with a range of children and young people; however 
the capacity cannot meet demand and courses are limited.

In September 2020 the delivery of relationship and health 
education will become compulsory across all schools.  
The proposals, follow the publication of the Childhood 
Obesity Plan and the Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health Green Paper, and will provide schools with material 
to be able to teach and delivery a relationship and health 
education programme. Further work will be required to support 
schools in understanding how healthy relationships can be 
accommodated as part of the role out as well and supporting 
their delivery across a wide range of age groups. 

BCP Council were successful in securing additional funding 
for tackling parental conflict. This will support families who 
are dealing with conflict either through a breakdown in a 
relationship or other factors. The work will assist families 
in dealing with parental conflict and mitigating the risk of 
escalation. The funding for this work as part of an early help 
domestic abuse preventative offer is limited due to timescales.

91

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childhood-obesity-a-plan-for-action
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childhood-obesity-a-plan-for-action
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transforming-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-provision-a-green-paper
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transforming-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-provision-a-green-paper


Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 14

Perpetrator services
The offer to perpetrators is varied across BCP. Some  
first-time offenders are assessed and offered an intervention 
through an out of court disposal, whilst those on the back 
of conviction can be ordered to undertake group work 
intervention. A civil BCP offer is being delivered through the 
use of a bespoke one to one cognitive behaviour therapy 
programme. The civil programme has proved successful in 
reducing reoffending rates and reducing risk whilst supporting 
families in maintaining their unit. However, demand for the 
service outweighs capacity and funding for the continuation or 
expansion of the service is limited.

There is currently no provision for working with domestic 
abuse serial perpetrators who do not engage in services. 
The Integrated Offender Management unit provides a joint 
multi-agency approach to managing serial perpetrators in 
the community but does not offer any therapeutic behaviour 
change interventions.

The new Domestic Abuse Bill will refer to local areas 
commissioning safe, effective perpetrator programmes.

Accommodation support 
Across BCP two refuges operate which support female 
victims of domestic abuse with the ability to accommodate 
one male victim or a couple. Local housing data states only a 
proportion of victims fleeing domestic abuse are found refuge 
accommodation, with only 2.9% being placed in refuge and 
82% being placed in alternative temporary accommodation 
such as hostels and B&Bs. Also, the refuges in their current 
state do not accept clients with multiple needs such as mental 
health and/or substance misuse. As part of the Domestic 
Abuse Bill, BCP Council Housing services are committed 
to reviewing support and accommodation commissioning 
arrangements across the BCP area. The annual needs 
assessment will provide the opportunity to establish the 
support and accommodation needs of local victims and 
families who wish to stay in the area and remain safe, as well 
as those fleeing from other areas. 

 

 
 

92



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 15

Our vision
No resident living within or visiting  

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole should  
live in fear of, or experience domestic abuse. 

Our principles
We will ensure service users are  

at the centre of our work 

We will respond to our local need  
based on a needs assessment and  

lessons learnt from domestic homicide reviews

We will work collaboratively  
to ensure a consistent zero tolerance  

response to domestic abuse  
is embedded in all local services

Priority 1 
Preventing  

violence  
and abuse

Priority 2  
Provision  

of services

Priority 3  
Partnership  

working

Priority 4  
Responding  

to perpetrators

93



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 16

Delivering our priorities through commitments to change

1  Preventing violence and abuse
 We commit to working to develop a “whole family, whole 

picture” approach across all of our services. Any victim, 
offender or witness has access to an open door into a 
system of joined-up support thanks to a coordinated multi-
agency response. 

 The SafeLives model of the “One Front Door” approach 
offers victims of domestic abuse the following: 

The One Front Door model is underpinned by six principles 
which are required to meet the needs of families experiencing 
domestic abuse:

 • A transformation of systems, processes and responses

 • Better support for children and young people who live in 
fear  

 • Creating long-term change, not short-term fixes   

 • Disrupting those that abuse; perpetrators challenged and 
held to account  

 • Engaging the ‘whole family’ means more opportunity to 
make people safe, sooner   

 • Families do not operate in silos, and neither must we. 

 We commit to mobilizing a one front door model that 
underpins the six principles, whilst developing a model 
that meets collective partnership arrangements across 
BCP and that meets the needs of the demographic. 

Our response objectives

“It is effective and it really does work” Service Lead, One Front Door pilot site

94



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 17

1  Preventing violence and abuse
 We commit to working to develop a “whole family, whole 

picture” approach across all of our services. Any victim, 
offender or witness has access to an open door into a 
system of joined-up support thanks to a coordinated multi-
agency response. 

 The SafeLives model of the “One Front Door” approach 
offers victims of domestic abuse the following: 

Our response objectives

2  Provision of services
 We commit to co-commissioning services for victims, 

perpetrators and children impacted by domestic abuse. 
This will ensure we have services in place that are effective 
in assessing and responding to multiple needs and avoid 
seeing service users through a one-dimensional lens. 
Our aspiration is to have a domestic abuse service that 
responds to all victims, perpetrators and children impacted 
by domestic abuse.

 We will commit to streamlining victim pathways supporting 
all victims without prejudice. We will commit to the 
availability of civil perpetrator programs that support 
perpetrators and reduce the risk to victims and children. 
We commit to seeing children and their support needs 
through the services we offer.

 We commit to a comprehensive needs analysis of housing 
provision is required. As a result, we will better support 
victims, perpetrators and children impacted by domestic 
abuse of different ages, genders and ethnicities.  
We will be able to better support those with multiple 
disadvantage such as learning disabilities, physical 
disabilities, substance misuse issues and mental health 
issues.  

 95



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 18

3 Partnership working

 We commit to working collaboratively to reduce the 
harm caused by domestic abuse across BCP. We will 
ensure that all victims of domestic abuse are offered and 
signposted to services.

 We commit to intervening early to prevent harm and 
reduce the risk to victims and their families. We will 
strengthen our partnership arrangements, from our 
strategic plans to our frontline practice in order to identify 
and respond to domestic abuse as early as possible in an 
effective, co-ordinated way. 

 We commit to sharing information for the reduction in 
crime, disorder and the protection and safeguarding 
of victims and their families. We will ensure the myths 
attributed to sharing information are removed and provide 
the legislative backing to do so.

 We commit to driving forward a cultural change across our 
organisations to challenge attitudes and increase public 
confidence. We will ensure a programme of training for 
our professionals to equip them in dealing effectively with 
disclosures and minimising the trauma for victims.

4 Responding to perpetrators

 We commit to supporting criminal justice agencies in 
pursuing serial perpetrators through the criminal justice 
system.  

 We commit to supporting victims in accessing civil routes 
in the absence of criminal proceedings. We will ensure that 
we listen to the voice of the victim and support them in 
making informed choices.

 We will commit to challenging and changing the behaviour 
of perpetrators through the availability of domestic abuse 
perpetrator programmes across BCP.

96



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 19

Priority 1  
Preventing violence and abuse

 • All victims regardless of race, age, gender or sexuality 
receive appropriate service provision

 • Victims, families and friends know where to go for help and 
support and can access a single service pathway

 • The BCP MARAC is effective, protects victims and reduces 
the risk of further harm

 • The workforce across BCP is skilled and knowledgeable in 
identifying and responding to domestic abuse

 • Children and young people have the skills to identify and 
develop healthy relationships

 • Children and adults living with domestic abuse and those 
who have care and support needs are safeguarded.

 

Priority 2 
Provision of services

 • Our services will be co-produced, co-delivered and  
co-evaluated with our service users

 • Irrespective of where a victim lives in BCP they will be able 
to access a service quickly, fairly and easily

 • Specialist services will be available to victims in a number 
of different settings, across the statutory and community 
voluntary sector

 • We will review and improve our practice, ensuring that 
lessons learnt are shared across agencies

 • We will ensure services are equipped and have the 
capacity to respond to existing and emerging issues.

Our response objectives

97



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 20

Priority 3  
Partnership working

 • We will work with a range of corporate, statutory, 
community and voluntary and sectors to protect the most 
vulnerable through effective information sharing practices

 • Service provision will be reviewed with partners and 
service users to ensure the delivery of meaningful 
outcomes for clients

 • Good practice will be highlighted and shared as well as 
lessons learnt from Domestic Homicide Reviews, Serious 
Case Reviews and Safeguarding Adults Reviews. 

Priority 4  
Responding to perpetrators
 

 • Serial perpetrators of domestic abuse will be held to 
account and pursued through the criminal justice system

 • We will increase the number of victimless prosecutions 
where appropriate

 • We will prioritise the safety of victims and children by 
utilising the full range of powers available, both criminal 
and civil

 • Perpetrators will be offered help to change their behaviour 
through effective interventions

 • Restorative practice will be considered where applicable.

 

Governance and accountability

98



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 21

Priority 4  
Responding to perpetrators
 

 • Serial perpetrators of domestic abuse will be held to 
account and pursued through the criminal justice system

 • We will increase the number of victimless prosecutions 
where appropriate

 • We will prioritise the safety of victims and children by 
utilising the full range of powers available, both criminal 
and civil

 • Perpetrators will be offered help to change their behaviour 
through effective interventions

 • Restorative practice will be considered where applicable.

 

Governance and accountability

The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Community Safety 
Partnership is responsible for and committed to ensuring the 
successful delivery of the Domestic Abuse Strategy and its 
ambitious commitments to change.

A comprehensive delivery plan will be developed, 
implemented and monitored by the BCP Domestic Abuse 
Strategic Group, which will report into the BCP Community 
Safety Partnership.

The BCP Community Safety Partnership is interlinked with  
the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board and the 
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership, where Domestic Abuse 
are key priorities. 

 

 
 
 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  
Community Safety Partnership

Safeguarding  
Adults  
Board

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  
Domestic Abuse Strategic Group

Safeguarding  
Children’s  

Partnership

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  
MARAC Steering Group

99



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 22

https://safelives.org.uk/ 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-overarching-documents

https://www.womensaid.org.uk/the-survivors-handbook/domestic-abuse-and-your-mental-health/

https://www.scie.org.uk/safeguarding/adults/introduction/types-and-indicators-of-abuse

https://www.sciencemediacentre.org/expert-reaction-to-domestic-abuse-in-the-uk-and-mental-illness/

https://www.mja.com.au/journal/2000/173/8/impact-domestic-violence-individuals

https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/statistics/mental-health-statistics-domestic-violence

https://www.facs.nsw.gov.au/domestic-violence/about/effects-of-dv

https://www.bristol.ac.uk/news/2019/june/men-domestic-abuse.html

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-sets-out-key-measures-to-tackle-violence-against-women-and-girls

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/38/contents

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted

https://safelives.org.uk/policy-evidence/getting-it-right-first-time

https://irisi.org/all-resources/research/

https://www.unicef.org/media/media_35151.html

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-domestic-violence-crime-and-victims-act-2004 

References and literature

100

https://safelives.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-overarching-documents
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/the-survivors-handbook/domestic-abuse-and-your-mental-health/
https://www.scie.org.uk/safeguarding/adults/introduction/types-and-indicators-of-abuse
https://www.sciencemediacentre.org/expert-reaction-to-domestic-abuse-in-the-uk-and-mental-illness/
https://www.mja.com.au/journal/2000/173/8/impact-domestic-violence-individuals
https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/statistics/mental-health-statistics-domestic-violence
https://www.facs.nsw.gov.au/domestic-violence/about/effects-of-dv
https://www.bristol.ac.uk/news/2019/june/men-domestic-abuse.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-sets-out-key-measures-to-tackle-violence-against-women-and-girls
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/38/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted
https://safelives.org.uk/policy-evidence/getting-it-right-first-time
https://irisi.org/all-resources/research/
https://www.unicef.org/media/media_35151.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-domestic-violence-crime-and-victims-act-2004


Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 23

101



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2023 24

102



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 1 of 21 
 

BCP Community Safety Partnership Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy Draft Delivery Plan 2021-2023 (annual review) 

Our Priorities: 

 

 

Preventing
Violence and 

Abuse

• 1.1 All victims regardless of race, age, gender or sexuality receive appropriate service provision

• 1.2 Victims, families and friends know where to go for help and support and can access a single service pathway

• 1.3 The BCP MARAC is effective, protects victims and reduces the risk of further harm

• 1.4 The workforce across BCP is skilled and knowledgeable in identifying and responding to domestic abuse

• 1.5 Children and young people have the skills to identify and develop healthy relationships

• 1.6 Children and adults living with domestic abuse and those who have care and support needs are safeguarded.

Provision of 
Service

• 2.1 Our services will be co-produced, co-delivered and  co-evaluated with our service users

• 2.2 Irrespective of where a victim lives in BCP they will be able to access a service quickly, fairly and easily

• 2.3 Specialist services will be available to victims in a number of different settings, across the statutory and community voluntary sector

• 2.4 We will review and improve our practice, ensuring that lessons learnt are shared across agencies

• 2.5 We will ensure services are equipped and have the capacity to respond to existing and emerging issues.

Partnership 
Working

• 3.1 We will work with a range of corporate, statutory, community and voluntary and sectors to protect the most vulnerable through effective information 
sharing practices

• 3.2 Service provision will be reviewed with partners and service users to ensure the delivery of meaningful outcomes for clients

• 3.3 Good practice will be highlighted and shared as well as lessons learnt from Domestic Homicide Reviews, Serious Case Reviews and Safeguarding 
Adults Reviews. 

Responding to 
perpetrators

• 4.1 Serial perpetrators of domestic abuse will be held to account and pursued through the criminal justice system

• 4.2 We will increase the number of victimless prosecutions where appropriate

• 4.3 We will prioritise the safety of victims and children by utilising the full range of powers available, both criminal and civil

• 4.4 Perpetrators will be offered help to change their behaviour through effective interventions

• 4.5 Restorative practice will be considered where applicable.

103



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 2 of 21 
 

Our Delivery Plan: 

Ref Objective Activities Lead Timescale Evidence/Measure Resources 

1.1 

2.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Referrals to 

services will better 

represent the local 

demographic 

meaning an 

increase in 

referrals from 

BAME, 65+years, 

LGBTQ, children 

and young people 

and other service 

user groups 

currently under 

represented. 

 

 

 

Use the findings of the 

whole systems work to 

inform future 

commissioning and 

pathway design, including 

lessons from local projects 

that aim to break down 

barriers. A new contract for  

the provision of 

accommodation and victim 

support, should have 

specific requirements to 

offer services that meet the 

needs of all potential 

victims particularly those 

with additional 

disadvantage.  

 

Service user involvement in 

service design and 

evaluation, building on the 

lived experiences of 

survivors of domestic 

abuse. Public consultation 

Community 

Safety Team 

BCP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DA 

Operational 

Group 

April 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 2022 

 

Quality assurance work 

to review cases before 

and after implementation 

of new service to 

compare outcomes and 

victims journey 

 

Service user voice group 

to complete Mystery 

shop activity to review 

quality of service 

 

Quarterly reports shared 

with commissioners to 

include referral rates and 

service user outcomes 

 

Report to be shared and 

reviewed by DA OP’s 

group 

Currently 

£456,000 plus 

an additional 

£150,000 on 

related support 

services) 

104



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 3 of 21 
 

to be repeated in 12 

months to measure the 

impact of this delivery plan 

 

DA service providers to act 

as an advocate for victims 

to ensure their voices are 

not missing from strategic 

discussions 

 

7-minute learning to be 

developed to raise 

awareness with staff of the 

barriers to accessing 

services specific to victims 

of DA 

 

Domestic Abuse training to 

highlight under-represented 

groups in referral data, 

support the work force to 

understand barriers to 

accessing services and 

upskill in more inclusive 

ways of working 

 

 

 

 

Community 

Sector  

 

 

 

Safeguarding 

Adults Board 

 

 

 

Community 

Safety Team 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Sept 2021 

 

 

 

May 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attendees list for 

Strategic meetings. 

Meeting minutes to 

reflect how the voluntary 

sector and providers are 

involved in decision 

making 

7 minute learning 

evaluation to be 

reviewed by DA Op’s 

group 

 

 

Evaluation data to be 

shared with DA OP’s 

Group 

Rep from DA OP’s group 

to quality assure training 

annually  

105



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 4 of 21 
 

Domestic abuse training to 

challenge professionals 

unconscious bias related to 

identifying and responding 

to victims of domestic 

abuse 

 

Review other areas 

specialist provision to look 

for models that would work 

well in BCP e.g. the Silver 

Project, Solace Women’s 

Aid supporting victims over 

the age of 60. 

Community 

Safety Team 

 

 

 

 

DA OP’s 

Group 

May 2021 

 

As Above 

 

 

 

 

DA Op’s Group to 

provide feedback report 

to DA strategic group 

1.2 

2.2 

2.3 

3.3 

Development of a 

“one front door” 

model across BCP 

 

The commitment within the 

strategy to implement a 

“one front door” “think 

whole family” approach to 

DA. Task and finish group 

to be set up lead by CSC 

and ASC to start the 

preparation work for the 

implementation 

 

DA strategic 

Group Lead 

By CSC and 

ASC 

June 2021 Paper to be shared with 

DA strategic Group to 

update on progress 

quarterly 

MHCLG 

Funding to 

support the 

posts 

delivering this 

service 

 

106



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 5 of 21 
 

Increase in third 

party reporting to 

Police, social care 

and DA support 

services 

Peer lead initiatives led by 

community groups to raise 

awareness of Domestic 

Abuse and support 

services able to offer 

support, incorporating the 

lived experiences of 

survivors to support 

victims. 

 

Community 

Rep in 

partnership 

with DA OP’s 

group 

April 2022 Service providers to 

capture third party 

reporting in quarterly 

reports 

Police data 

Multi agency 

budget 

contribution 

General awareness 

champaigns and Positive 

promotion of services 

available to victims, 

children and young people 

impacted by domestic 

abuse and perpetrators of 

domestic abuse. A 

promotion campaign should 

also offer advice on what to 

do if you are concerned 

about yourself or someone 

else. A range of promotion 

opportunities should be 

reviewed as well as 

learning from campaigns 

developed to respond to 

the increased risk to victims 

during the COVID-19 

DA Op’s group October 

2021 

Comms evaluation data 

to be reviewed related to 

social media 

engagement rates.  

 

Service user voice group 

to evaluate quality of 

campaigns and support 

with the development of 

appropriate messaging 

Multi agency 

budget 

contribution & 

included in 

£90,000 for 

Strategy 

Implementation 

107



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 6 of 21 
 

pandemic such as “Ask 

Ani”.  

 

1.3 

3.3 

Increase in 

referrals into the 

MARAC process 

from agencies 

other than the 

Police 

 

Referral process to 

MARAC and other similar 

risk management meetings 

to be reviewed to ensure 

we are not duplicating work 

and the processes are not 

working in silos 

MARAC training to become 

a mandatory contract 

requirement for 

commissioned services 

MARAC 

Steering 

Group 

 

 

Community 

Safety Team 

October 

2021 

 

 

 

April 2022 

 

Quality assurance work 

to review and report to 

DA strategic group  

 

 

Training records  

Evaluation report 

 

Multi Agency 

buy-in to 

support the 

process 

 

Training Officer 

post 

Victims with 

additional 

disadvantage such 

as a learning 

disability, 

substance 

misuses, from a 

BAEM community 

equally 

represented in 

referral rates to 

MARAC  

Quality Assurance work to 

review the victim’s journey 

through the process and 

question if it is effective and 

accessible for those with 

additional disadvantage 

 

Quality assurance work to 

review the voice of the 

victim within the MARAC 

process 

MARAC 

Steering 

Group 

 

 

 

MARAC 

Steering 

Group 

 

October 

2021 

 

 

 

 

October 

2021 

 

EQIA review 

 

 

 

 

MARAC Steering group 

to report data and 

findings to DA strategic 

group 

Community 

Safety Team 

officer post 

108



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 7 of 21 
 

 

Quality assurance work to 

monitor the impact and 

completion rate of actions 

set within the MARAC 

forum 

 

MARAC 

Steering 

Group 

 

 

October 

2021 

1.4 

2.4 

3.3 

All staff are trained 

to an appropriate 

level for their role  

Review current training 

offer, assess the need and 

update our training plan to 

reflect current and 

predicted need.  

 

Mandatory level 2 DA 

training is delivered to all 

staff and volunteers 

working with the public 

across BCP 

 

All staff, including 

managers, withing 

children’s social care, adult 

social care, housing and 

other key teams receive 

level 3 DA training 

 

DA OP’s 

Group + 

workforce 

development 

group 

 

Training 

Workforce and 

Development 

Group 

 

 

Community 

Safety team 

and TWDG 

 

 

December 

2021 

 

 

 

April 2022 

 

 

 

 

October 

2022 

 

 

Training evaluation data  

 

Training Quality assured 

by DA Op’s group rep 

 

Review Training records 

and training data 

 

 

 

Review Training records 

and training data 

 

 

 

Community 

Safety Team 

training post 

109



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 8 of 21 
 

Improved understanding 

and learning from DHR’s is 

shared across the 

workforce reducing harm to 

victims, which includes 

homicide and suicides 

linked to domestic abuse. 

 

Knowledge and 

understanding of Parental 

conflict agenda is shared 

across the workforce 

improving early 

identification and 

intervention for families  

Routine enquiry questions 

to be embedded in training 

Staff clear on indicators of 

domestic abuse and how to 

respond 

 

Adolescent to parent 

violence and abuse to be 

highlighted in domestic 

abuse and safeguarding 

training to ensure 

Community 

Safety Team 

and DA Op’s 

Group 

 

 

 

TWDG and 

Community 

Safety Team  

 

 

Community 

Safety Team 

 

 

 

 

DA OP’s 

Group 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

October 

2022 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

April 2022 

 

Review Training records 

and training data 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Undertake quality 

assurance and case 

audits. 

110



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 9 of 21 
 

consistent responses are 

promoted to professionals 

working within BCP 

 

Specific course related to 

peer to peer violence and 

abuse and child to parent 

violence and abuse. This 

course should offer 

practitioners resources to 

support young people to 

identify their own behaviour 

and tools to reduce risk. 

 

 

 

 

 

DA OP’s 

Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

April 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Training uptake to be 

monitored. 

 

 

 

 

1.5 

2.2 

3.1 

3.2 

Quality 

relationships 

education 

delivered in all 

BCP schools and 

other appropriate 

settings 

 

Review the impact of 

“Escape the Trap” courses 

offered to schools by 

children’s social care with a 

view to reinvigorating this 

offer, upskilling more 

practitioners and have a 

consistent offer 

 

Schools supported to meet 

their duty and requirements 

to deliver quality 

Children 

Social Care 

 

 

 

 

 

Safer Schools 

Team 

December 

2021 

 

 

 

 

 

April 2022 

Feedback from 

Education 

EQIA to include this area 

of work. 

 

 

 

Feedback via DSL forum 

and education audits. 

 

111



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 10 of 21 
 

relationships education by 

the local authority 

 

Local authority 

safeguarding audit to 

include reviewing the 

quality of relationships 

education 

 

Task and finish group to be 

set up to review the 

provision for children and 

young people not in 

education. This group will 

develop a plan to offer 

good quality and relevant 

provision for marginalised 

young people and those 

who are home-schooled  

 

 

 

Education 

Leads, BCP 

Council 

 

 

Youth 

Offending 

Service 

 

 

 

April 2022 

 

 

 

April 2022 

 

 

 

 

As above. 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2 

1.3 

1.5 

1.6 

 

Trauma informed 

interventions made 

available to 

children and young 

people impacted 

by domestic abuse 

Op Encompass to be 

implemented across BCP 

area, whereby schools 

receive information DA 

incidents involving parents. 

Safer Schools 

Team 

 

Safer Schools 

Team 

April 2021 

 

 

April 2021 

 

Op Encompass 

evaluation data 

 

Increase in trauma 

informed interventions 

MHCLG 

Funding to 

provide service 

to support this 

activity 

 

112



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 11 of 21 
 

Schools offered training 

and support to implement 

Op Encompass 

Early help offer to include 

Recover Tool kit courses 

 

Train the trainer courses for 

relevant staff in RTK and 

other relevant programmes 

to ensure resilience in the 

local areas offer 

 

Funding for a Young 

People’s DAA to be 

agreed. Post to be filled by 

someone with skills in 

engaging young people as 

well as DA 

Children’s 

Services, BCP 

Council 

 

Community 

Safety Team 

 

 

 

Dorset Police 

October 

2021 

 

January 

2022 

 

 

 

December 

2021 

 

for children and young 

people 

 

Review attendance data 

Increase offer of RTK 

 

 

 

Reduction in risk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Current gap in 

funding. 

1.6 

2.3 

2.4 

2.5 

3.1 

An increase in the 

use of MARMM to 

reduce the risk for 

victims of DA with 

additional 

disadvantage 

 

Review the impact of the 

MARMM process when 

used for victims of DA who 

have been through the 

MARAC process 3 times or 

more 

 

Safeguarding 

Adults Board+ 

MARAC 

Steering 

Group 

 

January 

2022 

 

 

 

DA Op’s group and SAB 

to review and provide 

recommendations 

 

 

 

Multi agency 

support 

 

ECINS Licence 

fee and 

training costs 

113



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 12 of 21 
 

4.3  A clear process and toolkit 

developed to support staff 

plan a success for MARMM 

for victims of DA 

 

A central log to be used to 

monitor the use of MARMM 

for victims of DA who have 

been through the MARAC 

process 3 or more times.  

MARAC 

Steering 

Group 

 

 

 

MARAC 

Steering 

Group  

April 2022 

 

 

 

 

April 2022 

 

Tool developed  

 

 

 

 

1.2 

2.2 

2.4 

3.1 

A clear process 

and forum is 

developed to 

facilitate regular 

service user 

consultation .  

DA service providers to 

support DA Operational 

group develop a service 

user voice group. DA Ops 

group will be guided on the 

best model, virtual, face to 

face etc, to reduce re-

traumatisation of victims 

 

DA Ops Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DA Ops Group 

 

May 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 2022 

 

Service user voice group 

terms of reference and 

regular reports to be 

shared with DA op’s 

Group 

Service user participation 

 

 

 

 

Service user consultation 

Venue costs 

 

Incentive to 

engage to be 

considered 

Included in 

MHCLG grant 

proposal for 

Strategy 

Implementation 

Service User Voice group 

to support the reviewing of 

services processes and 

procedures 

Childcare costs 

for participants 

114



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 13 of 21 
 

  

DA Ops Group 

 

May 2022 

 

Service user voice group to 

support with needs 

assessment tasks and 

mystery shopping activities 

to quality assure services.  

 

As above  

Funding2.2 

4.2 

4.4 

Increase in positive 

criminal justice 

outcomes for 

victims 

DA Vehicle to visit victims 

of DA shortly after Police 

attend and incident. The 

DA car will operate with the 

support from a DAA and a 

specially trained response 

officer.  

 

Dorset Police TBC Increase in positive 

outcomes both criminal 

and civil measures 

Funding to 

support court 

proceedings 

and civil court 

measures 

A menu of justice options 

created to include out of 

court disposal and 

restorative justice tools as 

not all victims see 

prosecution as justice 

DA OP’s 

Group 

December 

2021 

Increase in restorative 

justice referrals 

Commissioned 

RJ service via 

the OPCC 

 Work with the Specialist 

Domestic Violence Court 

steering group to reduce 

DA Ops Group  November 

2021 

Decrease in waiting 

times and increase in 

positive outcomes 

Funding to 

support a 

Court IDVA 

115



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 14 of 21 
 

court waiting times as a 

result of Covid delays. 

Consistent 

responses from all 

services working 

within the pathway 

Service Map created to be 

shared with the work force 

and regularly reviewed to 

keep up to date 

DA OP’s 

Group 

December 

2021 

Service user map Web costs 

Included in 

MHCLG grant 

proposal for 

Strategy 

Implementation 

 One front door to 

services that 

respond to the 

whole family 

DA specialist to be based 

within the MASH to offer 

specialist advice for 

referrals coming through 

the service. This post will 

have particular focus on 

cases that do not obviously 

meet the threshold of “high 

risk”.  

 

CSC April 2021 Service User feedback 

via service user group 

and annual public 

consultation 

MHCLG 

Funding to 

support the 

delivery of the 

“one Front 

Door 

Approach” 

     

2.1 

2.2 

2.3 

2.4 

Quality fit for 

purpose 

emergency 

accommodation 

offer for all victims 

of DA 

Independent housing 

needs assessment to be 

completed to review our 

current need and offer. 

Housing needs assessment 

to include service users, 

third sector, housing 

Community 

Safety Team + 

BCP Housing 

Team 

June 2021 Needs assessment 

report 

 

Annual public 

consultation 

Preparation for 

DA Bill 

Government 

Grant to fund 

needs 

assessment 

116



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 15 of 21 
 

associations and private 

landlords. Housing needs 

assessment to recommend 

an operating model that 

meets local needs and 

demand and is realistic with 

the budget allocated.  

The local offer should be 

accessible to all victim’s but 

particular consideration 

should be given to those 

over the age of 60, and 

those with additional 

disadvantage such as a 

learning or physical 

disability, substance 

misuses issues and mental 

health issues. A clear 

housing pathway should be 

the outcome of this needs 

assessment 

 

Housing data 

 

EQIA  

4.1 

4.4 

Disruption options 

used for serial 

offenders 

Police to utilise intelligence 

to create disruption 

opportunities for the top 10 

offenders. E.g. traffic team 

to target for driving 

offences. 

 

Dorset Police 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

DAPP referrals 

DRIVE take up and 

suitability 

Victim risk reduction 

Reduction in reoffending 

Funding for 

DRIVE post 

grant funding 

yet to be 

determined. 

117



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 16 of 21 
 

DRIVE case managers to 

create disruption plans for 

high risk offender not 

willing to engage 

 

 

DAPP (DRIVE 

Panel) 

 

 

Community 

Rehabilitation 

Company/NPS 

 

 

Community 

Rehabilitation 

Company/NPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 2021 

 

 

 

May 2021 

 

 

 

June 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Integrated offender 

management plans to 

include DA offences and 

link with MARAC and 

DRIVE forums 

 

 

IOM steering group to work 

with DA steering group to 

develop a procedure for 

working with serial DA 

offenders  

 

 

Review other similar areas 

methods of responding to 

and disrupting DA 

DA OP’s 

group 

June 2021 DA OP’s group 

recommendations for 

commissioned services 

 

118



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 17 of 21 
 

perpetrators to see if we 

can replicate in BCP 

4.1 

4.2 

4.3 

4.4 

4.5 

2.4 

2.5 

Perpetrator 

interventions to 

work 

collaboratively and 

with the correct 

level of risk 

Single referral pathway and 

assessment tool into 

perpetrator provision to be 

developed to prevent 

interventions operating in 

silo 

 

DA perpetrator task and 

finish group to be set up to 

review current need and 

predictive need of services 

for perpetrators 

 

DA perpetrator task and 

finish to develop a menu of 

options for disruption 

methods 

 

DA perpetrator routine 

enquiry questions to be 

included in DA training 

DA op’s group 

 

 

 

 

 

DA op’s group 

 

 

 

DA op’s Group  

 

 

 

Community 

Safety Team 

June 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

May 2021 

 

 

 

September 

2021 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

EQIA 

Service user feedback 

Public consultation 

 

 

 

Quality assure service 

user experience 

Training evaluation data 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Included in 

MHCLG 

funding 

proposal  

(£100,000 for 

Up2U 

programme) 

119



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 18 of 21 
 

 

Routine enquiry to be 

embedded within BCP 

services related to 

perpetrators 

 

DA training to support the 

wider workforce to identify 

perpetrators of DA and 

clarify options available to 

respond effectively.  

 

Local specialist in 

responding to perpetrators 

to develop a package of 

training for services with a 

high contact rate with 

perpetrators of DA 

 

Community 

Safety Team 

 

 

 

Community 

Safety Team 

 

 

 

DA 

Perpetrator 

T+F group 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

September 

2021 

 

 Perpetrators are 

held to account for 

their actions 

Body worn videos available 

across the force area to 

increase victimless 

prosecution options 

 

Dorset Police TBC Increase in convictions  

120



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 19 of 21 
 

MARAC consider victimless 

prosecutions when victims 

are not engaging 

 

MARAC 

Steering 

Group 

May 2021 MARAC Quality 

assurance work to 

review outcomes 

 

DA Bill will bring in new 

offences such as “non-fatal 

strangulation”. Awareness 

raising of these changes 

will happen across the 

workforce and population 

DA Op’s 

Group 

TBC Police data  

 

Conviction data 

Campaign 

raising 

resources 

including 

internal comms 

 Appropriate 

support made 

available to young 

people using 

violence in close 

relationships 

Funding to be identified to 

continue Speech and 

language assessment as a 

standard provision within 

the Youth Justice Services 

initial assessment. 

 

YJS TBC TBC  

Youth Justice Service to 

offer an intervention taking 

an appropriate 

communication style  

YJS TBC TBC TBC 

 Appropriate 

support made 

available to adults 

able to identify 

their abusive 

Assessment for DA 

perpetrator interventions to 

assess the clients 

communications style and 

skills 

DA 

Perpetrator 

T+F group 

December 

2021 

To be determined post 

T&F group 

 

121



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 20 of 21 
 

 

 

 

 

behaviour and 

wanting to make 

changes  

Assessment for DA 

perpetrator intervention to 

consider childhood trauma 

 

DA 

Perpetrator 

T+F group 

December 

2021 

As above  

Assessment for DA 

perpetrator provision to be 

consistent across all 

services available 

DA 

Perpetrator 

T+F group 

December 

2021 

As above  

Restorative justice options 

to be available 

 

DA OP’s 

group 

June 2021 Increase in restorative 

justice referrals 

 

Housing needs assessment 

to review provision for 

perpetrators of DA 

 

Community 

Safety team + 

BCP Housing 

June 2021 Needs assessment and 

accommodation 

suitability 

 

Family practice model to be 

implemented within the 

Up2You service 

CSC and 

Community 

Safety Team 

April 2022 Decrease in risk levels 

and step down of CSC 

cases.  

 

122



DRAFT – DA Strategy Delivery Plan 2021-2023 
 

Page 21 of 21 
 

Glossary 

DAA – Domestic Abuse Advisors working for Dorset Police with high risk victims  

Drive Programme – A perpetrator programme for high risk perpetrators commissioned by Dorset Police 

Escape the Trap – An educational programme around healthy relationships aimed at teenagers 

IOM – Integrated Offender Management – partnership work between Police and Probation to manage a cohort of offenders 

Operation Encompass – A scheme by which schools are notified of any domestic abuse incidents involving the parents or guardians of 

children within their school 

MARAC – Multi-Agency Risk Management Meetings, where high-risk victims of domestic abuse are discussed, and safety plans developed.  

Held weekly 

MARMM – Multi-Agency Rick Management Meetings – specific meetings called to discuss complex cases 

Up2U -  A perpetrator programme managed by the Community Safety team aimed mainly at families known to Children’s Services 

 

 

123



T
his page is intentionally left blank

124



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

1                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Executive Summary and Conclusions 

Once the Equality Impact Assessment Template has been completed, please summarise the key findings here. Please send a 
copy of your final document to the Policy and Performance Team. 
 
The Domestic Abuse Strategy is a BCP Community Safety Partnership document and owned by all the statutory partners within 
the Community Safety Partnership. 
The strategy has captured national research and local context to ensure its commitments and priorities are meeting the needs 
of the BCP community. There is a consensus that DA can affect anyone irrespective of any factors, the impact can vary and 
can be detrimental on an individual’s life including other family members such as children.  
 
There are some aspects that have been highlighted such as sex, disability, religion and belief that will require additional 
support through the strategy delivery plans.  The is significant funding for 2021/22 from a MHCLG grant that can be used to 
improve services and deal with increased demand. 
  

  
 

Part 1 - The Project 

Policy/Service under development/review: Domestic Abuse Strategy & Delivery Plan 

Service Unit: 
Communities 

Service Lead: 
Kelly Ansell 

Equality Impact Assessment Team: 
Community Safety  
 

Date assessment started: 
13/11/20. The strategy and the consultation process have been developed 
over a period of months; the process began in May 2020. 

Date assessment completed: 
April 2021. The strategy was completed and approved by the Community 
Safety Partnership in October 2020.   The Delivery Plan is going to Cabinet 
in May 2021 

125

mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

2                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 1 - The Project 

What are the aims/objectives of the policy/service? To develop a new BCP CSP DA Strategy. 

What outcomes will be achieved with the new or 
changed policy/service? 

It will cover the BCP locality with the aim of preventing domestic abuse. 

Are there any associated services, policies or 
procedures?   

Yes (If ‘Yes’, please list or link below) 
 
Safeguarding Adults 
Safeguarding Children 
Housing and Homelessness  

Please list the main people, or groups, that this 
policy/service is designed to benefit, and any other 
stakeholders involved: 

Any victim or offender irrespective of age, gender, sexuality or religious and 
cultural beliefs. 

With consideration for their clients, please list any 
other organisations, statutory, voluntary or 
community that the policy/service/process will 
affect: 

All statutory partners within the Community Safety Partnership. 
Third sector organisations working with victims and perpetrators of 
domestic abuse. 

 

126



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

3                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

Please list and/or link to below any recent & relevant consultation & engagement that can be used to demonstrate a clear 
understanding of those with a legitimate interest in the policy/service/process and the relevant findings: 
Various consultations with partner agencies and third sector organisations via focus groups (details can be provided upon 
request). Consultation via a number of Boards such as SAB, Councils CIMT, Children’s services Mgt. Team, Multi Agency 
Domestic Abuse Strategic Group, BCP CSP Board. 
 
 
 

If there is insufficient consultation or engagement information please explain in the Action plan what further consultation will be 
undertaken, who with and how. 

Please list or link to any relevant research, census and other evidence or information that is available and relevant to this EIA: 
Literature and references below: 

safelives.org.uk 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-overarching-documents 
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/the-survivors-handbook/domestic-abuse-and-your-mental-health/ 
https://www.scie.org.uk/safeguarding/adults/introduction/types-and-indicators-of-abuse 
https://www.sciencemediacentre.org/expert-reaction-to-domestic-abuse-in-the-uk-and-mental-illness/ 
https://www.mja.com.au/journal/2000/173/8/impact-domestic-violence-individuals 
https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/statistics/mental-health-statistics-domestic-violence 
https://www.facs.nsw.gov.au/domestic-violence/about/effects-of-dv https://www.bristol.ac.uk/news/2019/june/men-
domestic-abuse.html https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-sets-out-key-measures-to-tackle-violence-against-
women-and-girls https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/38/contents 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted https://safelives.org.uk/policy-evidence/getting-it-right-first-
time https://irisi.org/all-resources/research/ https://www.unicef.org/media/media_35151.html 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-domestic-violence-crime-and-victims-act-2004 

                                         
1 This could include: service monitoring reports, research, customer satisfaction surveys & feedback, workforce monitoring, staff surveys, opinions and 
information from trade unions, previous completed EIAs (including those of other organisations) feedback from focus groups & individuals or organisations 
representing the interests of key target groups or similar.  
 

127



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

4                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

Please list below any service user/employee monitoring data available and relevant to this policy/service/process and what it 
shows in relation to any Protected Characteristic: 
Local data includes: 
Children affected by DA (notifications to MASH, CIN, CP plans), 
Vulnerable adults affected by DA (notification and referrals in adult safeguarding), 
Police incidents and crimes including repeat victims and offenders, age and gender, 
BCP demographic data and predictive analysis on number of victims both male and female, 
Housing data and access to emergency accommodation, 
MARAC data for high risk victims including number of children, 
NPS and CRC data on perpetrators including access to perpetrator services, 
Research on adverse childhood experiences and the impact on mental health and substance misuse, 
Data from A&E departments relating to the Cardiff model and the hospital IDVA service. 
 

If there is insufficient research and monitoring data, please explain in the Action plan what information will be gathered: 

 
 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

1.  Age2 
Although the DA definition applies to victims 
age 16 and over there is a recognition that the 
impact DA has on children and young people 

 

                                         
2 Under this characteristic, The Equality Act only applies to those over 18. 

128

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

5                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

is significant. The strategy aims to improve the 
support for children recognising the links with 
ACE’s through trauma informed practice. 
 
The strategy recognises the BCP locality has a 
high proportion of older people where abuse if 
often hidden and aims to address these 
issues. 

2. Disability3 

The strategy recognises through data, national 
and local research and the links with DHR 
lessons learnt that people with learning 
disabilities are vulnerable to domestic abuse. 
There is a recognition that service users can 
face additional barriers in accessing services 
and services may often not recognise the signs 
of DA. The strategy aims to address these 
issues. 

Need to ensure that adequate training is provided to 
professionals to enable them to spot the hidden signs 
of DA. This is a particular issue for victims who have 
disabilities and their abuser may also be their carer. 

3. Sex 

The strategy recognises that DA can happen 
to anyone irrespective of gender or sexuality. 
Data includes proactive analysis on victim 
profiles across genders and aims to address 
these issues. 

A historical perception that DA affects women as 
victims only. Although statistics evidence that women 
are disproportionately likely to be victims of DA, it 
would be dismissive to not recognise that DA affects 
all genders (including transgender), with 1 in 4 men 
affected by DA either as a victim or witness.  In 

                                         
3 Consider any reasonable adjustments that may need to be made to ensure fair access. 

129

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

6                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

addition, not all support services offer support to male 
victims of DA. A requirement to ensure any re-
commissioning of services incorporate male victims 
within their specifications. 
 

4. Gender 
reassignment4 

As above, the strategy recognises that DA is 
not isolated to any one client group or 
demographic. 

Although referenced in the strategy re gender it does 
not explicitly refer to gender reassignment. Therefore, 
delivery plans to implement the strategy will need to be 
more explicit in the detail. 
 

5. Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

The strategy recognises that pregnancy and 
the impact on children and young people is 
significant. The strategy research also 
recognises that DA can start and or escalate at 
the point of pregnancy and birth therefore 
health services play a critical role in identifying 
the signs and safety planning. 

 

6. Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

DA is not constrained to marriage or civil 
partnership and the strategy recognises it can 
affect anyone including offences by ex-
partners and family members.  

 

                                         
4 Transgender refers people have a gender identity or gender expression that differs to the sex assigned at birth.  

130

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

7                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

7. Race  

DA affects all race’s, and this is recognised 
within the strategy however it is recognised 
that there may be additional barriers for some 
communities and victims such as language 
barriers. 

 

8. Religion or Belief 

The strategy highlights DA can affect anyone 
and it recognises that religion and belief can in 
some cases impact a victim’s ability to seek 
support services. This is can be linked to 
elements such as forced marriage and so-
called honour-based abuse. 

Barriers can include a wider family network and the 
ability for professionals to recognise the signs of DA as 
opposed to ‘cultural’. Adequate training for 
professionals will be required. Additional targeted 
awareness raising campaigns will need to be 
considered to support victims in reporting and seeking 
support. 

9. Sexual Orientation 

The strategy highlights that DA can affect 
anyone irrespective of background. 

 

10. Any other 
factors/groups e.g. 
socio-economic 
status/carers etc5 

The strategy highlights that DA can affect 
anyone irrespective of background.  

 

11. Human Rights 

As above.  

                                         
5 People on low incomes or no income, unemployed, carers, part-time, seasonal workers and shift workers 

131

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

8                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

 
Any policy which shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination must be stopped, removed or changed. 

 
 
 
 
 

Part 4 – Equality Impact Action Plan 
 
Please complete this Action Plan for any negative or unknown impacts identified in the assessment table above.  
 

Issue identified Action required to reduce impact Timescale Responsible officer 

Adequate training for 
professionals to spot the 
hidden signs of DA and 
recognise how to 
appropriately risk assess. 

Pilot training sessions being 
developed via Teams for frontline 
professionals.  
Lessons learnt from DHRs and SARs 
to be incorporated into training. 
Tailored and bespoke training to be 
developed as part of a training needs 
analysis.  

To date with 
completion for 
overall 
training 
package for 
Sept 2021. 

Community Safety Team. 

Gender reassignment Needs to be referenced within DA 
strategy delivery plans. 

April 2021 Led by Community Safety Team, overseen 
by multi agency DA Strategic group. 

Sex – Commissioning of 
services 

Future co-commissioned or single 
agency commissioning to ensure 
male and female victims including 
transgender victims are 
accommodated within support service 
specifications. 

April 2022 Led by Community Safety Team, overseen 
by multi agency DA Strategic group. 

 
 
Key contacts for further advice and guidance:  
 

132



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

9                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Equality & Diversity: 
Sam Johnson -  Policy and Performance Manager    
 
Consultation & Research: 
Lisa Stuchberry – Insight Manager  

133

mailto:sam.johnson@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.stuchbury@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank

134



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Establishing a Multi Disciplinary Team and a Homeless Health 
Centre 

Meeting date  26 May 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Confidential Appendices 1 and 2 

Executive summary  The Council’s new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
2021-25 was approved by Cabinet in April 2021.  Health provision 
is a key element of the strategy, with some good practice already in 
place locally and a good base to build upon. 

The proposals set out in this report will help address inherent 
inequalities and ensure good access to services for those who are 
marginalised and hard to reach. 

This paper outlines recommendations to continue the development 
of the shared care or multi-disciplinary approach in two ways and 
build on the great joint work already underway.   

Firstly, to further develop a Multi Disciplinary team (MDT) that 
homeless individuals can access and receive the support they need 
to find accommodation and have their health needs addressed.  
Secondly, to establish a Homeless Inclusion Health Centre (a 
‘Health Hub’) which provides a building based homeless health and 
housing centre.  Services will be delivered to those who are 
homeless or at risk of homelessness, for example in temporary 
hotels or hostel accommodation.  A project manager will be 
recruited to establish these services effectively.  

An MDT will provide outreach for people rough sleeping and 
inreach to people accommodated in any of the temporary 
accommodation units and other temporary housing settings such 
as hotels.  It will also operate out of the Health Hub. 

It is recommended to acquire the St Stephens Church Hall, 
Bournemouth, as the Homeless Inclusion Health Centre (‘Health 
Hub’).   

The Health Hub would provide one front door where homeless 
individuals can attend in order to access health and housing 
support and advice.  The building would provide office and clinic 
space, showers, laundry facilities, access to computers and locker 
space so that people can attend and receive the support and/or 
treatment needed. 

135

Agenda Item 10



The acquisition of the Health Hub will be guided by the valuation by 

the Council’s Estates team and budget will be secured to purchase 

the property, refurbish the property and provide for ongoing 

maintenance and management.  The Confidential Appendices 1 

and 2 detail the financial implications associated with this, including 

the long term financial modelling. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  

(a) Approves the further development of an Multi 
Disciplinary Team (MDT) to better address the health 
needs of individuals who are homeless. 

(b) Approves the implementation of an ongoing ‘Health 
Hub’ provision at St Stephens Church Hall. 

(c) Approves the acquisition of St Stephens Church Hall 
and delegates authority to the Corporate Property 
Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder, Section 
151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer to agree the 
specific terms of the sale (see Confidential Appendices 
1 and 2). 

(d) Approves the associated capital and revenue budget 
provision relating to the acquisition and management of 
St Stephens Church Hall (see Confidential Appendices 
1 and 2). 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To help facilitate improved joint working across health services for 
people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness, in turn 
improving their housing and life chances. 

To improve health outcomes for those who are marginalised and 
hard to reach. 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Robert Lawton (Portfolio Holder for Homes) 

Lead Member Councillor Hazel Allen (Homelessness)  

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan – Chief Operating Officer 

Report Authors 
Lorraine Mealings – Director of Housing, BCP Council 

Ben Tomlin – Head of Housing Options and Partnerships, BCP 
Council 

Elaine Hurll – Principal Programme Lead Mental Health, Dorset 
CCG 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  Decision 

Title:  

136



Background 

1. The Council’s new Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021-25 was 
approved by Cabinet in April 2021.  Health provision is a key element of the strategy, 
with some good practice already in place locally and a good base to build upon. 

2. Homelessness and homeless health have always been important issues. 
Homelessness reduces life chances and life expectancy, can involve serious mental 
illness and inequalities become even more stark. The pandemic afforded an 
opportunity for health, social care and housing professionals to work even closer 
together to provide a more cohesive support offer.  The proposals here will help 
address inherent inequalities and ensure good access to services for those who are 
marginalised and hard to reach. 

3. Across the BCP area during this pandemic period approximately 400 single people 
have been accommodated in temporary accommodation who would otherwise have 
been at risk of rough sleeping.  The aim as things move forwards is to ensure that as 
many people as possible address their health needs, remain in accommodation and 
have the support they require. 

4. The pandemic has attracted short term government funding opportunities for BCP 
Council to maximise the health offer.  The most recent funding from Department of 
Health and Social Care has attracted support from the LGA CHIP Programme to assist 
BCP Council in gaining senior support from partner agencies for the Multi Disciplinary 
Team (MDT) approach to be extended to a whole system approach in the future.  
Partners are in agreement that a joint approach for commissioning needs to be 
enhanced to ensure the needs of people rough sleeping and vulnerably housed are 
met. 

5. This paper outlines a recommendation to continue the development of the shared care 
or multi disciplinary approach in two ways and build on the great joint work already 
underway.  Improved joining up of health services will improve health outcomes for 
people who are homeless, which will in turn improve their housing and life chances. 

6. Firstly, to develop a Multi Disciplinary team (MDT) that homeless individuals can 
access and receive the support they need to find accommodation and have their 
health needs addressed.  Secondly, to establish a Homeless Inclusion Health Centre 
(a ‘Health Hub’) which provides a building based homeless health and housing centre.  
Services will be delivered to those who are homeless or at risk of homelessness, for 
example in temporary hotel or hostel accommodation.  A project manager will be 
recruited to establish these services effectively.  

Existing services 

7. Ordinarily, the Council has approaches from almost 2,000 individuals/couples each 

year for homelessness assistance.  Health assessments for those subsequently 

placed in emergency accommodation or who are rough sleeping show a high 

prevalence of frailty and of multiple chronic conditions. 

 

8. Across the BCP area there are a number of health services that work with the 

homeless population in various settings ;- Drug and alcohol services, Mental health 

services, Blood borne virus service, Primary care, Hospital-based services, Health bus 

charity, Podiatry, Dentistry, and others on a peripatetic basis. 

 

137



9. All these services work well together but tend to operate independently which means 
that customers must go to different places for different things and involves an element 
of duplication.  This relies on the availability of the service (often one person) and the 
individual’s motivation and capacity to travel and to attend appointments. 

10. Joint work already happens at a strategic level with the Health Action Group in place 
as part of the BCP Homelessness Partnership, reporting to the BCP Homelessness 
Reduction Board.  The Homelessness Reduction Board will have oversight of this work 
and delivery will be monitored by the Health Action Group which also forms part of the 
homelessness governance framework. 

Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) 

11. The key components of the MDT proposal are as follows: 

 

 To provide outreach for people rough sleeping and inreach to people 

accommodated in any of the temporary accommodation settings such as hotels 

and other locations across the BCP geography.  It will also operate out of the 

Health Hub. 

 Some people will be seen by the team and their issues resolved reasonably 

quickly and others who have a complex range of needs will require a longer 

period of support. 

 To build rapport with the individual, identify support needs and work with them to 

access where possible mainstream services to which they are entitled regardless 

of accommodation status. 

 To adopt a case management approach and some people will only need one 

named worker. Other people may need several services to input into their care 

but with one person or service taking the lead and coordinating the care. 

 To allow for a housing, social care or health worker to be the named lead.  This 

will depend on primary issues and crucially on which service the established 

relationship is with if any. 

 To include the partners mentioned already but will no doubt grow over time.  It is 

not the case that the team members will always be in the same place.  Most have 

other workplaces and commitments to their employing organisations. 

 To not require professionals to be permanently co-located initially but there will 

be an ambition to do so over time. The building itself will require refurbishment to 

bring it up to a standard that is fit for ongoing use and included in those plans will 

be the staff team requirements as needed. 

 

12. In principle, the high-level outcomes for clients are:  

 

 To secure and stay in temporary accommodation initially. 

 To sustain their temporary accommodation whilst having support to acquire 

settled accommodation. 

 To build the life they want in settled accommodation and not return to the streets.  

 To access mainstream services including all health services once settled, 

regardless of how long that takes. 

 To help individuals build resilience which enables them to seek support when 

they need it and not in crisis. 

 

138



13. Outcomes expected in terms of the MDT approach are: 

 To enable flexible working across organisations within the team, around the 

person 

 To ensure individuals with multiple needs and risks do not fall between the gaps 

in service provision or at risk of multiple exclusion from services because of set 

criteria 

 Further development of an outreach component for people who are entrenched in 

their rough sleeping lifestyle and will initially be seen on the streets 

 To maintain the inreach approach to every client placed in temporary 

accommodation  

 The development of a holistic support plan that includes each area of support the 

person needs and is embedded into organisations own processes. 

 That regardless of profession e.g. nurse or social worker or GP, they will see 

themselves as part of the whole offer and work towards the person’s goals 

 Learning will be used to inform commissioning of future services across all 

partner organisations and further develop the multi disciplinary approach within 

mainstream services 

Building Based Provision – the ‘Health Hub’ 

14. The recommendation is to acquire the St Stephens Church Hall, Bournemouth, as a 
Homeless Inclusion Health Centre.  There may be opportunities to develop inreach at 
additional locations across the wider BCP geography but the St Stephens site would 
be the main venue as a good, central and sensitive location. 

15. There are services across the country where homeless individuals can access health 
care in a building based model with outreach and inreach.  The building base model is 
found in Southampton, Bristol, Exeter, Brighton, Westminster and other areas.  The 
model includes access to all sorts of health care and other support such as debt, 
housing and employment advice.  There are commissioning standards all of which 
support the combination of a building based and outreach model. 

16. The services aim to support until the individual is settled and linked into mainstream 
health and other services.  Some people will access the service for a month and others 
may need it for 18 months, but the purpose is to ensure they eventually access 
mainstream health care once they are settled.  

17. The Health Hub would provide one front door where homeless individuals can attend 
in order to access health and housing support and advice.  The building would provide 
office and clinic space, showers, laundry facilities, access to computers and locker 
space so that people can attend and receive the support and or treatment needed. 

18. A Building Based Provision has the benefits of aiding multi-agency communication, 

services delivered at a site already well known to the client group, facilitates greater 

joint working across multiple services, increases ease of access for customers and 

reduces duplication of appointments/visits for customers.  The Council’s Housing team 

will lead the ongoing development and management of the Hub but joint working and 

co-designing with partner colleagues will be essential. 

 

 

 

139



Acquisition and management of the Health Hub 

19. The financial implications of the acquisition and management of the Health Hub are 
included within confidential Appendices 1 and 2.  The financial implications relate to 
the capital costs of acquisition, refurbishment and project management to bring the 
property into use.  There are also additional ongoing revenue implications such as 
utility costs and maintenance, together with building management staffing. 

Risks 
 
20. There are many ways of delivering services for hard to reach groups.  The value of 

ensuring joined up health services to homeless households is clear.  It is worth noting 
the following risks which have been considered and will be monitored carefully through 
service design and implementation. 

21. There are risks around continued buy-in from partner agencies to joint working in the 
ways set out in this report.  Partners are already working together on the development 
of an MDT and good governance will need to be established in order to design, 
implement and manage all of the proposals presented here and ensure continued 
multi-agency commitment.  There is a general commitment across partners to work in 
line with an MDT and deliver services out of the proposed Health Hub. 

22. In terms of the ongoing development of the team, the first stage is to consolidate all 
the work between many different professionals around the client group. This will 
include a memorandum of understanding regarding the commitment to use the Health 
Hub for agreed sessions and associated legalities around occupation of the building. 
The second stage will be informed by an objective evaluation of the approach. This will 
lead to a formal commissioning proposal.  This is the point at which partners will agree 
the ongoing approach and include a consideration of the longer term staffing resources 
required to manage the effective delivery of services.  The longer term position will 
evolve and be shaped as services move forwards. 

23. The following risks need to be considered when designing and implementing the 
MDT:- 

 IT systems are different in organisations so information sharing may require more 
effort to ensure that everyone in the team knows pertinent information about the 
individuals they support.  Arrangements will need to be subject to data sharing 
protocols and GDPR requirements. 

 Challenges around competing policy and criteria for different agencies. 

 Reducing homelessness could mean reducing demand for such provision. 
 
24. The following risks need to be considered when designing and implementing the 

Building Based Provision:- 

 Need to ensure that the health hub operates on an outreach and inreach basis as 
well as appointments onsite to maximise uptake of health services and help people 
move back into mainstream services. 

 Need to ensure customers make use of the Building Based Provision by effective 
and appropriate promotion and management. 

 Reducing homelessness could mean reducing demand for such provision, with low 
footfall and costs being disproportionate to need. 

 Need to ensure services provide assertive support and do not sustain and 
perpetuate people’s marginalised lifestyles as an unstructured drop-in centre. 

140



 Need to make sure that the health hub dovetails with the developing customer 
strategy for the Council. 

25. The recommended purchase of the building would be subject to the necessary legal 

due diligence as part of the usual conveyancing process.  This would include due 

diligence in terms of planning conditions, covenants etc. 

Options Appraisal 
 

26. One option could be to only implement the MDT at this point and consider an 
additional Building Based Provision at a later stage.  Limiting activity at this stage to 
the MDT would not incur any capital costs and associated ongoing revenue costs as 
set out in the Confidential Appendices 1 and 2.  The additional building based 
provision however will further help to instil strong joint working across services, 
enabling a focal point for service delivery.  If the building based provision is determined 
at a later date then the current building opportunity is also likely to be lost if not acted 
upon now.   

27. A lease model has been initially explored for a Building Based Provision however the 
inevitable need for refurbishment means that acquisition is felt more appropriate to 
provide better value for money in the medium and long term so that the Council can 
realise the increased asset value over time. 

28. Other locations for the health hub have been considered but the location of the 
proposed site is felt appropriate in terms of the location for the majority of clients, ease 
of access to the site, similar services already being delivered from this site and the 
overall location being well suited to the proposed use.  There are no other venues 
which have been identified that are suitable to the purpose of operating a Health Hub. 

29. A further option is to do nothing.  The Homelessness Strategy seeks to continually 
seek service improvements and better customer outcomes.  A ‘stand still’ position 
would not provide these service improvements. 

 
Summary of financial implications 
 
30. The financial implications of the acquisition and management of the Health Hub are 

included within confidential Appendices 1 and 2.   

31. Adult Social Care operates a number of services which will contribute to the MDT and 
Hub approach including addictions, safeguarding, mental health, hospital discharge 
and physical disability teams.  Where grants or other investment is available, Adult 
Social Care will take advantage of this opportunity to further enhance services, but in 
the absence of new or sustained investment, the contribution to the MDT and Hub will 
be limited to that which can be maintained within the existing budget 

Summary of legal implications 

32. The acquisition of the building will be led by the Council’s Estates team with the 
necessary legal considerations and due diligence.  It is recommended that the 
acquisition of St Stephens Church Hall is delegated to the Corporate Property Officer 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder, Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer 
to agree the specific terms of the sale. 

141



33. The Council has various statutory duties in connection with homelessness, including 
preventing and relieving homelessness and providing interim, temporary and long-term 
accommodation pursuant to the Housing Act 1996 and the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017.  The Council must also have regard to the Homelessness Code of Guidance. 

34. The proposals will require legal advice to be obtained at various stages of the project.  
In particular, legal advice will need to be sought on the acquisition of the building and 
the subsequent refurbishment of it.  Legal advice will also need to be sought on the 
Memorandum of Understanding and future operating model, including any joint working 
agreements, commissioning contracts and disclosure of personal information proposed. 

Summary of human resources implications 

35. There may be staffing implications for partner agencies co-locating at the Health Hub 
which will be managed as appropriate if partner agencies wish to pursue this route in 
due course. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

36. None. 

Summary of public health implications 

37. The recommendations set out in this report are based on improving public health 
outcomes for those who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.  The proposals are 
aimed to increase uptake of health services and improve the lives of those receiving 
services. 

Summary of equality implications 

38. An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed. 

39. The recommendations set out in this report are aimed at improving access to services 

for those who are marginalised and hard to reach.  Many customers may have 

protected characteristics and these proposals set out here will improve outcomes for 

those groups.  The MDT and Health Hub are recommended to meet the needs of a 

vulnerable population in the BCP area.  The single assessment process and care and 

support plan that all partner agencies will sign up to will be person centred and 

adapted to meet all their needs.  The work will ensure that excluded individuals receive 

equitable access to primary and secondary healthcare and housing advice and 

support, which will contribute to improving health outcomes and reducing rough 

sleeping and homelessness. 

Summary of risk assessment 

40. The report sets out a number of risks around the proposals.  There are specific 
risks set out in the report which will need to be considered and mitigated when 
setting up the MDT.  There are also specific risks which will need to be considered 
when setting up the Building Based Provision to make sure it is fully utilised, 
provides good customer outcomes and dovetails with other service delivery. 

Background papers 

41. Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021-25’ – BCP Cabinet April 2021. 

142



Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Health Hub Financial Implications CONFIDENTIAL 

Appendix 2 – 50 Year Health Hub Financial Modelling CONFIDENTIAL 

 

143



This page is intentionally left blank

144



Document is Restricted

145

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

149

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Special Educational Needs & Disabilities and Inclusion 
Strategy 

Meeting date  26 May 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Children and young people with special educational needs and 

disability (SEND) have high aspirations for their future. In 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole we want to support all 

children and young people to enjoy their childhood and develop the 

skills, confidence and resilience to achieve their goal of a positive 

and successful adult life.  

The Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) and Inclusion 

Strategy has been created in partnership with stakeholders.  It sets 

out our ambition for children and young people with SEND, 

supporting delivery of the council’s Big Plan. 

The ambitions in the strategy will be realised through the delivery 
plan, overseen by the SEND Improvement Board. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 
Cabinet notes how the strategy was developed in partnership 

and agree the strategy. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To agree BCPs shared partnership ambition for children and young 

people with special educational needs and disabilities. 

To support BCP Council in meeting its legal responsibilities in 
relation to special educational needs and disabilities. 

  

151

Agenda Item 11



Portfolio Holder(s) 
Councillor Mike White, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young 

People 

Councillor Nicola Greene, Portfolio Holder for Covid Resilience, 
Schools and Skills 

Corporate Director Elaine Redding, Interim Corporate Director, Children’s Services 

Contributors 
Simon McKenzie, Head of Service, SEND 

Claire Webb, SEND Improvement Programme Manager 

Wards All wards 

Classification For decision 
Title:  

Background 

1. Within BCP all stakeholders have high aspirations for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). In order to ensure children and young 
people achieve their potential it is crucial that local partners work together including 
children and young people themselves, their parents and carers, the council, health, 
education providers, and the voluntary and private sectors. 

2. SEND describes a broad spectrum of needs. This could be a child needing occasional 
support in school through to a child requiring 24 hour support and care. The level of 
support may vary during their life depending on their circumstances. 

3. In 2014, the Children and Families Act was introduced with a view to reforming the 
delivery of support and services for children and young people with SEND to ensure:  

 the participation of children, their parents and young people in decision- making   
 the early identification of needs and early intervention to support them  
 greater choice and control for young people and parents over support  
 collaboration between education, health and social care services 
 high quality provision  
 a focus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning  
 successful preparation for adulthood, including independent living and employment 

4. The creation of the new BCP area has created the opportunity to create a new strategy.  
SEND strategies were already in place for Bournemouth, Christchurch (via Dorset 
County Council) and Poole, this new strategy both replaces and builds upon existing 
strategies providing one BCP strategy.   

5. This report explains how the strategy has been developed and provides an overview of 
the goals and aspirations of BCP Council. 

Developing the strategy 

6. This strategy has been developed in consultation with stakeholders including the Local 
Authority, children and young people and their parent carers, schools and our health 
colleagues. 

152



7. The starting point was gathering the views of children and young people with SEND and 
their parent carers. This included a workshop with young people with SEND through 
Chatterboxes YMCA Youth Project (disability action group) and SPACE LBGTQ (a youth 
group for lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans and questioning young people) who ran a SEND 
specific engagement event. This event had a focus on the future and preparing for 
adulthood. 

8. This was complimented through reviewing our performance data with a focus on 
outcomes and service delivery as well as findings from the SEND Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, national research and best practice from other areas. 

9. The Local Government Association (LGA) SEND peer challenge in January 2020 
recommended the wider involvement of parents, parents/carers and children and young 
people.  A stakeholder event was planned, however, due to Covid alternative 
arrangements had to be made: 

a. Stakeholders including parent carers, schools/education providers, health, the 
council were invited to identify their priorities and feedback on the draft strategy via 
email.   

b. Children and young people with SEND were invited to share their views through two 
different routes: 

i. Tells us what makes them happy (this was part of a wider piece of work to also 
inform the new Children and Young People’s Plan) 

ii. ‘Tells us’: What is important to you? What could make things even better? What 
stops you doing the things you want to do? What do you like about 
school/college? And What do you want to do when you are older? 

10. During April/May 2020 a survey for all pupils (with and without SEND) was carried out to 
understand their sense of belonging and connection to their school during the 
Coronavirus school closure and what schools could do to support them.  A total of 3158 
children and young people completed the survey and the summary of responses 
considered. 

11. Children and young people with SEND have told us that they typically find online 
engagement difficult, and we know that it is not accessible to the those with more 
complex needs. This was further hampered by covid 19.  Whilst overall feedback was 
from good range of children and young people, engagement and response levels were 
lower than we had hoped. Key to the strategy is our commitment to co-production and 
work has been commenced to increase participation with children and young people 
going forward. 

12. This feedback has informed and shaped a revised draft strategy which was approved on 
22nd March 2021 by the SEND Improvement Board. This is the local area partnership 
Board driving improvement in SEND outcomes which reports to the Health & Wellbeing 
Board.  The Board which was established in the Summer 2020 has representatives from 
parent carers, health, the Local Authority, across the education sector, voluntary sector, 
and is independently chaired by an LGA advisor. 

Overview of the strategy 

13. The strategy sets out the mission of local partners, including BCP Council, to ensure that 
all children and young people with SEND have brighter futures, fulfilled lives and are part 
of their local communities:  

153



 Experiencing inclusion in every aspect of their lives.  
 Achieving their full potential.  
 Being partners, alongside their families, in developing provision and services.  

14. Central to the strategy are the 5 priorities principles across the parentships: 

a. Strong Leadership and Governance Across Partners 
b. Working Together (co-production) 
c. Young people are prepared for adulthood and achieve their full potential 
d. Inclusion in education and the local community 
e. SEND Joint commissioning 

15. These priorities drive the collective work of partners underpinning the improvement work 
being undertaken and the final section of the strategy sets out how partners will ensure 
the strategy is delivered. 

Summary of financial implications 

16. The strategy outlined is for service improvement. Delivery of the plan is overseen by the 
multi-stakeholder BCP SEND Improvement Board, which is independently chaired, with 
representatives from BCP Council, Parent Carers Together, Dorset Clinical 
Commissioning Group, the education sector, the voluntary and community sector, and 
health providers. This Board was set up following a peer review of SEND services and 
has no representation or remit to consider or monitor finances. Ofsted in inspecting 
services similarly do not take financial considerations into account and services are 
graded on performance only.    

17. The strategy will be delivered by partnership working with budgets across the system 
being used to support children identified with additional needs. 

18. Budgets for council services supporting children with SEND will be monitored in the 
usual way and any significant variances reported to Council. These budgets include, for 
example, commissioned SEND school transport services and staffing costs supporting 
service activities in the strategy.  

19. The cost of education provision for children with high needs is funded through the ring-
fenced dedicated schools grant (DSG). This grant is allocated to the council by the 
Department for Education and how it is spent and reported on is highly regulated. Some 
funding for pupils with high needs is delegated to mainstream schools through a formula. 
A central budget provides for costs above delegated amounts and funding for special 
schools, other specialist providers and centrally provided services. Latest projections for 
2021/22 include that a central budget of £57 million is required in 2021/22.   

20.  The DSG retained high needs budgets have experienced growing demand and cost 
pressures for some years. The  funding gap identified currently is   £8.3 million for 
2021/22. This financial position and the associated accumulated deficit recovery plan will 
be considered going forward through a new High Needs Recovery Board, chaired by the 
chief executive.  The aim of the strategy is to re-direct funding  to better value for money 
services, including more locally available school places. Other services supporting the 
children and families across the partnership spectrum will also need to be agile and 
responsive to this high need group, especially as the demographic projections indicate 
that the numbers of children and young people with complex needs will continue to 
increase over the next 5-25 years.  

154



Summary of legal implications 

21. There are no direct legal impacts arising from this strategy, it will however support 
the Council in meeting its legal responsibilities regarding SEND. 

Summary of human resources implications 

22. There are no direct human resource impacts as a result of the strategy, any human 
resource impacts arising from the implementation of the strategy will be assessed 
through the delivery plan/associated implementation work. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

23. There are no sustainability impacts arising from this strategy, any sustainability impacts 
arising from the implementation of the strategy will be assessed through the delivery 
plan/associated implementation work. 

Summary of public health implications 

24. There are no direct public health impacts.  As a result of the strategy, however the 
work arising from the strategy is in part intended to support children and young 
people to stay healthy. 

Summary of equality implications 

25. A full equality impact assessment has been carried out (Appendix 2).  No actual or 
potential negative outcomes from the strategy have been identified.  The proposed 
strategy will have a positive equality impact in relation to the following protected 
characteristics: age, disability and special education needs.  We also know from 
service data that children and young people can also have additional needs or face 
additional challenges due to being in care or care experienced for example. 

26. National research shows that SEND can be a result of poverty as well as a cause of 
poverty: across the UK, children with SEND are more likely to experience poverty 
than others and are less likely to experience a fulfilling education or leave school with 
outcomes that reduce the chances of living in poverty as adults (Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation Special educational needs and their links to poverty, February 2016). 
This indicates that the strategy could also have a positive impact in terms of socio-
economic status. 

Summary of risk assessment 

27. There are no direct risks created by the strategy, risks will be assessed through the 
delivery plan/associated work to implement the strategy.  The absence of a strategy 
potentially risks the Council and local area partners being less effective in working 
together to improve outcomes. 

Background papers 

None. 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – BCP SEND and Inclusion Strategy 

Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment 

155



This page is intentionally left blank

156



2021-24

Special educational needs 
and disabilities (SEND) 
and inclusion strategy

157



BCP Council is committed to ensuring that all children and young 
people in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole are fulfilled, 
happy, resilient and included.

They are connected to their communities with an outstanding quality of life where everyone 
plays an active role. This vision supports the scale and ambition set out in ‘Our Big Plan’ for 
the BCP city area of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole to be one of the best coastal areas 
globally for people to live, work, invest, and play where children and young people can live, 
learn and grow up with the best life chances. As Councillor and Portfolio Holder for COVID 
Resilience, Public Health and Education, I am determined to make this a reality for our 
children and young people.

The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and Inclusion Strategy sets out how the council 
is working with local partners to achieve our collective vision for children and young people 
with additional or special educational needs. Children, young people, and their parent carers 
have told us that it is important they experience inclusion in every aspect of their lives, 
are included in decisions about provision and services and that they realise their aspirations. 

Children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities are some of our 
most vulnerable young residents and should be provided with opportunities and rights to achieve 
their potential. Local partners across the council, health services, education, voluntary sector 
and parent carers are working with children and young people and their families to deliver 
this plan, achieve our aspirations and make the improvements needed. We are committed 
to improving outcomes for children and young people with additional or special educational 
needs and we will report back to you regularly on progress.

Councillor Nicola Greene, 
Portfolio holder for COVID Resilience, Public Health and Education.

2

Foreword

158



Children and young people with special educational needs have 
high aspirations for their future. In Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole (BCP area) we want to support all children and young 
people to enjoy their childhood and develop the skills, confidence 
and resilience to achieve their goal of a positive and successful 
adult life. 

This strategy focuses on children and young people who have special educational needs 
and/or disabilities (SEND) including those who are placed in alternative provision (AP).

Our vision is that all children and young people with SEND have brighter futures, fulfilled lives 
and are part of their local communities:

 experiencing inclusion in every aspect of their lives

 achieving their full potential

 being partners, alongside their families, in developing provision and services.

This vision has been developed from what children and young people with SEND and their 
families have told us is important to them – complemented by our knowledge of the outcomes 
and experiences of children and young people with SEND in the BCP area.

This strategy provides an overview of how we will achieve our vision in close partnership 
with children and young people, parents and carers, early years settings, schools, colleges, 
health, the council, other local services and providers working together to improve the 
outcomes for children and young people. 3

1. Our vision for children and 
young people with SEND

159



In 2014, the Children and Families Act was introduced to reform 
the delivery of support and services for children and young people 
with SEND. The reforms were ambitious – placing children and 
young people at the heart of the system. 

In October 2019, the Commons Select Committee for Education stated that “implementation 
has been badly hampered by poor administration and a challenging funding environment in 
which local authorities and schools have lacked the ability to make transformative change” .

The Select Committee reported that aside from the funding shortfall from central government, 
the key requirements now for improving services to children and young people with SEND will 
be to ensure there is a culture change of empowerment and inclusion across local authorities, 
schools, colleges and other settings to increase accountability within the system.

National policies and guidance documents have supported the development of our vision 
and strategy including:

 SEND Inspection Framework 2016

 Rochford Report 2016

 Care Act 2014

 Think Autism 2014.

This plan has been created during the very time that the world has been plunged into a new 
pandemic – COVID-19 – with severe and far reaching effects that cannot yet be fully known.

As partners, we have worked together to understand and respond to the specific needs of 
children and young people with SEND and their families. We are using this learning to inform 
service planning and delivery.

The last word on COVID-19 and its demographic and economic effect won’t be written for many 
years, as the mass of data accumulates. There will be impacts on employment and employment 
patterns and living arrangements even in relatively well-off areas in pockets of deprivation. 
The inability of many children to access full time school as a result of successive lockdowns 
is expected to be reflected in an increasing attainment gap. The £1 million Family Investment 
Fund being made available by the council will help children and families make up lost ground 
and go some way to restore ‘lost childhoods’ . Historically pandemics have been agents of great 
change. It is too early to say what kind of change COVID-19 will bring, but change there will be, 
for no society comes through an event like this unscathed, and the effects of change will 
be felt for many years and decades from now.

4

2.  National context

160



BCP Council was formed on 1 April 2019, bringing together 
the preceding authorities of Bournemouth, Dorset (Christchurch 
area only) and Poole, creating a new single council, a single parent 
carer forum and significant change to partnership working across 
the area. Such a complex re-organisation of local government 
has not taken place anywhere in the UK since 1974. 

This of course brought some challenges including bringing together three different service 
offers, policies, procedures and budgets in BCP Council and forming new partnerships, 
working relationships and ways of working. It also brought many new opportunities including 
sharing learning and expertise across the area, a renewed vision and drive to improve 
outcomes and the potential to achieve more across a larger area.

BCP Council has launched ‘Our Big Plan’ which sets out multiple projects to deliver big 
changes across our whole area and support the creation of new jobs, growth for businesses, 
and livelihoods for our families, creating vibrant communities and outstanding quality of life 
for our residents.

The vision aims to create an outstanding quality of life for all our children, young people, 
parents and carers. 

5

3.  Local context

161



One of the driving ambitions of the council’s Big Plan is to ensure that the BCP city region 
becomes one of the best places in which children and young people can live, learn and grow up, 
with opportunities in their adult life to stay in the area after they leave school, whether to go 
to university, further education, residential settings or to train or work. This means supporting 
the health, wellbeing and development of children from birth, through their early years, 
right through their education and into adulthood.

Our joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) for SEND identifies the following key challenges 
locally:

 changing child demographics including an increasing population of young people 
 approaching 16 years old

 high levels of speech, language and communication needs 

 increasing complexity of need 

 a medical model culture which persists in some local approaches

 increasing demand on our statutory services across the continuum of need

 supporting greater inclusion within schools

 improved understanding of the impact on outcomes for those pupils with education, 
 health and care plans (EHCPs)

 increasing confidence in our ‘Local Offer’ .

The challenges have informed the development of this strategy and the response to them 
is embedded within the SEND Learning and Improvement Plan (our partnership delivery 
plan), with the overall aim of ensuring all children and young people are fulfilled, happy, 
included, and resilient.

6

162



7

4. What children, young people 
tell us is important

This strategy is driven by what’s important to children and young 
people with SEND. Some of the key issues that they told us about 
are in this strategy. 

Here are some of the things they told us they need so they can achieve their aims when they 
are older:

Work 
experience

Learning 
to be 

independent

Building 
new 

relationships

Cooking

Making a 
difference 

in my 
community

DIY skills

What I need 
to achieve 
my aims

163



8

Children and young people with SEND have high aspirations that they want to achieve in their 
future – from travelling the world, writing songs, to making a difference in their community 
and having their own home; they want to be doctors, footballers, carpenters, youth workers 
and DJs – and some aren’t sure yet.

Children and young people with SEND also told us what needs to change to make things better 
now – and so they aren’t stopped from doing the things they want to do.

No 
COVID-19

My 
physical 
health

Access to 
support for 
my mental 

health

Nothing 
needs 

improving

Less 
stress from 
rushing or 
sensory 
overload

Being 
independent

What needs 
to change to make 

things better

Children and young people with SEND identified these current barriers and challenges:

How 
I find out 

about 
groups

Learning 
to manage 

money

Starting 
to get 
a job

Help 
with my 
physical 
health

COVID-19

Help 
with my 
mental 
health

Barriers 
and 

challenges

164



To achieve our vision, we have identified five priorities. These have 
been informed by what children and young people with SEND 
and their families have said needs to improve, local needs, 
our self-assessment, best practice elsewhere and national policy 
and guidance.

9

A. Strong leadership and governance across partners

To achieve this priority, we will:

 build trusted working relationships and multi-agency governance across the local area 

 track progress in delivering against our priorities, review performance against a wide 
 range of indicators and assess the quality and impact of our work focussing on the 
 experience of children and young people and their families

 make effective use of external support and expertise, and evidence the difference 
 and impact this achieves

 be the best corporate parents to our children and young people with SEND in care; 
 we will set high expectations and promote their needs

 train and support those working with children and young people with SEND and their 
 families to promote inclusion, support children and young people to achieve their full 
 potential and to co-produce solutions.

5.  How we will achieve our vision

165



10

B. Working together (co-production)

C. Young people are prepared for adulthood and achieve their full potential

To achieve this priority, we will:

 ensure children and young people, their parents and carers have opportunities 
 to participate as little or as much as they want 

 communicate effectively with young people, parents and carers so that it is clear what 
 is happening with their individual cases and about the opportunities to be involved in 
 shaping services and outcomes

 build effective co-production into how we work and deliver services and support so that 
 children and young people and their families experience it positively and service providers 
 experience it adding value to their work

 make practical improvements (both big and small) to enable and encourage co-production:

  - better communication and information giving (both general/group and 
   on an individual basis)

  - change templates, forms and process
  - have children, young people, parents and carers as part of the recruitment 
   for key posts in the SEND system.

 ensure education, health and care plans (EHCPs) are completed and reviewed in a timely 
 manner and are both high quality and outcome focused 

 identify needs early through the BCP Early Help offer, and put in place the right support.

To achieve this priority, we will:

 build a culture of high aspirations, creating opportunities for young people in their adult 
 life to stay in the area, supporting them to achieve their aspirations 

 have high quality information, advice and guidance on preparing for adulthood; support 
 parents, carers and young people to understand their options, make decisions about their 
 future, and seek help where required

 provide access to a variety of opportunities in school or college to promote high aspirations 
 and prepare young people to move into adulthood as independently as possible

 ensure young people aged 18 – 25 who have EHCPs, will have access to a variety 
 of community- based learning opportunities to support them to develop skills for 
 independence 

 create a seamless transition into adult social care and adult health services for those 
 who need care and support in adulthood

 have supported housing options which will enable young people to live as independently 
 as possible and get the most from life.

166



11

D. Inclusion in education and the local community

E. SEND Joint commissioning

To achieve this priority, we will:

 promote and create inclusive cultures and practice across schools in the BCP area 

 have a team of professionals working together around schools, with an extended 
 specialist service offer for schools which will support inclusion

 make changes that young people have told us will help make them feel safe, included, 
 and active members within their local community.

To achieve this priority, we will:

 jointly commission education, health and care services to be joined up and responsive 
 to need, so that they create better outcomes and experiences for children, young people, 
 and their families 

 shape services around the journeys of children and young people; supporting the health, 
 wellbeing, and development of children – from birth, through their early years, right through 
 their education and into adulthood

 develop local provision, particularly for children and young people (0-25 years) with autism, 
 social, emotional, and mental health difficulties (SEMH) and physical disabilities, to meet 
 the needs of young people.

167



This strategy drives our plans and work. A SEND Learning and 
Improvement Plan (LIP) sets out in detail how the priorities will 
be delivered and how we will know we have been successful. 

Delivery of the Plan is overseen by the multi-stakeholder BCP SEND Improvement Board 
which is independently chaired, with representatives from BCP Council, Parent Carers 
Together, Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, the education sector, the voluntary and 
community sector, and health providers. 

The Board meets every six weeks and is responsible for ensuring the Plan is robust, whole 
system and outcome focussed, reviewing and challenging performance and delivery against 
the Plan, agreeing remedial actions where outcomes are not being met and driving system 
wide improvement.

A partnership quality assurance framework, including performance management framework, 
is in place across partners to ensure there is a strong line of sight to practice at the front line 
and outcomes for children and young people.

Quality assurance activity, performance data, and progress against the LIP is tracked 
monthly and reported to the SEND Improvement Board. Every six months the SEND Multi 
Agency Quality Assurance Group reviews a wide range of quality assurance data and uses 
this to improve services, share learning and inform commissioning. On an annual basis, 
the SEND self-assessment is updated and annual performance reports are produced 
to assess progress, which in turn informs the Learning and Improvement Plan. We will 
report on progress through the Local Offer. 12

6.  Delivering our strategy

168



13

Resourcing this strategy over the next few years will be challenging. Council funding for high 
needs is through the high needs block (HNB) of the dedicated schools grant (DSG). At present 
BCP Council has a HNB which is anticipated to increase year on year in line with national 
trends; this is in part a reflection of increased complexity of need/demand, and proportionally 
high use of independent special and alternative provision.

It is well evidenced that exclusions and the use of independent schools rarely have a positive 
long-term impact. This practice can leave children and young people disengaged and isolated 
from their local community. Our strategy aims to increase inclusion in education and to embed 
early preparation for adulthood, alongside the council investing £10m in new capital projects.

A new High Needs Recovery Board will support the Council to address the year on year 
deficits in the High Needs Block and to ensure value for money within the approved level 
of budget.

169



bcpcouncil.gov.uk

This information is issued by BCP Council

Contact us: simon.mckenzie@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Simon McKenzie
BCP Council
Bourne Avenue
Bournemouth
BH2 6DY

Published March 2021

170



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

1                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Executive Summary and Conclusions 

Once the Equality Impact Assessment Template has been completed, please summarise the key findings here.  
 

The proposed BCP Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) and Inclusion Strategy will have a positive equality impact 
in relation to the following protected characteristics: age, disability and special education needs.  We also know from service data 
that children and young people can also have additional needs or face additional challenges due to being in care or care 
experienced for example. The strategy will achieve its stated aims through focussing the collective efforts of partners in the local 
area on agreed priorities. 
 
Furthermore national research shows that SEND can be a result of poverty as well as a cause of poverty: across the UK, 
children with SEND are more likely to experience poverty than others and are less likely to experience a fulfilling education or 
leave school with outcomes that reduce the chances of living in poverty as adults (Joseph Rowntree Foundation Special 
educational needs and their links to poverty, February 2016).  This indicates that the strategy could also have a positive impact 
in terms of socio-economic status. 
 
No actual or potential negative outcomes have been identified.  
 

 
 

Part 1 - The Project 

Policy/Service under development/review: 
Special Educational Needs & Disabilities and Inclusion Strategy 
(partnership strategy) 

 

Service Unit: 
n/a partnership strategy 

Service Lead: 
Children’s Services 

Equality Impact Assessment Team: 

 
SEND Improvement Programme Manager 
SEND Working Group members 

 

171



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

2                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 1 - The Project 

 

Date assessment started: 
January 2020 

Date assessment completed: 
January 2021 (longer process due to Covid) 

What are the aims/objectives of the policy/service? To improve outcomes for children and young people in the BCP area with 
special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), through partnership 
working. 

What outcomes will be achieved with the new or 
changed policy/service? 

The strategy proposes a vision: 
 

A. Children and young people with SEND experience inclusion in every 
aspect of their lives 

 
B. Children and young people with SEND achieve their full potential 

 
C. Children and young people with SEND and their families, are 

partners in developing provision and services 
 
To be achieved through 5 strategic priorities: 
 
A. Strong leadership and governance across partners 

 
B. Working together (co-production) 

 
C. Young people are prepared for adulthood and achieve their full potential 

 
D. Inclusion in education and the local community 

 

172



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

3                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 1 - The Project 

E. SEND Joint commissioning 
 

Are there any associated services, policies or 
procedures?   

Yes, as detailed in NEXUS online for Children’s services (for BCP Council) 
 
Key plans/strategies include: 

 Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
 Virtual School Plan 
 Corporate parenting strategy 
 Preparation for adulthood development plan 
 Safeguarding Strategy 

 

Please list the main people, or groups, that this 
policy/service is designed to benefit, and any other 
stakeholders involved: 

To benefit: 
 Children and young people with SEND and their parents/carers who live 

in the BCP area 
 Children and young people with SEND who attend BCP schools 
 
Stakeholders involved (* represented on the SEND Improvement Board): 
 Children and young people with SEND 
 Parent Carers Together* strategically representing parents and carers 

in BCP 
 BCP Council* 
 Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group* 
 Education sector (primary, secondary, FE and special schools)* 
 Community and voluntary sector* 
 Health providers* 
 

173



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

4                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 1 - The Project 

With consideration for their clients, please list any 
other organisations, statutory, voluntary or 
community that the policy/service/process will 
affect: 

For some specific aspects of the strategy (e.g. inclusion in the local 
community) the strategy seeks to affect a wider range of organisations 
such as shopping centres or leisure providers. 

 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

Please list and/or link to below any recent & relevant consultation & engagement that can be used to demonstrate a clear 
understanding of those with a legitimate interest in the policy/service/process and the relevant findings: 
 
 

 Stakeholders were consulted virtually over the summer 2020 (due to Covid intended workshops could not take place): 
children and young people, parents/carers, school SENCOs, Alternative Providers, and members of the SEND 
Transformation & Development Board.  The priorities identified by stakeholders have informed the revised strategy and 
supporting Learning & Improvement Plan 

 
- Most stakeholders comments related to “children and young people with SEND will experience inclusion in every 

aspect of their lives” i.e. this was seen as a very/the most important issue 
 

- Specific issues of importance reflected in responses were co-production (including virtual co-production as its seen 
as a leveller and increases the likelihood of CYP and Parent/Carer engagement); education provision including 
exclusion and attendance; preparation for adulthood; the EHCP process; health; accessible language being used in 
the strategy and the Learning & Improvement Plan 

 
 

                                         
1 This could include: service monitoring reports, research, customer satisfaction surveys & feedback, workforce monitoring, staff surveys, opinions and 
information from trade unions, previous completed EIAs (including those of other organisations) feedback from focus groups & individuals or organisations 
representing the interests of key target groups or similar.  
 

174



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

5                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

 The Director of Inclusion & Family Services wrote an open letter to parents and carers inviting them to share their 
experiences, views and suggestions (during Covid) June 2020.  Key issues for improvement during Covid included: 
 

- Communication (individual and wide/general) 
- Education provision 
- Summer programmes/activities 
- Accessing outdoor space 
- Resources for families  

 
 

The views of children and young people with SEND were sought, this included a workshops with young people with SEND 

through Chatterboxes YMCA Youth Project (disability action group) and SPACE LBGTQ (a youth group for lesbian, gay, bisexual, 

trans and questioning young people) who ran a SEND specific engagement event. This event had a focus on the future and 

preparing for adulthood. 

Children and young people with SEND were invited to share their views through two different routes, response included a number 

of classes, youth groups, and some individual responses: 

i. Tells us what makes them happy (this was part of a wider piece of work to also inform the new Children and Young 

People’s Plan) 

ii. To tells us: What is important to you? What could make things even better? What stops you doing the things you want 

to do? What do you like about school/college? And What do you want to do when you are older? 

During April/May 2020 a survey for all pupils (with and without SEND) was carried out to understand their sense of belonging and 

connection to their school during the Coronavirus school closure and what schools could do to support them.  A total of 3158 

children and young people completed the survey and the summary of responses considered. 

 
 
 

A survey of parents/carers was carried out June 2019.  Key themes raised included: 

175



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

6                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

 
Finance: Parents/carers were not convinced high needs funding was spent on their child but the whole school needs. 
They commented that financial constraints and lack of resources appear to be at the forefront of professionals planning 
and decision making.   

 
Speech and Language Therapy: Feedback received said there was not enough speech and language therapy to meet 
the needs of the children and young people with speech, language and communication difficulties across BCP.   
 

 
SEMH and Behaviour Difficulties: It was reported that there was not enough provision for children with these presenting 
needs and mainstream schools are not given enough support.  There were concerns with regard to not meeting CAMHS 
thresholds and not enough services for children at the lower tier thresholds. Parents/carers reported that it was difficult to 
secure a placement if a child had behavioural difficulties.  
  
Holiday, After School Provision, Childcare and Respite: There is a consistent thread of there not being enough of 
these services and or lack of information about them. In particular for young adults post 16 but a general thread through 
out the responses is there is not enough provision.   

 
Partnership Working: A more holistic approach to the whole statutory assessment process was requested and improved 
linkages between partner agencies. An increase in the number of social workers was raised as a need.  NHS 
professionals were requested to be more readily available throughout the statutory assessment process and at annual 
review.  EHCP’s were seen as being top heavy in education provision and other areas of need were not reflected well.  

 
Specialist Provision:  Feedback received said there was a lack of local specialist provision for children with ASD and 
SEMH.   More early help and preventative services were requested.   
 

 
Preparing for Adulthood and Phased Changes: Parents/carers reported that the transition and preparation for 
adulthood process was not structured or person centred. Young people identified that they didn’t feel safe in the 
community.   
 

176



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

7                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

 
 Through on-going co-production work with families on preparation for adulthood, parents/carers identified a lack of 

confidence in local post 16 provision, their primary concern is that their young people are safe, and many parents view the 
3 day week mainstream post 16 offer as not covering enough days/meeting needs. 
 

 
 
POET (Personal Outcome Evaluation Tool) feedback Summer 2020 
From parents/carers: 

• Well over a third of parents from BCP said that the support their child receives is good in two out of the eleven areas 
asked about; to enjoy relationships with family and friends (42%) and the quality of their support (37%).  

• A half or more of parents from BCP reported that the help and support that they received was poor in six of the areas 
asked about; Choice and control (66%), Flexibility of support(59%), meets the needs(57%), planning for the future(56%), 
practitioners worked well together (53%) and being part of their local community (50%).  

• A wide range of professionals are involved in children’s support planning. 
• 46% of parents/carers said their views had been fully included when their child’s support was planned (54% nationally). 
• 46% said their children had achieved outcomes within their support plan, 13% were satisfied with the progress they had 

made. 
• 38% said the support their child had received over the last year made their quality of life worse. 
• 43% of parents/carers said the school hold their personal budget (25% nationally), but 67% new the amount of money 

allocated (25% nationally).  
 
 
Feedback from parent carers and schools on the experience of services during Covid and the impact of Covid on children and 
young people with SEND was sought and also reviewed to inform the strategy. 
 

If there is insufficient consultation or engagement information please explain in the Action plan what further consultation will be 
undertaken, who with and how. 

177



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

8                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

Please list or link to any relevant research, census and other evidence or information that is available and relevant to this EIA: 
 
 

 The SEND Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
 

 Data from the SEND performance framework (this includes monitoring data in relation to protected characteristics and 
service delivery) 

 

Please list below any service user/employee monitoring data available and relevant to this policy/service/process and what it 
shows in relation to any Protected Characteristic: 
 
 
1. BCP has areas which are among the most and least deprived in the country, with approximately 9,400 children (under 16) 

live in families with a low income.  A higher proportion of children and young people with SEND live in the more deprived 
wards 

 
2. The rate of unemployment is 2.7%, compared to 4.2% nationally (a high employment rate is likely to increase demand for 

childcare places and shortbreaks) 
 

3. National research shows that SEND can be a result of poverty as well as a cause of poverty: across the UK, children with 
SEND are more likely to experience poverty than others and are less likely to experience a fulfilling education or leave school 
with outcomes that reduce the chances of living in poverty as adults. 

 
4. If you are a child or young person with an EHCP maintained by BCP, you are less likely to be in mainstream provision than 

you are nationally:  33% of children with an EHCP had mainstream provision named on their plan in January 2019, this was 6 
percentage points lower than national; 10% were INMSS, compared to 5% nationally.  

 
5. More boys have SEND than girls in BCP. 

 
6. For children and young people with SEND in ‘specific circumstances’ as defined by the SEND Code of practice (Dec 2019): 
 

178



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

9                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

 18.7% are children in care, we are their corporate parents 
 

 6.9% of care experienced young people have an EHCP 
 

 15.6% children and young people with SEN and social care needs, including children in need  
 

 14.8% are educated out of borough 
 
 24 children and young people are educated at home  

 
 4% are in alternative provision 

 
 8 C&YP are the children of service personnel (data last quarter) 

 
 2 are in youth custody 

 
 
7. The September 2020 SEND dashboard with data broken down by pupil and those resident in BCP across SEN support and 

EHCPs (gender, ethnicity, deprivation and age) and other data. 
 
 

If there is insufficient research and monitoring data, please explain in the Action plan what information will be gathered: 

 
 

179



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

10                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

1.  Age2 

The strategy aims to improve outcomes for 
children and young people with a specific focus 
on preparing children and young people to be 
prepared for adulthood, so they can achieve 
their ambitions and live as independently as 
possible. 
   

None identified 

2. Disability3 

The strategy aims to improve outcomes for 
children and young people with a disability. 

None identified 

3. Sex/Gender  

More boys than girls have SEND.  The strategy 
aims to improve outcomes for all children and 
young people. 

None identified 

4. Gender 
reassignment4 

None identified None identified 

5. Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

None identified None identified 

                                         
2 Under this characteristic, The Equality Act only applies to those over 18. 
3 Consider any reasonable adjustments that may need to be made to ensure fair access. 
4 Transgender refers to someone who considers that they do not identify strictly to one gender to the other, identifying themselves as neither male nor female.   

180

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

11                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

6. Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

None identified None identified 

7. Race  

None identified None identified 

8. Religion or Belief 

None identified None identified 

9. Sexual Orientation 

None identified None identified 

10. Any other 
factors/groups e.g. 
socio-economic 
status/carers etc5 

National research shows that SEND can be a 
result of poverty as well as a cause of poverty: 
across the UK, children with SEND are more 
likely to experience poverty than others and 
are less likely to experience a fulfilling 
education or leave school with outcomes that 
reduce the chances of living in poverty as 
adults.  This indicates that the strategy could 
have a positive impact in terms of socio-
economic status through aiming to support 

None identified 

                                         
5 People on low incomes or no income, unemployed, carers, part-time, seasonal workers and shift workers 

181

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

12                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

children and young people to be prepared for 
adulthood and achieve their full potential. 
 

11. Human Rights 

The strategy is in line with the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child, 
addressing specific articles including for 
example those relating to health, education 
and respect for their views. 

 

None identified 

 
Any policy which shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination must be stopped, removed or changed. 

 
 
 
 
 

Part 4 – Equality Impact Action Plan 
 
Please complete this Action Plan for any negative or unknown impacts identified in the assessment table above.  
 

Issue identified Action required to reduce impact Timescale Responsible officer 

182

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

13                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
April 2019 

Data for employment and 
housing measures needs to 
be for those up to 25-year-
old only, is not available 

Break down data by age so that 
outcomes/impact for those with 
SEND up to 25 yrs of age can be 
monitored 

Octo 2020 Vikki Whild - COMPLETED 

 
 
 
Key contacts for further advice and guidance:  
 
Equality & Diversity: 
Sam Johnson -  Policy and Performance Manager    
 
Consultation & Research: 
Lisa Stuchberry – Insight Manager  

183

mailto:sam.johnson@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.stuchbury@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank

184



CABINET FORWARD PLAN – 1 APRIL 2021 TO 31 JULY 2021 

(PUBLICATION DATE – 27 April 2021) 
 

 

What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

Potential 
Transfer of Play 
sites and 
Highcliffe 
Recreation 
Ground 

To consider 
representations from 
the public consultation 
phase Disposal of 
Public Open Space 
procedure and, if 
satisfied that disposal 
is acceptable, the 
potential terms, 
conditions and legal 
requirements for the 
disposal of these 
assets to Highcliffe & 
Walkford Parish 
Council. 

No Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

Highcliffe & 
Walkford 

Public 
Consultation is a 
a statutory 
requirement. 
This report is to 
provide the 
results of 
consultation 

Consultation, as 
noted in report 
to CPG on 29th 
October 2020, 
commenced 
21st January 
2021 and ended 
19th February 
2021. Public 
notices were 
placed on 21st 
and 28th 
January 2021 in 
Echo 

Michael Rowland Open 

 185

A
genda Item

 12



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Domestic 
Abuse Strategy 
and Delivery 
Plan 

To consider the 
Domestic Abuse 
Strategy and 
associated Delivery 
Plans 

No Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards Residents, 
Community 
Safety 
Partnership & 
voluntary groups 

March-April 
2021 

Andrew Williams Open 

 

Fly-tipping and 
Fly-posting 
Enforcement 
Pilot 

To seek approval to 
commission a private 
service provider for a 
12 months pilot project, 
to conduct enforcement 
services for fly-tipping 
and fly-posting at zero 
net cost to the Council. 

No Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards   Peter Haikin Open 

 

Establishing a 
Multi 
Disciplinary 
Team and a 
Homeless 
Health Centre 

To consider 
recommendations for 
establishing a multi 
agency health team 
and a building based 
health hub for people 
who are homeless or at 
risk of homelessness 

Yes Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards Health 
colleagues, 
housing 
colleagues, 
homeless sector, 
finance, estates 

Review of the 
draft proposals 
as set out in 
report 

Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

186



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Special 
Educational 
Needs & 
Disabilities and 
Inclusion 
Strategy 

To seek agreement for 
BCPs shared 
partnership strategy for 
children and young 
people with special 
educational needs and 
disabilities. 

Yes Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards Children and 
young people 
with SEND and 
their parent 
carers; early 
years settings; 
schools; 
colleges; health; 
voluntary sector. 

Undertaken 
virtually (due to 
Covid) Summer 
2020 and 
Winter 2020/21. 
In addition to 
developing the 
draft strategy in 
partnership 
(including the 
Council, parent 
carers and 
health). 

Claire Webb Open 

 

Proposed 
Regeneration 
Vehicle Options 
Appraisal 

To update Cabinet on 
proposals and seek 
approval for next steps. 

No Cabinet 

26 May 2021 

All Wards   Sarah Good Open 

 

         

187



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Annual review 
of housing 
wholly owned 
companies 

The Council as 
shareholder approved 
a 5 year plan in 2020 
for activities within 
Seascape Group 
Limited in order to aid 
medium term planning. 
This report provides an 
annual update to the 
shareholder, as well as 
providing an annual 
update on the 
Bournemouth Building 
Maintenance Limited 
(BBML) wholly owned 
company 

Yes Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards Board Directors 
Finance 
Housing Service 
Unit - Property 
Maintenance, 
Housing Options 
and Housing 
Delivery teams 
Development 
Service Unit 

Input on 
proposed 
content of report 

Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

Recommendati
ons following 
the public 
selective and 
additional 
licensing 
consultation 

To review and consider 
the results of the 12 
week public 
consultation and 
present 
recommendations to 
cabinet for the 
proposals whether to 
implement additional 
and/or selective 
licensing 

Yes Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards Public Public 
consultation 
underway 
13/1/206/4/20 

Sophie Ricketts Open 

 

188



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Flag Flying 
Policy 

Consolidation of flag 
flying policies for 
preceding authorities 
and consideration of 
other associated 
issues. 

Yes Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards Appropriate 
Service Areas 
within the 
Council 

Internal 
consultation as 
appropriate 

Karen Tompkins Open 

 

Council Fleet 
Replacement 
Programme & 
Sustainable 
Fleet 
Management 
Strategy 

To acknowledge the 
financial impact of the 
varied approach to fleet 
replacement by legacy 
Councils on the BCP 
Sustainable Fleet 
Strategy. 
 
Approve a long term 
financing strategy to 
support a rationalised 
BCP Sustainable Fleet 
Strategy.  

Yes Cabinet 
23 Jun 2021 

 
Council 

13 Jul 2021 

 Front line 
service units, 
finance and legal 
services. 

Internal 
consultation 
with supporting 
departments 
and fleet users 
as appropriate. 

Kate Langdown Open 

 189



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Sufficiency 
Strategy 

For oversight prior to 
this report going to 
Cabinet for sign off 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
8 Jun 2021 

 
Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards   Sarah Langdale Open 

 

Home to School 
Transport 

presentation for 
comments prior to 
consultation 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
8 Jun 2021 

 
Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards   Rachel Gravett Open 

 

Financial 
Outturn Report 
2020/21 

To provide a summary 
of the financial 
outturn for 2020/21. 

Yes Cabinet 
23 Jun 2021 

 
Council 

13 Jul 2021 

All Wards None None Nicola Webb Open 

 

190



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Medium Term 
Financial Plan 
(MTFP) Update 

To provide an update 
on the MTFP and 
agree the financial 
strategy and process 
for 2022/23 budget 
proposals. 

Yes Cabinet 
23 Jun 2021 

 
Council 

13 Jul 2021 

All Wards None None Adam Richens Open 

 

Youth 
Offending 
Service Youth 
Justice Plan for 
2021/22 

To enable the 
Committee to consider 
before approval at 
Cabinet 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
8 Jun 2021 

 
Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards   Brian Relph Open 

 

Public Spaces 
Protection 
Order 

To consider the results 
of the consultation 
around a Public 
Spaces Protection 
Order which seeks to 
tackle street-based 
anti-social behaviour 

No Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards Public 
Consultation, 
Office of the 
Police & Crime 
Commissioner, 
Dorset Police 

Public 
consultation 
process 

Andrew Williams Open 

 

191



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Approval of the 
BDC Business 
Plan 

Approval of the 5-year 
rolling BDC Business 
Plan 

Yes Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

Bournemout
h Central 

None None Martin Tiffin Open 

 

Transforming 
Cities Fund 
(TCF) End of 
Year Report 

For information only to 
give an update on the 
progress and spend of 
the first year of the 
Transforming Cities 
Fund (TCF) 
programme as reported 
in the DfT End of 
Year/Annual Report. 

No Cabinet 

23 Jun 2021 

All Wards   Julian McLaughlin Open 

 

         

Capital 
Programme 

annual report from 
children's services 

No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

All Wards   Simon Mckenzie Open 

 

192



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Council New 
Build & 
Acquisition 
Strategy 

To provide an 
apporach for the 
councils internal 
development 
programme and seek 
members approval to 
endorse the proposed 
strategy. 

Yes Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

   Nigel Ingram Open 

 

BCP Housing 
Strategy 2021-
2026 

To share with members 
the new BCP Housing 
Strategy which will 
detail the current and 
anticipated future 
housing issues, setting 
out the priorities and 
delivery options to 
address local needs 

No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

All Wards All other BCP 
Services as well 
as many 
external 
stakeholders 

Public 
consultation (12 
weeks) with 
options paper 
along with a 
number of 
stakeholder 
engagement 
sessions 

Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

Crime & 
Disorder 
Reduction 
Strategy 

To agree & adopt a 
BCP Crime & Disorder 
Reduction Strategy 

No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

All Wards Community 
Safety 
Partnership 

 Andrew Williams Open 

 

193



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Community and 
Voluntary 
Sector Strategy 

Adoption of compact 
dealing the Council’s 
approach to working 
with the voluntary 
sector (harmonisation) 

No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

All Wards Voluntary sector 
organisations 
and internal 
departments. 

Summer 2020 Cat McMilan Open 

 

Community 
Engagement 
and 
Consultation 
Strategy 

Approval of strategy No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

 The community 
and internal 
departments. 

Public 
consultation Jan 
to April 2020. 
Internal 
consultation 
April-May 2020. 

Cat McMilan Open 

 

Council 
Highway 
Inspection 
Policy 

To request approval for 
the adoption of a single 
BCP Council Highway 
Inspection Policy that 
aligns with the latest 
Code of Practice ‘Well 
Managed Highway 
Infrastructure’. 

No Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

All Wards None None Simon Legg Open 

 

194



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Children's 
Services 
Capital 
Programme 

This report will travel 
through C O and S, 
and Cabinet before 
going to Council in 
September 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
27 Jul 2021 

 
Cabinet 

28 Jul 2021 

Council 

14 Sep 2021 

All Wards   Simon Mckenzie Open 

 

         

BCP Seafront 
Strategy 

Updated strategy No Cabinet 

29 Sep 2021 

   Andrew Emery Open 

 

         

195



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Corporate 
Asset 
Management 
Plan 

To approve the 
Corporate Asset 
Management Plan 

Yes Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

   Chris Shephard  

 

Home to School 
Transport 

To present the report 
for sign off (pre 
consultation report 
previously presented to 
Cabinet and O and S in 
June 2021) 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
21 Sep 2021 

 
Cabinet 

27 Oct 2021 

All Wards   Rachel Gravett Open 

 

         

196



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Housing and 
Property 
Compliance 
Update 
(Housing 
Revenue 
Account) 

To provide assurance 
that Council homes 
within the Bournemouth 
and Poole 
Neighbourhoods are 
being managed in 
accordance with health 
and safety legislation 
and best practice and 
that the Council is 
compliant with current 
regulations and 
standards. 

No Cabinet 

24 Nov 2021 

All Wards   Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

         

Housing 
Revenue 
Account (HRA) 
Budget Setting 
2022/23 

To set the HRA budget 
for April 2022 to March 
2023 

Yes Cabinet 
9 Feb 2022 

 
Council 

22 Feb 2022 

All Wards CMB, Portfolio 
Holder for 
Homes, Director 
of Finance, 
Head of Legal 
Services, Poole 
Housing 
Partnership 

Internal 
consultation 
prior to decision 
November - 
December 

Lorraine Mealings Open 

 

         

197



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Library Strategy To produce a library 
strategy across all BCP 
libraries and the 
development of 
libraries as 
neighbourhood hubs. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

    Open 

 

198



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Dorset Flood & 
Coastal 
Partnership 

To seek approval to 
evolve from the existing 
Dorset Coastal 
Engineering 
Partnership Agreement 
(between BCP Council 
and Dorset Council) to 
a Shared Service 
Agreement. This would 
include working to a 
single budget for the 
resourcing and 
management of the 
service, including a 
longer term shift to 
BCP acting as host 
employer. It is also 
proposed for the 
Shared Service to 
expand to include 
surface water 
management and 
therefore operate as 
the Dorset Flood and 
Coastal Partnership. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

All Wards Cabinet 
consideration is 
required by both 
BCP Council 
and Dorset 
Council. 

 Catherine Corbin, 
Matt Hosey, Julian 
McLaughlin 

Open 

 

199



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Russell Coates 
Arts Gallery 
Museum 
Governance 
Report 

To consider the 
formation of a separate 
charitable entity for 
Russell Cotes Art 
Gallery & Museum. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 RCAGM Mgt 
Committee  
Charity 
Commission 
Arts Council 

All parties have 
been involved 
with initial 
feasibility and 
continue to be 
actively 
engaged. 

Sarah Newman, 
Chris Saunders 

Open 

 

Beach Hut 
Policy 

Harmonisation of 
policy, pricing, team 
location and booking 
system 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 Beach Hut 
Associations, l 
Beach Hut 
owners/ tenants, 
and for some of 
the work a more 
general 
consultation with 
BCP residents. 

Consultation 
with the Beach 
Hut 
Associations will 
take place over 
the course of 
the project. 
More formal 
consultation will 
take place with 
Beach Hut 
Owners & 
Tenants and if 
required a 
suitable sample 
of BCP 
residents 
(between April 
a2020 and April 
2021). 

Andrew Brown Open 

 

200



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Adoption of 
Ducking Stool 
Walk, 
Christchurch 

To consider a request 
from Priory Mews 
Management Company 
for BCP Council to 
adopt the land and 
structures forming the 
Public Right of Way 
known as Ducking 
Stool Walk 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Christchurch 
Town 

Leader of the 
Council (Cllr 
Drew Mellor); 
Portfolio Holder 
(Cllr Mark 
Anderston); 
Ward 
Councillors (Cllr 
Peter Hall and 
Cllr Mike Cox); 

Informal 
consultation to 
inform the 
report 

Alan Ottaway Open 

 

BCP Economic 
Development 
Strategy 

 Yes Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

     

 

Western 
Gateway Sub-
national 
Transport Body 
(STB)- Strategic 
Transport Plan 

To advise Cabinet of 
the STB's intention to 
adopt its Strategic 
Transport Plan at its 
Board meeting in 
December 2020 
subject to agreement of 
all its consituent 
members. This is also 
subject to the outcome 
of an active 
consultation period 
which will close on 31st 
July 2020. 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

All Wards Portfolio Holders 
for Transport 
and 
Infrastructure 
and Environment 
and Climate 
Change. 

A public 
consultation is 
active until 31 
July 2020 
https://westerng
atewaystb.org.u
k/ 

Julian McLaughlin, 
Ewan Wilson 

Open 

 

201



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Children's 
Safeguarding 
Arrangements 

To present reviewed 
arrangements 

No Children's 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 
 

Cabinet 

 

Dates to be 
confirmed 

All Wards   Rachel Gravett Open 

 

Bournemouth 
Learning Centre 
conversion to a 
Special School 
Campus - 
Capital budget 
approval 

 No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

All Wards    Open 

 

Poole 
Regeneration 
Update 

To update Cabinet and 
the public on projects 
and activities in Poole 
Town Centre 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Poole Town relevant 
stakeholders to 
the Poole 
Regeneration 
Programme 

 Chris Shephard Open 

 

202



What is the 
subject? 

What is the purpose 
of the issue? 

Is this a 
Key 

Decision? 

Decision 
Maker and 
Due Date 

Wards Who are the 
key 

stakeholders to 
be consulted 

before the 
decision is 

made? 

What is the 
consultation 
process and 

period 

Officer writing the 
report 

Is the report 
likely to be 

considered in 
private (i.e., it 

contains 
confidential or 

exempt 
information)? 

 

Thistle Hotel, 
Poole Quay - 
Lease 
restructure 

To seek authorisation 
to restructure a lease to 
enable a third party 
Hotel/Residential 
development to 
proceed 

No Cabinet 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Poole Town   Rebecca Bray Open 

 

203



T
his page is intentionally left blank

204


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Proposed Regeneration Vehicle Options Appraisal
	7 Potential Transfer of Play sites and Highcliffe Recreation Ground
	Appendix 1 - Proposed Heads of Terms for Transfer
	Appendix 2 - Proposal for Transfer of Highcliffe Recreation Ground submitted by HWPC
	Appendix 3 - Schedule of Costs

	8 Fly-tipping and Fly-posting Enforcement Pilot
	Appendix 1 - Legacy Authority Information and Data
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Summary
	Appendix 3 - Operating Procedure and Complaint Process
	Appendix 4 - Restricted Summary of Proposal and Recommended Provider

	9 Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy and Delivery Plan 2020-2023
	Appendix 1 - BCP CSP Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy
	Appendix 2 - CSP Preventing Domestic Abuse Strategy Delivery Plan
	Appendix 3 - Equalities Impact Assessment

	10 Establishing a Multi Disciplinary Team and a Homeless Health Centre
	Appendix 1 - Health Hub Financial Implications
	Appendix 2

	11 Special Educational Needs & Disabilities and Inclusion Strategy
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2 - Full EIA

	12 Cabinet Forward Plan

